

Dare to prepare: taking risk seriously

Financing emergency preparedness: from fighting crisis to managing risk

Jan Kellett and Katie Peters

 \odot Overseas Development Institute, 2014

Overseas Development Institute

203 Blackfriars Road | London SE1 8NJ | UK

Tel: +44 (0)20 7922 0300 Fax: +44 (0)20 7922 0399

www.odi.org.uk

The views presented in this report are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of ODI or our partners.

Dare to prepare: taking risk seriously

Financing emergency preparedness: from fighting crisis to managing risk

Jan Kellett and Katie Peters

Acknowledgements

ODI would like to thank the Inter-Agency Standing for supporting this work. In particular, thanks go to the Financing for Emergency Preparedness Task Team and Advisory Panel and its Chair Sandra Aviles (FAO) and her colleague Daniel Longhurst (FAO). Special thanks go also to Daniel Kull of GFDRR for his guidance throughout this work. This report is informed by five country case studies, and thanks go to the United Nations Resident Coordinators in each country and their teams. Lead researchers for the five country case studies were: Jan Kellett (Philippines), Katie Peters (Myanmar), Lilianne Fan (Haiti), Patrick Robitaille (Niger) and Tom Hockley (Sudan). Courtenay Cabot Venton undertook the cost-benefit analysis with support from Fabien Richards. Additional research inputs were provided by Alice Caravani, Cassia Carvalho, Catherine Allinson, Elisabeth Couture, Emma Lovell, Eva Combe, Glyn Taylor, Helen Tilley, Margot Hill Clarvis, Nella Trujillo, Sarah Bailey, Shirley Matheson, Smita Nakhooda, Steven Zyck and Tony Vaux.

The research was guided by a Quality Assurance Group comprising ODI Research Fellows Neil Bird, Sara Pantuliano and Tom Mitchell.

We would also like to acknowledge the support of the IASC Task Team (composed of FAO, WFP, UNICEF, the World Bank, WHO, OCHA, IFRC, ISDR, Oxfam, UNDP, UN System Influenza Coordination (UNSIC) and Worldvision) and the Advisory Panel of experts (Chatham House, Japan, DFID, Mexico, ICRC, UNDP, OCHA, FAO, Geneva Peacebuilding Platform, Christian Aid, World Economic Forum, ISDR, Regional Humanitarian Coordinator for the Sahel and the OECD DAC).

FAO as Chair of the IASC Task Team wishes to acknowledge generous contributions and support from the Governments of Germany, Poland, Switzerland, UK (DFID) and Japan, without which this work would not have been possible.

Contents

Acknowledgements	i
Preface	3
Executive summary	7
1. Emergency preparedness: the current state of play 1.1 Introduction	17 19
1.2 Preparedness in context	20
1.3 Informing the post-2015 agenda	22
2. How we understand emergency preparedness 2.1 What is emergency preparedness?	24 27
2.2 The preparedness continuum	29
2.3 Emergency preparedness and conflict	30
2.4 International support: the ideal scenario	32
3. Emergency preparedness in context: the architecture 3.1 Introducing the financing architecture	35 37
3.2 Humanitarian mechanisms/tools	39
3.3 Risk-related mechanisms	43
3.4 Climate finance mechanisms	45
4. How emergency preparedness is funded: lessons from five country case studies 4.1 Mapping the funding sources: five country case studies	49 52
4.2 Emergency preparedness in case study countries: national financing	55
4.3 How the international funding architecture works in the case study countries	57
5. The business case for emergency preparedness: Niger and beyond	77
5.1 The costs and benefits of emergency preparedness	79
5.2 Emergency preparedness in Niger: a cost-benefit analysis	80
5.3 Effectiveness analysis for emergency preparedness in Niger	82
6. Understanding what makes for effective financing of emergency preparedness	85
6.1 Identifying the 'best fit' mechanism for financing emergency preparedness	88
6.2 What does this tell us about existing financing mechanisms?	89
6.3 Non-financial issues for effective and efficient emergency preparedness	89

7. Recommendations: a set of options for change	97
7.1 A set of options: from beyond business as usual through to transformational change	99
7.2 Expansion where it makes sense: 'no regret' options	100
7.3 Maximising opportunities: an enhanced system	102
7.4 Transformational change: solutions beyond the current system	104
7.5 A new fund: how might it work?	107
7.6 The case for development financing	109
Emergency preparedness and resilience	110
8. Conclusion: preparing for the foreseeable future 8.1 Moving the agenda forward	113 116
Annex 1: Case studies and background papers	121
Annex 2: Key definitions	122
Annex 3: Opportunities beyond funding mechanisms	124
References	126
Acronyms and abbreviations	132

Preface

Under the leadership of the Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC), the humanitarian community has supported a two-phase study analysing the financing environment for emergency preparedness. This report represents the second phase of the project. The first phase, undertaken by Development Initiatives, was completed in 2012. Phase one undertook a global analysis of elements of the financing system in which emergency preparedness exists, and examined data drawn from global databases, donor structures and policies, and the architecture of key parts of the system. For the findings and recommendations of phase one, see Kellett and Sweeney (2011) and Kellett (2012).

Phase two has been undertaken by the Overseas Development Institute (ODI), and seeks to deepen the analysis by examining how the global financing architecture plays out in practice. Field research was undertaken in five country contexts to better understand how the financing architecture supports emergency preparedness at a national level. This included analysis of the risk context, needs, institutional arrangements, policy environment, financing instruments and channels of delivery for emergency preparedness. The countries selected by the IASC and ODI were Myanmar, Niger, the Philippines, Haiti and Sudan. This country selection sought to include diversity in risk contexts, crisis history, financing patterns and governance contexts. In-country research was conducted between March and May 2013 and, in all but the case of Niger, representatives of the IASC accompanied the research teams.

The objective of the second-phase research was to understand the grounded realities of preparedness financing within a diverse set of country contexts. The evidence gathered was situated within the financing patterns for emergency preparedness at the global level identified in phase one. In addition, findings from the five country case studies were supplemented by a further 15 background papers – i.e. 20 including the case studies which included research analysing the extent to which emergency preparedness features in each of the main humanitarian, risk-based and climate financing mechanisms; the relationship between preparedness and resilience; conflict preparedness; how best to code and track preparedness financing in national systems; and cost-benefit and cost-effectiveness analysis for preparedness. For a full list of case studies and background papers, see Annex 1.

This report has undergone significant review, including – to the extent possible – verification of findings with respondents in each of the five county case studies, with representatives of funding mechanisms/ tools, through ODI internal peer review and by the IASC Sub-Working Group on Financing for Emergency Preparedness Task Team and Advisory Panel (see Acknowledgements) and, in particular, its Chair, Sandra Aviles. In recognition that the funding environment is continually evolving, the authors welcome further contributions and additions.

The background papers prepared for this report (see Annex 1) will be made publicly available on www.odi.org.uk and will be released throughout 2014.

Enquiries on the research should be directed to Katie Peters, Research Fellow at the Overseas Development Institute at k.peters@odi.org.uk.

Photo credits: Kemal Jufri/Panos, GMB Akash/Panos, Adam Patterson/Panos, GMB Akash/Panos, Sanjit Das/Panos, Rob Huibers/Panos, Andrew Testa/Panos, Mads Nissen/Panos, GMB Akash/Panos, Adam Dean/Panos, GMB Akash/Panos.

Executive summary

Executive summary

A sea change is needed in our approach to international aid financing, one that prioritises the management of risk. For development approaches, this means taking measures to avoid potential gains being lost or undermined, while for humanitarians it means being better prepared to deal with the geography of risk in 2015 and beyond. Preparing for current and future risks is a responsibility and a basic prerequisite for effective humanitarian and development work – it is not optional.

Emergency preparedness: the current state of play

Emergency preparedness has the potential to be truly transformative, a means to reshape the way the aid system approaches crisis. Investment in preparedness seeks to reduce the cost of response over the long term and the ever increasing burden on the humanitarian system – a burden that stretches it beyond its means and, in some cases, its mandate. It offers a marked change to post-crisis 'business as usual' and reflects the lessons learnt from decades of humanitarian response, as well as the necessity of building national capacity for preparedness as a fundamental part of a longer-term strategy to reduce pressure on humanitarian finances.

In many ways the reality is a simple one: in order to be prepared to deal effectively with disasters or crises, preparedness measures need to be put in place before a crisis occurs

This study comes 10 years after humanitarian reform helped change the face of financing. It appears at a time when the international community is grappling with ever increasing humanitarian needs, set against a backdrop of continuing pressure on donor financing and, with it, demand from donors that effectiveness and value for money become central to the system. Set in this context, preparedness is being advanced throughout the international community. It is pursued in many forums and at many levels, by agencies in the field, by working groups within the Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC) and up to and beyond the IASC Principals. These credible efforts to drive forward the agenda are not a comprehensive 'solution' to address preparedness needs – but neither are they supposed to be. They will – it is hoped – be a catalyst for the far-reaching changes that are required. In many ways the reality is a simple one: in order to be prepared to deal effectively with disasters or crises, preparedness measures need to be put in place before a crisis occurs.

Humanitarian funding clearly contributes towards preparedness. However, this is predominantly either through finance for response released after a crisis or the 'planned' humanitarian assistance of consolidated appeals. In addition, discrete 'preparedness activities' are undertaken, rather than continuing support to a comprehensive preparedness system. This is symptomatic of a fundamental flaw in the financing architecture. If we were to design channels of funding with a blank slate, then it is likely that funding arrangements would look quite different from those that we see today. This is not to suggest that preparedness should always be top of the agenda; weighting of priorities is a reality in a world where funding is constrained. It is not always feasible to undertake comprehensive preparedness measures for all risks. Moreover, risk and uncertainty present specific budgetary challenges. As a basic minimum, however, it should be possible for the international system to support the creation of national systems of preparedness for the most likely crises (based on a comprehensive assessment of risk within each country).

This is not, however, solely a financing challenge. Getting the financing architecture correct is an important starting point, but it needs to be complemented by improved coherence of preparedness efforts through coordinated decision-making, planning and implementation. This requires a global consensus to make risk fundamental to all aid decisions, and that this translates into prioritised programming and resourcing. The ultimate goal is fully functioning national systems of preparedness, led by national actors capable of responding to the range of risks that a country may face. In the context of fiscal austerity, donor government signatories to post-2015 agreements will be mindful of the financial implications of those commitments. In these circumstances, the notion of preparedness as a 'no regret' option must be conveyed. The post-2015 development agenda thus marks a critical juncture. Will the international community continue to do more of the same, perhaps under a new banner, terminology or buzzword, or will it take a radically different approach to challenge the inadequacies of 'business as usual' crisis response?

Key messages

- The ultimate goal should be comprehensive national systems of preparedness, capable of responding to the range of risks that countries face.
- Emergency preparedness has the potential to be transformative, offering a marked change to ex-post (i.e. after the event) 'business as usual'.
- For national and international actors, emergency preparedness presents the specific budgetary challenges of assessing risk and dealing with uncertainty.

How we understand emergency preparedness

'Emergency preparedness aims to build the resilience of states and societies by strengthening the local, national and global capacity to minimise loss of life and livelihoods, to ensure effective response to crises.' The activities that comprise 'emergency preparedness' span the responsibilities of both development and humanitarian actors, as part of a portfolio approach. The suite of activities required to create and sustain a system of preparedness work in tandem and support one other. For example, early warning systems will not be effective unless they are supported by a contingency plan that clearly delineates roles and activities in the case of an early warning, or without the institutional capacity to put this in place. Similarly, pre-positioning and stockpiling are redundant unless there is a system for indicating when and how stocks will be used. As a result, the issue is not what to invest in, but rather a clear imperative to invest in the whole package.

The preparedness continuum

When made to 'fit' into an institutional and financing architecture that is bifurcated between humanitarian and development activities, the continuum becomes disjointed. The international community faces a challenge: to continue 'feeding' the bifurcated system or to alter and transform it for the better. To split preparedness activities in two would simply be to recreate the humanitarian/development divide. This is problematic because the short- and long-term aspects of preparedness are necessarily interlinked, as the concept of resilience indicates. However, to bring together preparedness activities as a discrete set of concerns risks creating (yet) another silo. This is further complicated by the uneven level of attention that is given to some types of shocks and stresses over others. For instance, while preparedness for natural hazard-related disasters is well articulated (though not necessarily funded), there is a dearth of analysis on preparedness for conflict and on the links between the two.

Mapping the core funding tools/mechanisms for emergency preparedness



Key messages

- Emergency preparedness activities work in tandem with one another to create a holistic system, and span what is conventionally understood to be the bifurcation between development and humanitarian action.
- There remains a lack of connection between strategic engagements with fragile states and natural hazard-related disaster risk.

Emergency preparedness in context: the architecture

The intentionally illustrative figure on the previous page indicates broad trends in the kinds of emergency preparedness activities that each of the main financing tools/mechanisms supports. In practice, the combination of tools and mechanisms present in each country differs greatly. At first glance, the figure may imply that preparedness is adequately supported by various mechanisms. In reality, not all mechanisms are present in every country, leaving gaps in the availability of funding. Moreover, not all mechanisms willingly support emergency preparedness, and those that do may support only specific sectors or types of preparedness interventions, creating a disjointed and fractured system.

Summary of the key financing mechanisms

Central Emergency Response Fund (CERF): Despite guidance that states clearly that the fund does not cover preparedness, a narrow range of preparedness activities have been financed, most notably health-related, or for stockpiling and warehousing.

Emergency Response Funds (ERFs): The least regulated of humanitarian funds, most ERFs do not fund emergency preparedness. Where this has occured, however, this is highly dependent on context and usually limited to community level activities.

Common Humanitarian Funds (CHFs): Closely connected to consolidated appeals, CHFs have funded a range of emergency preparedness activities across the more 'humanitarian' part of the continuum: contingency/ response planning, training exercises, emergency services/standby arrangements, pre-positioning, information management and communication systems.

Consolidated Appeal Process (CAP): Many appeals address preparedness as a theme and official guidance now includes preparedness as a priority. Activities financed are somewhat broader than other instruments, including early warning and hazard risk analysis, legislative frameworks, inter-agency coordination, contingency/response planning, community preparedness, training opportunities and stockpiling. UNDP Crisis Prevention and Recovery Thematic Trust Fund (CPR TTF): Emergency preparedness features

across a wide range of larger initiatives funded by the CPR TTF, including in areas of disaster risk reduction (DRR), conflict prevention and early recovery. Activities financed range from improving legislative frameworks through to crisis coordination.

Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery (**GFDRR**): Focusing exclusively on disaster risk, GFDRR undertakes emergency preparedness activities, usually as part of a broader package of work. This includes hazard and risk analysis, community-based preparedness, early warning systems, information management systems and legislative work.

Adaptation Fund: Preparedness activities supported by the fund – where they exist – are part of climate change adaptation objectives. They are almost exclusively for hazard-mapping and early warning systems, from national down to local levels.

Least Developed Countries Fund (LDCF): Focusing on adaptation needs of least developed countries, the LDCF finances emergency preparedness through a narrow range of activities: early warning systems, hazardrisk analysis and information/communication systems.

Pilot Program for Climate Resilience (PPCR): Its work focuses on the integration of climate risk and resilience into development planning. Emergency preparedness activities are challenging to draw out of larger projects, but where they appear, they are focused on early warning, information management, countrywide planning and legislative work.

Key messages

- Financing across the 'preparedness continuum' needs to be coordinated. In reality, when made to 'fit' into the existing institutional and financing architecture, the continuum becomes fractured and disjointed.
- None of the mechanisms examined adequately finances emergency preparedness across the 'preparedness continuum', and few have the necessary geographical reach to address priorities globally.

Lessons from five country case studies

How preparedness is financed from international sources varies considerably across the five countries examined (Haiti, Myanmar, Niger, the Philippines and Sudan). It reflects the nature of the relationship with national governments and the current contexts of development, governance and risk, and in each case the aid profile is heavily shaped by both current and past events. In some contexts, especially those involving conflict, the international community is called upon to do much more than it might otherwise do, fulfilling the role and responsibilities of national authorities that may be in one way or other party to that conflict.

CERF: There are isolated examples of preparedness activities being funded, but this is largely ad hoc and heavily dependent on the individual context.

ERFs: Of the five case study countries, ERFs are present only in Myanmar and Haiti. Evidence shows that funds have been allocated to support preparedness activities in Haiti, largely for cholera-related projects.

CHFs: There is no CHF in Myanmar, Niger, the Philippines or Haiti. In Sudan, a CHF has provided preparedness financing through many sector priorities, though it is not labelled as such.

Consolidated Appeal Process: Preparedness is found in UN appeals, but almost exclusively within consolidated appeals. Having an appeal that includes preparedness as a core element does not guarantee funding.

GFDRR: Funding for preparedness has been received in the Philippines and Haiti, in support of the more developmental part of the preparedness continuum.

CPR TTF: Financing for preparedness is found in four of the five case study countries. It includes a rare example of a mechanism funding conflict prevention, of which a portion is believed to be for preparedness.

Climate adaptation financing (Adaptation Fund, LDCF, PPCR): Where adaptation financing features, there is evidence that it supports the developmental aspects of emergency preparedness – this is evident in Niger and to a lesser extent in the Philippines. This is only for areas that climate risk shares with risk management in general.

In-country bilateral funding (humanitarian and development): Financing from in-country donors occurs in all five case study countries, but it is highly variable and highly dependent on the context.

Country-specific financing mechanisms: Heavily dependent on context, in some cases country-specific

mechanisms fund emergency preparedness activities, but only as part of a wider set of objectives.

Core and multi-use funding: Core funding is difficult to track, with few institutions or agencies separating out emergency preparedness investments. Where there is evidence, preparedness is largely supported through the use of existing human resources, often part of a broader programme of work.

The Red Cross: Both the International Federation of the Red Cross and Red Crescent (IFRC) and the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) are heavily involved in emergency preparedness in the case study countries, most often utilising the Red Cross National Societies that exist in each country as implementing partners.

Multilateral banks: Multilateral banks' investments in risk management for disasters tend to mirror international engagement in general. Where risk management is high on the agenda, so it is for the banks, often informing their country assistance strategies.

Private sector: Private sector investment in preparedness is limited – for various different reasons – in Sudan, Myanmar and Niger. Most evidence is found in the Philippines and, increasingly, in Haiti.

Despite the evident need, attention to emergency preparedness still coalesces around the existing financing architecture rather than targeting 'need' or responding to 'risk'

Evidence from the case studies reveals that emergency preparedness regularly 'falls through the cracks' in the international financing architecture - a consequence of the fragmented aid system. This reflects a system that has been grappling with a rapidly changing set of risks to which it is expected to respond, and of a financing architecture that has failed to evolve at the same pace. Investment in systems, processes and projects for emergency preparedness by national and international actors occurs in discrete, concentrated efforts. Yet coverage of all the requirements falls far short of need. Inadequate emergency preparedness is not just about the volume of funding. Across each case study context there is a lack of a shared vision or plan of action that would articulate risks, needs, responsibilities, programmes and activities (with connections to national plans and systems). And, despite the evident need, attention to emergency preparedness still coalesces around the existing financing architecture rather than targeting 'need' or responding to 'risk'.

National governments, however, appear to have a rational and logical approach to preparedness (if conflict situations are excluded). In all of the case study countries except Sudan, even when overall funding is low, national governments are delivering legislation and policy for creating an adequate system and processes for disaster preparedness, usually as part of a longterm set of DRR measures. However, needs obviously remain, and arguably these could be prioritised by the international system. Technical capacity-building, some of which is already under way, is needed even in the most positive of contexts, i.e. the Philippines, as the recent and devastating Typhoon Haiyan highlights. To an extent, although the contexts are very different, Haiti and Niger are in similar need of support for long-term preparedness. In Sudan and Myanmar, there is much to be done to get even the basics of 'preparedness for response' up and running, and the reasons are largely the same in both contexts, though in different ways: the challenge of aid financing in general and the heavy focus on humanitarian financing. Recent evidence suggests that the international community has some way to go to prioritise financing in the right places in terms of risk, need or bolstering domestic capacity.

Key messages

- Financing for emergency preparedness is complicated, fragmented and piecemeal, especially the international contribution, with an array of separate institutions, mechanisms and approaches determining which parts of the preparedness continuum are funded, and in what ways.
- Despite significant challenges, national governments appear to have a much more rational and logical approach to financing for natural hazard-related preparedness.
- Evidence suggests that the bulk of international funding – where it is available – is not concerned with building the long-term capacity of national systems of preparedness but is reinforcing a piecemeal and project-led approach.

The business case for emergency preparedness: Niger and beyond

In a changing political and economic landscape, a riskbased approach to development and humanitarian work offers significant potential to use official development assistance (ODA) to great effect. A risk-based approach aligns with the recent trend in 'resilience' and with economic analyses that build the evidence base for why ex-ante investment and action are cost-effective. Yet this is not just an agenda for the international community. A more risk-informed approach to development, and the International efforts must focus on building the capacity of national actors to prepare for all hazards, natural or man-made

ambition to pursue sustainable development, require national ownership and responsibility for preparedness. This necessitates improved national fiscal policy, allocations to preparedness in budgetary processes and improved understanding of the national financial contributions required. International efforts must focus on building the capacity of national actors to prepare for all hazards, natural or man-made.

Cost benefit analysis for Niger

A cost-benefit and cost-effectiveness analysis for emergency preparedness in Niger provided indicative evidence that there is a clear financial imperative for greater investment in effective preparedness in the country. The monetary benefits of investing in preparedness in relation to drought – assuming that is it implemented in a manner that delivers the expected gains – clearly outweigh the costs. This suggests a clear fiduciary duty on the part of donors and the Government of Niger (GoN) to focus more support on emergency preparedness.

The GoN's Annual Support Plan (*Plan de Soutien*) estimates overall needs for food security and nutrition assistance, related to all hazards, allocating an average of \$231 million per year over the six years between 2008 and 2013. In 2013, the *Plan de Soutien* estimated the cost of emergency preparedness at \$14.1 million, equivalent to approximately 6% of the total costs estimated for that year. In addition, by April 2012 the 2012 consolidated appeal stood at \$487 million. With needs in Niger on a staggering scale, the benefits of emergency preparedness are of heightened importance.

The cost of emergency preparedness meanwhile is described in both the *Plan de Soutien* and a GoN flood risk management plan, with the total estimated cost of emergency preparedness at \$47.9 million per year. The costs and benefits were input into a 20-year model, to estimate the costs of emergency preparedness compared with the benefits, monetised in terms of avoided costs of aid and disaster losses. Because of the number of assumptions required in the modelling, three scenarios were modelled, varying the assumptions around the absolute level of disaster losses, the potential reduction in disaster losses and the discount rate.

The costs and benefits are positive across all scenarios. In the most conservative scenario, it is estimated that \$3.25 of benefit is generated for every \$1 spent, and this increases as high as \$5.31 of benefit for every \$1 spent in the least conservative. The findings clearly support further investment in emergency preparedness activities, as the benefits in terms of reduced caseloads and disaster losses far outweigh the costs.

In the most conservative scenario, it is estimated that \$3.25 of benefit is generated for every \$1 spent, and this increases as high as \$5.31 of benefit for every \$1 spent in the least conservative

Key messages

- The benefit-to-cost ratios for emergency preparedness in Niger are very positive, regardless of the scenario being used.
- Findings support further investment in emergency preparedness activities, as the benefits far outweigh the costs in terms of reduced caseloads, unit costs of response and disaster losses.
- Evidence is still lacking on the costs and benefits of emergency preparedness, and so what we know of the value of emergency preparedness represents only a fraction of what preparedness could offer.

Understanding what makes for effective financing of emergency preparedness

The assumption is misplaced that financing mechanisms function exactly as they were designed to. Evidence from the five case studies and the 15 additional background papers produced for this study reveals differences in the way that financing tools and mechanisms operate at the country level. There are also issues that are not strictly financial but which impact on adequate emergency preparedness:

Semantics: Definitions and meanings of key emergency preparedness terms are not shared across the different actors.

Knowledge of risk: There is often a lack of joined-up understanding of all risks. Much is known, but often this knowledge is 'parcelled out' amongst particular actors within their own sectors.

National systems: Government frameworks and institutions for risk management are weak and lack capacity and clear policy directives.

International architecture: Emergency preparedness is either oriented towards emergencies, humanitarian actors, humanitarian donors and to an extent humanitarian mechanisms, or divided into humanitarian/development 'areas' without adequate coordination. Existing coordinating structures are struggling to address the full range of needs.

Planning: There is a lack of a systematic approach and of planning not just for emergency preparedness, but for risk management overall. No case study country approaches the range of emergency preparedness activities comprehensively.

Roles and responsibilities: These are often unclear, especially amongst the international community.

International capacity: There is a lack of capacity internationally to coordinate risk management issues, especially when part of long-term development.

Key messages

- The entrenched, bifurcated donor government structure has contributed to establishing an artificial divide between development and humanitarian communities; both provide a partial solution to improved financing of emergency preparedness.
- Simply increasingly volumes of funding for preparedness will not overcome the non-financial challenges identified and – as the example of the Philippines suggests – may add confusion to an already complicated preparedness picture.

Recommendations: a set of options for change

While any mechanism can be adjusted to include a greater focus on emergency preparedness (either solely or as part of a wider-ranging series of objectives), this does not mean that all of them should be. Careful consideration is needed of the investment required to make changes to current models, which means more than just 'artificially' expanding a mandate or a geographical scope to address preparedness needs. The analysis found:

- Humanitarian financing mechanisms and tools are not a 'silver bullet' to financing emergency preparedness. The CERF, ERFs, CHFs and successor to the CAP, the Strategic Response Plan, all offer varied possibilities, but also face a number of constraints to better financing.
- Climate adaptation funds offer considerable potential for expanding into more specific preparedness financing. There are shared weaknesses too, however: none of the funds supports preparedness for nonclimate-related risks or conflict.

• The two mechanisms with a specific focus on risk (GFDRR and UNDP CPR TTF) perform strongly on the questions formulated by the research team to determine the 'best fit' mechanism for financing, thus warranting further exploration.

This report's recommendations are broken down into four elements.

Expansion where it makes sense: 'no regret' options

There is much that can be achieved within the current system to improve the financing of emergency preparedness that does not require radical overhauls of practice and policy. On balance, there is considerable potential for improving the scope of all of the core mechanisms and tools.

- Emergency Response Funds: opportunities should be maximised to include preparedness in the ERFs as part and parcel of good humanitarian practice.
- **Common Humanitarian Funds**: preparedness should be a fundamental part of the work of CHFs, and established within each new and existing set of fund guidelines.
- The Central Emergency Response Fund: the inclusion of preparedness should not be inhibited where the case has been effectively made, but the CERF's focus on lifesaving response should be maintained.
- Agencies should actively utilise other resources incountry for emergency preparedness.

Maximising opportunities: an enhanced system

Improvements to existing mechanisms are not sufficient; they will, even if all implemented, only patch over existing cracks in financing for emergency preparedness. Elements of the current system can (and should) be pushed beyond their current comfort zone, with steps taken to ensure that preparedness becomes a core component of all relevant mechanisms managed by the international community.

Elements of the current system can (and should) be pushed beyond their current comfort zone, with steps taken to ensure that preparedness becomes a core component of all relevant mechanisms managed by the international community

- Strategic Response Plans: all plans should be multiyear, and take heed of the latest guidance to include preparedness in longer-term frameworks.
- Risk-focused financing mechanisms: emergency preparedness should be made an explicit goal of all country programming.
- Climate change adaptation mechanisms: all climate change adaptation financing must be integrated within a wider appreciation of risks in each country context.
- **Pilot Program for Climate Resilience**: the existing entry points to fund emergency preparedness should be maximised through projects that relate to climate services, disaster/climate risk reduction and community preparedness.
- Least Developed Countries Fund: funding should be used to support emergency preparedness activities where they have been (or could be) included in National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPAs). Future NAPAs should have an obligatory emergency preparedness component.
- Adaptation Fund: the already close thematic relationship between the Adaptation Fund and emergency preparedness should be built upon by making the connections systematic.

Transformational change: solutions beyond the current system

While there are advantages to enhancing existing mechanisms, this report argues that bolstering existing mechanisms is not sufficient, and at the very least a global solution must be considered. Either an enhancement of GFDRR or the CPR TTF is recommended, expanding the remit of their work in emergency preparedness, or – the preferred option – the establishment of a dedicated mechanism. The rationale for a global solution is as follows:

- Decisions to engage with a particular country are not always determined by an adequate assessment of risk or need; some countries can be 'left behind'.
- Country-level financing is inadequate. Not all countries have enough donors present in-country to adequately engage with emergency preparedness needs. Capacity to engage with donors directly, either regionally or globally, is limited in many cases.
- Existing funds, whether at country level (most often humanitarian, though in some cases bespoke to that context) or at global level, do not target preparedness specifically.
- As evidence from across the case studies reveals, funding is 'siloed', with limits to the feasibility and willingness of individual fund managers to support preparedness.

In essence, if all we do is improve the preparedness focus of existing mechanisms, no matter how good that is, key questions will always remain. How will underfunded preparedness needs be met? How will priorities across countries be determined? Who will take charge of tackling the neglect of conflict preparedness? A global fund meanwhile could, if designed and directed appropriately, prioritise funding across a range of countries, and make decisions as to the most appropriate contexts for external support. It could raise the profile of emergency preparedness as an issue for donors and agencies alike, in a way that any country-based fund is simply unable to do. It could also pilot a new way of working and thinking, seeking funds drawn from both development and humanitarian funding streams, where a holistic all-risk approach to emergency preparedness is pursued.

Donor governments: the case for development financing

Donor governments should consider a range of actions to address the current preparedness challenges with, throughout, an emphasis on bringing development financing to bear on underlying risk.

- Re-assess global and country programming priorities. Investment in preparedness should be based on a global assessment of risk, related to capacity and vulnerability, need and exposure. Such an assessment would allow for a concentration of efforts where the need is greatest.
- Ensure that risk is not just part of humanitarian and crisis-related structures, but also becomes the foundation for development investments.

Expansion where it makes sense: 'no regret' options	Maximising opportunities: an enhanced system	Transformational change: solutions beyond the current system
There is considerable potential in maximising the use of existing mechanisms for financing emergency preparedness more effectively.	These opportunities will entail considerably more effort from the international system in order to be achieved.	This represents a considerable change in the way that emergency preparedness is financed, with a new dedicated approach and financing sourced beyond the system.
Bolster existing humanitarian financing mechanisms, so that opportunities for funding emergency preparedness are continually sought – including, for example, within the CHFs, ERFs and CERF. GFDRR to make preparedness a priority action within all its selected countries. CPR TTF to prioritise preparedness within its priority countries when it makes new grants. All agencies should investigate how they can utilise other resources for emergency preparedness where they are most appropriate.	Multi-year Strategic Response Plans (SRPs) should be obligatory across protracted complex emergencies. All new humanitarian mechanisms to include a consideration of preparedness, and this should be reflected in the relevant set-up policy documentation and guidelines including, for example, in SRPs. Climate change adaptation financing to be implemented in ways which support a broader preparedness system for risk, including improvement for the PPCR, Adaptation Fund and LDCF.	Significantly enhance either of the existing risk-focused global mechanisms: GFDRR or CPR TTF. Or: Create a new global pooled funding mechanism. Beyond the system: enhanced support for preparedness through private sector and remittances.

A set of options for future funding of emergency preparedness

Donor support for preparedness

Support preparedness throughout and greatly increase the role of development financing.

- Flexible financing should be encouraged as a means to support more tailored and adaptable preparedness interventions. Evidence from across the case studies reveals the need to accommodate fluctuations in context, whether conditions of conflict, fragility or risk. There are numerous examples where elements of preparedness are working successfully – e.g. early warning based on assessment of risk – but where a lack of flexibility in existing funding limits a country's ability to prepare.
- Proactive internal advocacy within donor countries, institutions and multi-donor groups is required to ensure that preparedness is part of funding decisions. Vocal support can be sustained in broader international debates only with the backing of key donors. It is suggested that donors invest in understanding the added value that emergency preparedness can have for their own caseloads in terms of effectiveness and efficiency, including value for money, across both humanitarian and development departments.
- Consideration should be given to earmarking funding for emergency preparedness, whether from humanitarian or development sources. The most important advantages of earmarking are that it guarantees some level of funding and that it commits a donor to change. However, on the whole this is not recommended unless a much better global understanding of need can be articulated.
- Emergency preparedness is an inherent part of resilience; making the resilience agenda operational should entail an adequate focus on preparedness. It is recommended that emergency preparedness be embedded into current and future indicators of what makes for a resilient system.

Key messages

- Much can be done to improve the way that the international system finances preparedness, from 'no regret' incremental changes, to an enhanced system, through to considerable institutional review ('transformational change').
- Incremental changes to current mechanisms will leave gaps. This report recommends the establishment of a global fund for preparedness: either an enhanced GFDRR or UNDP CPR TTF, or alternatively a new dedicated fund.
- More dedicated funding for preparedness should not result in the 'extraction' of emergency preparedness from existing processes, systems and approaches.
- Donors can and should do more to address preparedness through the system and within their own spending priorities: development funding for emergency preparedness is seen as an essential way forward.

Conclusion: preparing for the foreseeable future

In moving towards a post-2015 era, with evidence pointing towards a world in which disasters are even more frequent than today, the centrality of 'risk' is becoming an essential component of all development and humanitarian work. Beyond the rhetoric, at some point real progress is required. This means making a decision that will cost something, either in terms of political effort, bureaucratic changes or financial resources. Tinkering around the edges with existing mechanisms is not enough: the country case studies undertaken as part of this research have proved that. While increased support will cost in the immediate term, financing emergency preparedness activities has enormous potential to reduce the costs of response and the pressures on the humanitarian

The international community needs to get serious about the funding volumes involved in creating sustainable and functioning national preparedness systems

system, while transferring responsibility to national actors. Risk therefore needs to be embedded in national and international planning and budgetary frameworks.

Cost is not limited to the way that we fund. It is also about how much is funded. Increasing the necessary commitment to emergency preparedness clearly requires a coherent business case built on solid incentives and a calculation of the return on investment, something that draws upon methods such as cost-benefit analysis, economics of preparedness and robust, clear messaging. This business case should be tied directly to calls for specific budgets to support emergency preparedness (as well as risk management in general) from national resource allocations. Moreover, the international community needs to get serious about the funding volumes involved in creating sustainable and functioning national preparedness systems. For example, how much has it cost developed country governments in at-risk areas (e.g. Japan, the US, Germany or Australia) to comprehensively prepare? How does this compare with what is being invested by developing country governments and their international partners?

In advocating for emergency preparedness, as part and parcel of a risk-based approach to international aid, a 'no regret' narrative should be adopted. Emergency preparedness has relevance not just for humanitarians. In the medium to long term, it will almost certainly save money, lives and livelihoods. The financial responsibility therefore needs to be shouldered by all, firstly by national stakeholders and governments, and supported by both international humanitarian and development actors. Taking this agenda forward will require continued efforts on the part of the IASC and engaged stakeholders to translate the recommendations of this report into action.

Moving the agenda forward: advancing emergency preparedness

- Deliver the recommendations contained in this report, secure commitment on the part of representatives to formulate a plan of campaign to address the changes required, including ensuring recommendations on mechanism change feeding into all key debates.
- Learning from the experiences of the Political Champions for Disaster Resilience group, a **highprofile champion** should be designated to be responsible for promoting action on preparedness.
- Reach out to the international system working on conflict. Make direct contact with the DAC International Network on Conflict and Fragility (INCAF) and influence the New Deal for Fragile States.
- In discussions on post-2015 development goals, communicate clear messages on the value of preparedness for disasters and conflict, and the links between the two. Ensure stronger inclusion of emergency preparedness in the successor to the Hyogo Framework for Action.
- In preparation for the World Humanitarian Summit 2016, advocate for emergency preparedness to be included as a central component of one of the four thematic areas. Advocacy is needed for emergency preparedness to be part of the final Road Map and Plan of Action for Post-2016.
- In preparation for the 20th session Conference of the Parties to the UNFCCC in Lima, Peru, preparedness should be integral to actions required to support climate change adaptation across vulnerable and high-risk contexts.
- Risk needs to be embedded in international planning and budgetary frameworks. The potential cost-benefit of investing in emergency preparedness across all sectors should be calculated, informed by a comprehensive assessment of risk, vulnerability, exposure and capacity.

Agencies engaged in bilateral relationships with national governments should emphasise the importance of risk in all humanitarian and development work. Where **national fiscal planning**, **policy and budgetary processes** are being crafted, preparedness for risk must be embedded.

Ensuring practical connections: recommendations beyond the purely financial

Effective and efficient financing for emergency preparedness is not just a financial issue. The research team recommend the following supporting enhancements to the system:

- Clear guidance should be developed for the **adequate coding**, **tracking and reporting** of investments in emergency preparedness.
- The IASC Principals should support the roll-out of the **Common Framework for Emergency Preparedness** and related work of the Sub-Working Group for Preparedness.
- Systematically integrate emergency preparedness within the UN Development Assistance Framework (UNDAF), making use of existing guidelines on DRR/ CCA. The positive role that the Common Budgetary Framework can play in highlighting (and funding) gaps in preparedness should be investigated.

Key messages

- In the future disasters will be more frequent than today; the centrality of 'risk' is thus an essential component of all development and humanitarian work and its inclusion in the post-2015 development agenda is paramount.
- While increased support will cost in the immediate term, financing emergency preparedness activities has enormous potential to reduce the costs of response.
- A new international consensus and compact are required between national governments and the international community on the need for countries to be better prepared.
- The IASC must seize opportunities to advance preparedness, with a high-profile champion responsible for ensuring that the cause does not 'fall off the agenda', supported by an appropriate agency or IASC structure.

JALUR EVAKUASI



Apabila Terjadi Bencana. Segera Lari ke Jempat Aman !!

+ =

+C hines

4) \$222

1. Emergency preparedness the current state of play

1. Emergency preparedness: the current state of play

Key messages

- The ultimate goal should be comprehensive national systems of preparedness, capable of responding to the range of risks they face.
- Humanitarians can only be effective if they are prepared. Investment in preparedness
 activities must come before a crisis takes hold. The current system 'puts the cart before
 the horse' funding is largely allocated to preparedness activities only after a disaster
 strikes.
- Funding for emergency preparedness is highly fragmented, with unequal and uneven coverage of the range of activities needed to develop sustainable preparedness systems.
- Development approaches are increasingly embracing risk management as central to poverty reduction; humanitarians need to move away from being 'crisis fighters' to 'systematic risk managers'.
- Emergency preparedness has the potential to be transformative, offering a marked change to ex-post 'business as usual'.
- There remains a lack of connection between strategic engagements with fragile states and natural hazard-related disaster risk.

1.1 Introduction

The destruction wrought by Typhoon Haiyan and the total cost, in terms of shattered lives and financial loss, are colossal. Haiyan, one of the strongest storms on record, created a devastating impact usually seen only with tsunamis (Harris, 2013). 'Before and after' photographs are similar to those we saw in Aceh after the 2004 Indian Ocean tsunami: villages wiped from the landscape, communities scattered and cargo ships piled up along the coastline (BBCa, 2013). As was seen before, the world's attention has now shifted from the challenge of response to the failure to prepare, and the challenge of prevention.

That this happened in the Philippines was somewhat perverse. Disaster risk is considered as a threat to national security and is built into the country's development planning. Politicians are sometimes not elected if they do not give prominence to disaster in their manifestos. The government is investing heavily in risk reduction – close to \$1 billion a year (Kellett, 2014 forthcoming). Note that the prices for this report are current, when drawn from the case studies. Prices used in tables and graphs may be different and are marked accordingly. Other prices used may refer to reference material; wherever possible this is indicated in the text. And, perhaps more important, disaster risk has entered civil consciousness: prevention and preparation for the regular impact of typhoons, landslides, flooding and earthquakes are of central importance across society.

Yet in the weeks after the disaster, officials admitted to inadequate preparedness of government systems and of logistics, communications and contingency planning, and stories circulated of the failure to convert early warning into complete evacuation (Marshall, 2013). On the other hand, there were considerable successes: for example, community preparedness and contingency planning, coupled with early warning, enabled all 1,000 residents of the island of Tulang Diyot to evacuate to safety (McElroy, 2013).

What does it mean for the international community when a developing country with arguably one of the most advanced risk management legislative frameworks, a committed government and significant national investment – one that is often deemed a success story – is unable to comprehensively prepare? And what does this mean for other contexts?

A key lesson from Haiyan is that emergency preparedness requires a portfolio of actions and activities integrated into a combined system. This covers everything from risk analysis and early warning through to stockpiling and training, from ensuring that the appropriate legislative environment for preparedness exists, through to contingency planning and standby arrangements. Taken together, these activities can be conceived along a continuum, from developmental through to humanitarian action. The continuum captures everything required to enable an effective and efficient humanitarian response to crisis – to disasters related to both natural hazards and conflict (see sections 2.2–2.3).

The humanitarian financing system works to support responses to such crises, through mechanisms and tools such as the Consolidated Appeal Process (CAP) (and now its successor the Strategic Response Plan), Common Humanitarian Funds (CHFs), Emergency Response Funds (ERFs) and the Central Emergency Response Fund (CERF), and through bilateral funding from donors. In some instances, funds for response are directed towards preparedness for future events, but this is largely ad hoc and insufficient to address current preparedness needs. There is evidence to suggest that preparedness activities which require sustained, longer-term engagement in-country can be funded through mechanisms concerned with risk reduction and management, such as the Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery (GFDRR), the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)'s Thematic Trust Fund for Crisis Prevention and Recovery (CPR TTF), individual bilateral contributions through international development banks or national governments' own fiscal contributions. There is even some evidence that preparedness activities (at the more developmental end of the spectrum) are being funded through climate finance mechanisms. Yet none of these tools or mechanisms is operating in explicit support of strengthening national systems of preparedness. Gaps and shortcomings exist, and the system as a whole lacks the necessary provisions to support ex-ante (i.e. prior to a crisis) preparedness activities. There is also a lack of understanding of how much it would cost to create a comprehensive preparedness system in-country; what it means to undertake preparedness for conflict, both conceptually and in practice; how international preparedness efforts can better support the strengthening of national capacity for preparedness; and why funding at the humanitarian end of the preparedness continuum continues to be released mostly after a crisis has hit, as part of the response budget.

Investment in preparedness seeks to reduce what appears to be an ever increasing burden on the humanitarian system, stretching it beyond its means and in some The ultimate goal is fully functioning national systems of preparedness, led by national actors capable of responding to the range of risks that a country may face

cases its mandate, by reducing the cost of response over the long term. Yet this is not just a financing challenge. Getting the financing architecture correct is an important starting point, but it needs to be complemented by improved coherence of preparedness efforts through more coordinated decision-making, planning and implementation. This requires a global consensus on the need to foreground risk as a way to understand how development investment decisions should be made, and how official development assistance (ODA) is spent. Strengthening risk-based approaches to humanitarian and development action should translate into prioritised programming and resourcing. The ultimate goal is fully functioning national systems of preparedness, led by national actors capable of responding to the range of risks that a country may face.

1.2 Preparedness in context

Risk is becoming the new mantra of our time. The latest evidence suggests that, by 2030, up to 325 million extremely poor people will be living in 49 most hazardprone countries (Shepherd et al., 2013). And of the 11 most hazard-prone countries, four – Pakistan, Kenya, Sudan and Ethiopia – also appear amongst the top 10 recipients of humanitarian funding (for 2011).¹ Risk management is becoming central to poverty reduction efforts for development actors (ibid.), and signals the need to move away from humanitarians as 'crisis fighters' to being 'systematic risk managers', according to World Bank Group President, Jim Yong Kim (World Bank, 2013a). Complicating matters is the renewed evidence that climate change will add to the complexity of risk in countries that regularly receive humanitarian assistance (IPPC, 2012).

This study comes 10 years after humanitarian reform helped change the face of pooled humanitarian financing. It appears at a time when the international community is continuing to grapple with what appear to be ever

¹ The 11 most hazard-prone countries are Bangladesh, Democratic Republic of Congo, Ethiopia, Kenya, Madagascar, Nepal, Nigeria, Pakistan, South Sudan, Sudan and Uganda (Shepherd et al., 2013). The top 10 recipients of international humanitarian aid in 2011 were Pakistan, Somalia, West Bank and Gaza Strip, Afghanistan, Ethiopia, Japan, Sudan, Kenya, Haiti and Libya (Development Initiatives, 2013).

increasing humanitarian needs, set against a backdrop of continuing pressure on donor financing and, with it, demand from donors that effectiveness and value for money become central to the system (Jackson, 2012). Set in this context, preparedness continues to be advanced throughout the humanitarian community: through pillar four of the Transformative Agenda of the UN Emergency Relief Coordinator and the Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC) Principals (IASC, 2012); the efforts of the Sub-Working Groups on Humanitarian Financing and Preparedness mandated by the IASC Working Group; the International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (UNISDR) and the Hyogo Framework for Action (HFA); and resolutions of the UN Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC). Key parts of the aid system are also assessing (and changing) their roles and responsibilities in relation to preparedness, with notable examples being the UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA) reviewing its 'place' in this agenda, substantive revisions to the CAP guidelines and endorsement of the Common Framework for Preparedness by the IASC Principals. These institutional changes are occurring as the fall-out of the global economic crisis continues to cast a shadow over ODA, under a narrative of efficiency and cost-effectiveness.

Existing, and credible, international efforts to drive forward the preparedness agenda are not a comprehensive 'solution' to address current preparedness needs, but nor are they supposed to be. They will – it is hoped – be a catalyst for the far-reaching changes that are required. In many ways the reality is a simple one: in order to

In order to be prepared to deal effectively with disasters or crises, preparedness measures need to be in place before a crisis occurs

be prepared to deal effectively with disasters or crises, preparedness measures need to be in place before a crisis occurs. Developing comprehensive and systemic national systems of preparedness within a given context requires prior investment. This is standard practice in developed countries such as Japan, the United Kingdom and the United States, where financing for preparedness involves setting aside funds to use in a crisis and, more importantly, apportioning part of the general budget for preparedness measures, as part of routine fiscal

planning. And yet even in developed contexts, current levels of preparedness have been stretched in relation to natural hazards, as the tornadoes that swept through the American Midwest in 2013 demonstrated (BBC News, 2013b).² For countries with a history of conflict and fragility, particularly where the government is a party to conflict, the processes and willingness to engage in conflict preparedness become much more complicated, and it is here that the humanitarian community has a stronger role to play. However, for both natural hazards and conflict, it is ultimately national capacity that must be strengthened to be able to take on leadership for preparedness at all levels. The end goal is a scenario where national actors call upon the international community only in rare, unforeseeable instances that outstrip national capacity to respond.

Currently, humanitarian funding does in places contribute towards building preparedness in the international system, ready for the next event. However, this is predominantly either finance for humanitarian response released after a disaster strikes or the 'planned' humanitarian assistance of consolidated appeals. This is symptomatic of a fundamental flaw in the financing architecture. If we were to design channels of funding with a blank slate, then it is likely that funding arrangements would look guite different from those that we see now. The current system 'puts the cart before the horse' in that funding is largely allocated to preparedness activities only after a disaster strikes. In addition, discrete 'preparedness activities' are undertaken, rather than continuing support to a comprehensive preparedness system. This is not to suggest that preparedness should always be top of the agenda; weighting of priorities is a reality in a world where funding is constrained. It is not always feasible to undertake comprehensive preparedness measures for all risks or eventualities - some risk has to be borne. It should, however, as a basic minimum, be an achievable goal to support national systems of preparedness for the most likely crises (based on a comprehensive assessment of risk within each country). Where conflict preparedness is required, the more immediate near-term actions for preparedness are likely to overlap with those required for natural hazardrelated disasters (particularly for some critical life-saving sectors). For longer-term preparedness actions (e.g. establishing adequate legislation), a significantly different set of actors and actions will be required.

There are significant pressures on the humanitarian system. Aid from governments reached a record high of \$13.8 billion in 2010, was at the same level in 2011 and fell back only slightly to \$12.9 billion in 2012 (Development Initiatives, 2013: 11). Although funding requested through the CAP fell by several billion dollars in 2011 (largely due to the absence of mega-disasters like the Haiti earthquake or Pakistan floods), unmet needs rose to their highest level for a decade, at nearly 38% (Development Initiatives,

² Other examples include the tornadoes in early 2013 (Oxford and Schwirtz, 2013) and the lessons from the US preparedness and postdisaster recovery and financing challenges in regards to Hurricane Sandy (see Abramson and Redlener, 2013).

2012: 7). This reality is complicated by a context of fiscal austerity, with donor governments under increased pressure to cut overseas aid in order to apportion higher proportions of revenue to address domestic challenges. As recently as April this year, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) reported that international development aid in 2012 had fallen by 4% from its 2011 figure, which itself was a fall of 2% from 2010, and that only a modest recovery was likely in 2013 (OECD, 2013a). This was not as a result of reduced need.

Within this challenging reality, the pressure to ensure greater effectiveness of aid spending presents a pivotal opportunity to ask more challenging questions of the way in which the current financing system works. How can the system be improved to enable more effective responses to crisis across many contexts, whether sudden-onset mega-

How can the system be improved to enable more effective responses to crisis across many contexts, whether sudden-onset megadisasters, slow-developing crises or armed and violent conflict?

disasters, slow-developing crises or armed and violent conflict? Or even more critically, where natural hazardand conflict-related disasters occur at the same time (see ODI, 2013)?

Emergency preparedness has the potential to be transformative, as a means to reshape the way the aid system approaches crises. It offers a marked change to post-disaster 'business as usual' and reflects the lessons learnt from decades of humanitarian response. It also reflects the necessity of building national capacity for preparedness as a fundamental part of a longer-term strategy to reduce the pressures on ODA (through increased national capacity and reduced need). This study contributes to the current momentum surrounding the preparedness agenda by investigating the financial practicalities of emergency preparedness at a country level and by making recommendations for the humanitarian and development community to take forward.

1.3 Informing the post-2015 agenda

2015 draws near, marking 10 years since the humanitarian reform process began and bringing under the spotlight the progress made by donors, the IASC and the humanitarian system more broadly. In parallel, debates on upcoming international renewals are intensifying – the

Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and the HFA, as well as a further instalment of climate change negotiations. In the post-2015 development agenda, attention is drawn to the place of conflict and fragility in future agreements, and that of risk and resilience as the new discourse of the time (Melamed, 2012). What is more, the continued presence of complex crises in Niger, Myanmar and Sudan – where conflict and natural hazards intersect – is putting added pressure on development and humanitarian actors to be better prepared to respond to the multitude of crises that arise (see Harris et al., 2013).³

Evidence on the geography of poverty, disasters and climate extremes points towards an increasing complexity of risk in the future (Shepherd et al., 2013) - a future in which the goal to eradicate extreme poverty by 2030 can only conceivably be achieved if the post-2015 development goals incorporate the management of risk into their central objectives. A report by ODI and GFDRR (Kellett and Caravani, 2013) suggests that there is much to be done, at least for disaster risk. One stark piece of data is that 12 lowincome countries which each received less than \$10 million for disaster risk reduction (DRR) over the two decades 1991-2010 at the same time received \$5.6 billion of funding for disaster response – \$160,000 dedicated to response for every \$1 of DRR (ibid: vi). With the latest science on climate change pointing towards a significant increase in climate-related disaster trends - to which the international community will, in many cases, be expected to respond change is needed, or the system will be stretched beyond what is feasible (see IPCC, 2012). The underlying message therefore is that, above all else, significant improvements are critical to build national capacity to mitigate, prevent, prepare for and respond to crises.

The need to 'strengthen preparedness, and ensure a more effective and efficient response' has been increasingly voiced as a core message in the post-2015 development agenda, including, for example, in the UN Task Team's Thematic Think Pieces on the role of risk and resilience in a new MDG framework (UNISDR and WMO, 2012: 7). Translating this into any kind of final outcome is still some way off. Yet the case for preparedness being part and parcel of post-2015 commitments is widely regarded as common sense by large sections of the international community.⁴ Indeed, progress to date on preparedness by the IASC, as noted above, demonstrates an international appreciation of the need to redress prior neglect of the issue.

³ Four of our five case study countries (all bar the Philippines) appear in a ranked list of top 20 countries demonstrating high levels of fragility, disaster risk, poverty and climate change vulnerability (Harris et al., 2013: 9).

⁴ As expressed in debates at the ECOSOC Humanitarian Segment, Geneva in 2013.

There is still much to do. Action towards commitments in the HFA have seen the most progress in capacities to prepare for and respond to disasters, with evidence pointing towards a downward trend in mortality risk (UNISDR, 2013a: 5). Yet with economic losses trending upwards, more than tripling over the past 20 years in some countries, there is a failure to 'fully internalize' the significance of building national DRR systems (UNISDR, 2013a: 5). For example, despite the increasing availability of risk information and knowledge, there is recurrent frustration that governments and the international aid community often still fail to act before a crisis hits (ibid.). This criticism was levelled at the international community in the wake of the drought and food crisis in the Horn of Africa in 2011, when it was slow to respond (Hillier and Dempsey, 2012). Progress on conflict preparedness is even further lacking, with debates about what this entails still in their infancy (Vaux, 2014a forthcoming). Meanwhile, there appears to be, more than disappointingly, a continued lack of connection between strategic engagements with fragile states and (natural hazard-related) disaster risk. The New Deal for Engagement in Fragile States,⁵ for example, does not strongly feature links between state-building and disaster

Above all else, significant improvements are critical to build national capacity to mitigate, prevent, prepare for and respond to crises

risk, the environment or climate change, wrongly implying that natural hazards have little impact in countries such as Somalia, Pakistan or Niger.

In the context of fiscal austerity, donor government signatories to post-2015 agreements will be mindful of the financial implications of those commitments. In these circumstances, the notion of preparedness as a 'no regret' option must be conveyed: '... measures that build capacity and disaster preparedness ... have no negative effect even if the worst forecasts are not realised (either because the cost is very low or because they will build resilience)' (Hillier and Dempsey, 2012: 20). The post-2015 development agenda thus marks a critical juncture. Will the international community continue to do more of the same, perhaps under a new banner, terminology or buzzword, or will it take a radically different approach to challenge the inadequacies of 'business as usual' crisis response?

⁵ The New Deal is the latest attempt by the international community to provide a partnership framework for assisting countries to transition out of fragility. Developed through the International Dialogue for Peacebuilding and Statebuilding, the New Deal is structured to deliver three inter-connected elements: peace-building and state-building goals, national-led inclusive processes, and partnership and trust between national and international actors (see www.newdeal4peace. org for more details).

2. How we understand emergency preparedness

2. How we understand emergency preparedness

Key messages

- Emergency preparedness activities work in tandem to create a holistic system, and span what is conventionally understood to be the bifurcation between development and humanitarian action.
- Financing across the 'preparedness continuum' therefore needs to be coordinated. In reality, when made to 'fit' into the institutional and financing architecture, the continuum becomes fractured and disjointed.
- The international community faces a challenge: to continue 'feeding' the bifurcated system or to alter and transform it for the better.
- Emergency preparedness activities regularly fall 'through the cracks' in the international financing architecture.
- The system has been grappling with a rapidly changing set of risks, and the financing architecture has failed to evolve at the same pace to support these demands.
- Uneven levels of attention are paid to different types of shocks and stresses, and there is a dearth of analysis, practice and resourcing on preparedness for conflict and its links with natural hazards.
- The 'ideal scenario' involves national governments enacting budgetary measures to support systems of preparedness, based on a holistic understanding of risk. Of the five case studies, the Philippines goes furthest towards this goal.

2.1 What is emergency preparedness?

'Emergency preparedness aims to build the resilience of states and societies by strengthening the local, national and global capacity to minimise loss of life and livelihoods, to ensure effective response to crises.'

The definition adopted for this report (above) is informed by the findings of the five country case studies, and seeks to better reflect the natural hazard and conflict dimensions of preparedness for response.⁶ It also reflects the centrality of preparedness in the IASC's conceptualisation of resilience, as one of four critical areas of work (IASC, 2012). This research endorses conceptualisations of disasters as the product of human decision-making and action in relation to natural hazards (see Wisner et al., 2004), though the term 'natural hazards' is used here to differentiate natural hazard-related disasters from conflictrelated disasters. Definitions of related terms can be found in Annex 2, while the relationship of 'preparedness' to other terms is illustrated in Figure 2.1.

A matrix of activities that comprise 'emergency preparedness' has been created for this report. It reflects the full suite of activities required to support a sustainable system of preparedness, which span the responsibilities of both

⁶ Other types of crisis are captured within this definition, but are not the focus of this study.

Figure 2.1: Understanding risk and the place of preparedness



development and humanitarian actors (see Table 2.1).⁷ This matrix was used to frame the case study research, which enabled cross-country comparisons to take place (in spite of contextual variations in terminology) and provided a means to situate the country findings within global trends.⁸

Importantly, though activities are listed individually in the matrix, preparedness interventions are part of a portfolio approach. The suite of activities required to create and sustain a preparedness system work in tandem and support one other. For example, early warning systems will not be effective unless they are supported by a contingency plan that clearly delineates roles and activities in the case of an early warning, or without the institutional capacity to put this in place. Similarly, pre-positioning and stockpiling are somewhat redundant unless there is a clear system for indicating when and how those stocks will be used and methods for deployment, and with positioning based upon clear risk assessments. As a result, the issue is not what to invest in, but rather a clear imperative to invest in the whole package of necessary activities. In short, emergency preparedness requires a holistic approach.

Understanding what preparedness is and what it means is somewhat limited in the absence of a country, sectoral or crisis context. When applying the emergency preparedness matrix in practice, the experiences of UNDP and the Bureau for Crisis Prevention and Recovery (BCPR) – which The suite of activities required to create and sustain a preparedness system work in tandem and support one other

used it to evaluate the preparedness content of its global DRR portfolio – demonstrated that further qualification was needed to distinguish preparedness categories from larger categories of DRR.⁹ Furthermore, the research identified differences in the ways in which preparedness is conceived across the five case study countries. These reflect the diversity of development and humanitarian challenges in each context, individual organisational

9 For example, in regard to institutional and legislative frameworks, resource allocation and funding and response coordination arrangements.

⁷ Drawn from research undertaken by the IASC Sub-Working Group (SWG) on Preparedness (Lawry-White, 2012). It also broadly aligns with the range of activities that constitute 'preparedness' as considered by IASC members, UNISDR and Development Initiatives (Kellett and Sweeney, 2011).

⁸ The relationship between emergency preparedness and risk management was explored in phase one of this work (see Kellett and Sweeney, 2011).

Categories	Activities	Scale
Hazard/risk analysis and early warning	• Early warning systems • Hazard/risk analysis	
Institutional and legislative frameworks	 Institutional and legislative frameworks, resource allocation and funding mechanisms Institutional arrangements: national platform, national disaster management authority National plan of action Informal local through to international agreements 	al
Resource allocation and funding	 Risk pooling mechanisms Agency funding arrangements – including risk pooling mechanisms (external) and core emergency programme budgets (internal) 	d internation
Crisis coordination	 Government coordination mechanisms Leadership structures (including between different scales, locations and sectors) Inter-agency coordination Cluster/sector established contextual standards 	Community, sub-national, national, regional and international
Information management and communication	 Information management systems Communication systems Cluster/sector information management systems 	national, natio
Contingency/ preparedness and response planning	Contingency/preparedness and response planning	munity, sub-
Training and exercises	 Simulations, drills Accredited training opportunities Specific country-context training opportunities 	Com
Emergency services/standby arrangements and prepositioning	 Stockpiling Civil protection, emergency services, search and rescue Contingency partnership agreements 	

Table 2.1: Emergency preparedness matrix: categories and activities

framings of preparedness in relation to their own mandates, and the country's natural hazard and/or conflict profile. In some examples, such as USAID in Myanmar, the terms 'preparedness' and 'DRR' were used interchangeably (Peters, 2014 forthcoming). In other cases, such as with international non-governmental organisations (NGOs) in the Philippines, there was sometimes no distinction between humanitarian action and activities that this report would term 'emergency preparedness' (Kellett, 2014 forthcoming).

2.2 The preparedness continuum

Across the five country cases, donors, policy-makers and practitioners described a suite of preparedness activities that make up a complete picture of preparedness. These ranged from more 'developmental' activities, such as support for establishing an adequate national policy framework for preparedness, through to more 'humanitarian' responses, e.g. stockpiling of goods in preparation for rapid response. In reality, preparedness is best considered as a continuum with a natural alignment at each end with the 'development' and 'humanitarian' arenas.

¹⁰ Hosted by the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (IFRC), UN OCHA and the International Council of Voluntary Agencies (ICVA).





The notion of a continuum is useful when considering the range of activities required to create a strong preparedness system. Action is required over both the long term (e.g. appropriate legislation and disaster management law) and the near term, in relation to building capacity to respond to an imminent crisis or disaster event.

In reality preparedness is best considered as a continuum with a natural alignment at each end with the 'development' and 'humanitarian' arenas

When made to 'fit' into the bifurcated humanitarian/ development institutional and financing architecture, the continuum becomes disjointed. As evidenced throughout this report, the majority of funding for preparedness activities derives from humanitarian channels, which do not align with the full suite of preparedness activities required to create a complete preparedness 'package' in-country. This reality is well recognised. In a recent International Dialogue on Strengthening Partnership in Disaster Response,¹⁰ it was observed that 'the disaster risk reduction and humanitarian agendas could usefully be more engaged with each other ... the process of building trust with national authorities, strengthening national capacities and embedding different ways of working in preparedness and contingency plans needs to take place as part of longer term investments in disaster preparedness' (Harvey and Harmer, 2011).

The current bifurcation presents many challenges for financing preparedness within the international community – not just in terms of volumes, sequencing and responsibility,

but also in terms of who is best placed to take on the preparedness activities required to create a strong system. The international community faces a challenge: to continue 'feeding' the bifurcated system or to alter and transform it for the better. To split preparedness activities in two would simply be to recreate the humanitarian/development divide. This is problematic because the short- and long-term aspects of preparedness are necessarily interlinked, as the resilience framework indicates (see Harris, 2013). However, to bring together preparedness activities as a discrete set of concerns risks creating (yet) another silo.

Evidence from the five country case studies reveals that emergency preparedness activities regularly 'fall through the cracks' in the international financing architecture – a consequence of the fragmented aid system. This also reflects the patterned history of a system that has been grappling with a rapidly changing set of risks to which it is expected to respond, and of a financing architecture that has failed to evolve at the same pace to support those demands. We have also witnessed an uneven level of attention being given to some types of shocks and stresses over others. Thus, while preparedness for natural hazardrelated disasters is becoming increasingly well articulated thanks to the international efforts of UNISDR, GFDRR and others, there is a dearth of analysis on preparedness for conflict and on the links between the two.

2.3 Emergency preparedness and conflict

In contrast with natural hazard-related preparedness, conflict preparedness remains in its infancy in terms of comprehensive development of the concept, operational activities and programming on the ground. There are no dedicated financing mechanisms for preparing for conflict, just as there are no mechanisms solely dedicated to

Table 2.2: Emergency Preparedness Matrix: adapted for conflict

Categories	Activities	Sc
Hazard/risk analysis and early warning	 Early warning systems: e.g. reports by the International Crisis Group (ICG) Hazard/risk analysis: scenario planning, conflict analysis (led mainly by donor groups) 	
	 Monitoring of potential emergency situations by aid agencies such as OCHA, UNDP, UNHCR, UNICEF and WFP 	
Institutional and legislative frameworks	 Agreements especially by national authorities to respect international humanitarian law (IHL) e.g. civilians in conflict (ICRC), migration (UNHCR), SGBV in case of conflict (UNICEF) 	
	 Support to police, justice system, etc. in anticipation of widespread violence e.g. around elections (UNDP, donors) 	
Resource allocation and funding	 BCPR, which administers the CPR TTF, has a specific mandate for conflict; DRR funds focus on natural hazard-related disasters 	
Crisis coordination	 Informal security meetings of agencies, ambassadors and donors at different levels, UN Country Team 	
	 No special mechanisms for inter-agency coordination or clusters etc., but 'conflict sensitivity' may be introduced in any/all mechanisms 	
Information management and communication	 Monitoring of actual conflict outbreaks (e.g. OCHA mapping in South Sudan) Informal security meetings as above, but effectiveness may be reduced by limited publication of results 	
Contingency/ preparedness and response planning	 Contingency planning related mainly to anticipated violence (especially around elections) and migrations predicted to occur following conflict; examples from UNICEF and UNHCR 	
	 Focus on prevention rather than preparedness in peace-building 	
	 'Resilience', e.g. at community level, is poorly articulated in relation to conflict: it might take the form of self-defence 	
Training and exercises	 UNHCR conducts training at global level using simulations of anticipated migrations Security services may be trained in crisis response 	
Emergency services/	Stockpiling, evidence mainly relating to migrations	
standby arrangements and prepositioning	• Police prepared for violent outbreaks; this may be linked to security sector reform and/or peace-building	

preparing for natural hazards. Except for the UNDP CPR TTF – and here only to a limited extent (see Vaux, 2014b forthcoming) – the financing mechanisms reviewed in this study either do not consider conflict (GFDRR and the adaptation mechanisms) or are focused only on the more 'humanitarian' set of activities of the preparedness continuum (the four humanitarian mechanisms/tools). There is still work to do on establishing a clearly articulated or agreed upon understanding of 'emergency preparedness for conflict'. What we know is that agencies use, to an extent, a separate set of terms for similar types of activities being undertaken (see the adapted preparedness matrix, Table 2.2).

Emergency preparedness for conflict is frequently absorbed into wider processes. For example, conflict prevention,

¹¹ In such cases the term 'emergency preparedness for conflict' may not be used because preparedness for forms of violence and conflict might be regarded as a core activity that continues at all times and may not be related to specific events.

peace-building and security sector reform activities may, in connection with other activities, constitute elements of emergency preparedness for conflict, such as contingency planning, training of police forces, etc. (Vaux, 2014a forthcoming).¹¹ In this sense, conflict preparedness is represented in many mechanisms. For example, consolidated appeals often incorporate long-term international engagement in complex emergencies where conflict dominates the humanitarian agenda and where a focus on preparedness is not uncommon. Eight of the sixteen appeals in 2013 (all but one of them a complex emergency) mention preparedness as a key focus (OCHA, 2012a).

In relation to peace-building, violent conflict is always approached as preventable and hence the language focuses on prevention, though there may be elements of preparedness as defined in the matrix. As another example, strengthening the security services is often presented as a way of reducing violence (or conflict prevention) but could be presented as a form of emergency preparedness for conflict. Distinguishing between different activities is very difficult and can become a matter of semantics, and it is consequently even more difficult to track funding sources. The exceptions are events that have clearly been predicted and in which the international community is active, such as critical elections and referendums, where analysis indicates a high chance of conflict and violence: for example, stand-alone preparedness projects for the Sudan independence referendum in 2009, the Kenvan elections in 2013 and the period prior to the Iraq conflict in 2003 (Vaux, 2014a forthcoming).

The political and conflict context will determine and shape the extent to which preparedness measures can be enacted in-country, and the way in which the international community engages with national players. As Niger's history exemplifies, it has not always been possible to engage in conversations with government on hunger or crisis. In countries where the government is party to a conflict, or is unwilling or unable to engage openly in dialogue on conflict preparedness, the use of alternative language may be employed. For example, the term 'contingency planning' is more discreet than 'conflict analysis', especially in contexts where the presence of certain forms of 'conflict' are denied or are too sensitive to engage with because of possible repercussions.¹² Thus preparedness activities do not occur in a political vacuum. Furthermore, donor funding is shaped by political preferences; government responsibility for citizen preparedness is influenced by national politics; and the extent to which the international community can engage in dialogue about certain types of risk is influenced by the political context.

While recognising the challenge of incorporating preparedness for both natural disaster and conflict into a single mechanism (see Kellett and Sweeney, 2011), the two remain closely linked throughout the recommendations contained in this report. The risk contexts of the country case

studies demonstrate strong interlinkages (both conceptually and in practice) and the activities pursued on the ground are often the same at the humanitarian end of the continuum from a sectoral perspective (i.e. in preparation for a nearterm response) (Kellett, 2014 forthcoming; Peters, 2014 forthcoming). Moreover, recent evidence suggests that a lack of preparedness for the impacts of natural hazardrelated disasters can exacerbate political and societal stressors, which can – if not managed effectively – increase the potential for conflict (see Harris et al., 2013). Thus while the international system – including the IASC – has created means to compartmentalise how it deals with different risk factors, in reality natural disasters and conflict are not so neatly segregated.

The ideal scenario globally would be a situation where national governments are able to enact the budgetary measures required to support systems of preparedness, based on a holistic understanding of risk

2.4 International support: the ideal scenario

The ideal scenario globally would be a situation where national governments are able to enact the budgetary measures required to support systems of preparedness, based on a holistic understanding of risk. Of the case study countries, the Philippines goes furthest towards this idea, with the government being a major contributor in terms of volumes of financing for DRR. Government spending has been on average close to \$800 million per year, contrasting with just \$50 million from the international community (Kellett and Caravani, 2013: 35). Yet the Philippines, especially in terms of specialised capacity, can still benefit from further support from the international community. So what would an idea scenario look like?

Firstly, a blank slate is imagined, devoid of the current financial, institutional and political constraints. If we were to create an international aid system starting from scratch, the likelihood is that it would look quite different from what

¹² The authors are not implying that conflict analysis is synonymous with contingency planning, but found evidence that contingency planning can be used as a means for elements of conflict analysis to take place.
	Niger	Dimerent conceptions of emergency preparedness. Myanmar Emergency preparedness and DRR used interchangeably. Sudan	Limited articulation of risk, linked to limited incentives.	Philippines Agencies unsure who	Sudan No UN focal point for emergency preparedness.		Myanmar Project-based approach. Haiti Recognition of risk has not led to vision or plan. Sudan Emergency preparedness is by individual agencies, not consolidated.	
	Failure to articulate a vision of emergency preparedness in part because of a lack of a shared understanding						No combined plan of action: plans do not coordinate action across different actors or sectors	
Country funding for emergency preparedness not based on a global prioritisation of need		MULTI-HAZARD RISK ASSESSMENTS	NITORING ew of impact ASSESSMENT OF EXISTING	INTER	ACTIONS DECIDED • Activities designed • Roles and responsibilities allocated • Plans made		ACTIONS FINANCED • Evaluating the cost • Developing the business case • Fundraising	
No existing mechanism or channel of financing emergency prepared- ness is based solely on a global		Piecemeal assessment of risk	MONITORING Failure to learn • Review of impo	• Adjus	IWI	ſ	Funding available in-country does not adequately match needs	
Z ò č ă	2	Sudan Risk assessments largely by individual agencies, not consolidated. Myanmar Agencies assess risk in their own		Niger Still lack of progress on integrating risks beyond food security into	droughts and population movement. Budan/Myanmar Lack of action on conflict prepared- ness destrite prevalance		Philippines Mechanisms available for emergency preparedness cannot fund the range of activities needed. Niger Very few donors resident that have funded risk. Sudan The dominant humanitarian focus crowds out emergency preparedness.	

Figure 2.3: The ideal scenario

Comprehensiveness	Are funding decisions based on a detailed understanding of all risks?					
Comprehensiveness	Are funding decisions based on a global assessment of priority countries?					
Long-term plans of	Are funding decisions for emergency preparedness based on a common plan of action with defined roles and responsibilities?					
action and comparative advantage	Is funding available to a range of necessary actors?					
	Is the timeframe for emergency preparedness funding proportional to needs?					
National actors and	Does funding for emergency preparedness align with government plans and national stakeholder priorities?					
processes	Do preparedness measures target a range of requirements at community, sub-regional and national levels?					
Strong donorship	Does the mechanism have strong monitoring and evaluation component for transparent, accountable tracking in investment, as well as for learning?					
	Can the fund receive funds from a range of sources?					
Feasibility	Is there sufficient political support behind the inclusion (or expansion) of emergency preparedness in the fund?					
Administration	To what extent are there administration costs in expanding work in emergency preparedness?					
Visibility	Does the mechanism have a sufficient enough profile to raise the importance of preparedness and drive the agenda forward?					

Table 2.3: Framework of questions

we see today, unconstrained by politicised historical ties and the gradual evolution of sectoral siloes across linked phenomena (such as natural hazard and man-made disasters with conflict and fragility). Figure 2.3 represents these tensions and challenges, faced in practice as evidenced in the case studies.

Secondly, drawing on the evidence from the five country case studies, the research team has generated a set of questions that represent the necessary criteria for enabling effective financing for emergency preparedness (Table 2.3). These questions highlight a wide range of critical issues that must be considered in order to determine what is required to improve the financing of emergency preparedness.

Sections 3 and 4 examine first the international architecture of funding mechanisms for emergency preparedness, then the practical lessons drawn from the country case studies (from which the framework of questions derives).

3. Emergency preparedness in context the architecture

3. Emergency preparedness in context: the architecture

Key messages

- Humanitarian mechanisms (the CERF, CAP, CHFs and ERFs) have all funded elements of emergency preparedness, sometimes despite their limited mandates.
- Risk-focused mechanisms (GFDRR and CPR TTF) and adaptation mechanisms (PPCR, LDCF and Adaptation Fund) have also all funded emergency preparedness, but always within the limitations of their mandates.
- Estimating precise levels of emergency preparedness financing across every mechanism and tool examined is challenging, because preparedness is often not coded separately and can be subsumed into broader programmes of action, or data is not openly accessible.
- None of the mechanisms examined adequately finances emergency preparedness across the 'preparedness continuum', and few have the necessary geographical reach to address priorities globally

3.1 Introducing the financing architecture

In this section we examine the main international financing mechanisms in detail, dividing them into three broad categories: humanitarian, risk-related and climate finance. After introducing each, we explore the range of contexts in which these mechanisms do (or do not fund) emergency preparedness. We highlight the policy guidelines of the funds, which lead to the particular funding choices made. Where possible, the way in which the various mechanisms fund different countries across different preparedness activities is examined.

Figure 3.1, which is intentionally illustrative, indicates broad trends in the kinds of emergency preparedness activities that each of the main financing tools/ mechanisms supports, using consolidated evidence from the five country case studies (see Figure 2.2). As the individual country figures (Figure 4.1 – Figure 4.5) demonstrate, in practice the combination of tools and mechanisms actually present in each country differs greatly. At first glance, the figures may imply that preparedness is adequately supported by various mechanisms. In reality, not all mechanisms are present in every country, leaving gaps in the availability of funding for preparedness. Moreover, not all mechanisms willingly support emergency preparedness, and those that do may support only specific sectors or types of preparedness interventions, leaving gaps in the system. Box 3.1 provides a brief outline of the main international public financing tools and mechanisms discussed throughout this report. These are abridged summaries of the mechanisms' own descriptions of their roles and remits.¹³

13 Further information can be found on their individual websites.



Figure 3.1: Mapping the core funding tools/mechanisms for emergency preparedness

Box 3.1: The core international funding tools and mechanisms

Humanitarian mechanisms

Central Emergency Response Fund (CERF): A humanitarian fund set up by the UN General Assembly in 2006 to enable more timely and reliable humanitarian assistance. The CERF's objectives are to promote early action and response to reduce loss of life, enhance response to time-critical requirements and strengthen core elements of humanitarian response in underfunded crises. The CERF has a grant facility of \$450 million and a loan facility of \$30 million; the former has two windows, one for rapid response and one for underfunded emergencies. In 2012, 49 countries received CERF funding; in 2013 the figure is 43 countries.

Emergency Response Funds (ERFs): Established in 20 countries since 1997, ERFs provide NGOs and UN agencies with rapid and flexible funding to address critical gaps in humanitarian emergencies. ERFs, also known as Humanitarian Response Funds (HRFs) in some countries, are usually established to meet unforeseen needs not included in the CAP or similar concerted humanitarian action plans. ERFs predominantly fund NGOs and actively support local NGO capacity-building. They are usually relatively small, disbursing less than \$10 million in total per year, and provide small to medium-sized grants.

Common Humanitarian Funds (CHFs): Country-

based pooled funds that provide early and predictable funding to NGOs and UN agencies for their responses to critical humanitarian needs. CHFs look ahead to future humanitarian needs and fund priority life-saving projects identified in a CAP or similar humanitarian action plan. They are currently present in five countries with ongoing, large humanitarian operations: Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), Somalia, South Sudan, Sudan and the Central African Republic.

Consolidated Appeal Process (CAP): From 2014, the CAP is being replaced with the Strategic Response Plan (see Box 3.2), but is assessed in this report on its historical role as one of the principal international funding mechanisms. The CAP was not a pooled financing mechanism but a programme cycle for aid organisations to plan, coordinate, fund and implement humanitarian response; partners across the humanitarian spectrum drew up a Common Humanitarian Action Plan (CHAP) and an appeal for funds. Consolidated appeals presented a snapshot of humanitarian situations, resource requirements and response plans for the year ahead. In 2012 there were consolidated appeals in 20 countries.

Risk-focused financing mechanisms

Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery (GFDRR): GFDRR's mission is to assist developing countries to reduce their vulnerability to natural hazards by mainstreaming DRR and climate change adaptation (CCA). Based within the World Bank, it provides grants and technical assistance to leverage larger investments in disaster risk management (DRM). GFDRR structures its work along five 'thematic pillars': risk identification, risk reduction, preparedness, financial protection and resilient reconstruction. It has funded activities in 49 countries to date.

UNDP Crisis Prevention and Recovery Thematic

Trust Fund (UNDP CPR TTF): Established in 2001, the CPR TTF is managed by the Bureau of Crisis Prevention and Recovery (BCPR) at UNDP. The fund was designed as a 'fast flexible funding mechanism ... to respond effectively to crisis prevention and recovery needs'. It allows for un-earmarked/flexible, thematically earmarked and country-earmarked financing of crisis-related issues. The CPR TTF's broad themes include conflict prevention and recovery, DRR, early recovery, gender equality and women's empowerment in crisis, and policy and programme support.

Climate adaptation financing

Adaptation Fund: The Adaptation Fund has the overall objective of reducing vulnerability and increasing adaptive capacity to respond to the impacts of climate change. It operates in countries that are parties to the Kyoto Protocol and are particularly vulnerable to adverse effects of climate change. It has funded projects in 28 countries to date.

Least Developed Countries Fund (LDCF): Established under the Climate Convention, the LDCF is managed by the Global Environmental Facility (GEF). It is designed to meet the needs of least developed countries (LDCs) by financing the preparation and implementation of National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPAs), the roadmap for a country's priority actions on adaptation. The LDCF focuses on sectors that are central to development and livelihoods. Up to June 2013, it had operated in 50 countries.

Pilot Program for Climate Resilience (PPCR): The PPCR is a targeted programme of the Strategic Climate Fund (SCF), one of two funds within the framework of the

Climate Investment Funds (CIFs).¹⁴ The PPCR is aimed at jumpstarting 'climate-smart' development, by piloting and demonstrating ways to integrate climate risk and resilience into planning. Nine countries and two regions have been selected for this pilot programme.

Bilateral donors

In addition to the core mechanisms described, donors have direct routes for funding projects in recipient countries. As these are contextually specific, the case studies best describe how donors finance emergency preparedness directly in a specific country. Illustrative examples are provided throughout this report, and we have delineated this where possible by highlighting how donors fund directly through both their humanitarian and development financing streams. (Note that although we consider the importance of donor funding throughout this report, we do not, in this section, consider the way that financing for preparedness operates globally; the complexity and diversity of donor approaches prohibits this. However, we do analyse this within each of the case study countries (see Section 4).)

3.2 Humanitarian mechanisms/tools

Central Emergency Response Fund

The CERF is the humanitarian financing instrument with the most clearly defined role and limits. Established in 2006 to 'enable more timely and reliable humanitarian assistance to those affected by natural disasters and armed conflicts'

(OCHA, 2012b), it works through two 'windows', the Rapid Response Window (RRW) and Under Funded Emergencies (UFE) Window, each with separate guidance for applying agencies and allocation. The CERF, with its global reach, is the only one of the humanitarian instruments examined here that can operate in countries with no standing OCHA presence. Whether through the RRW or UFE, the CERF's 'Life-Saving Criteria' apply, requiring applicants to demonstrate a direct life-saving application for all projects. The stance on preparedness is very clear, it being one of the issues not included as eligible for support (OCHA, 2011a: 1):

While the CERF does not fund preparedness, the Secretariat is closely following the debate, which is currently on-going within the humanitarian financing sphere aimed at enhancing sources of funding for the preparedness activities. Regardless of the direction

¹⁴ The CIF comprises the Clean Technology Fund (CTF) and the Strategic Climate Fund (SCF). The PPCR sits under the SCF, along with two other financing windows, the Forest Investment Programme (FIP) and the Program for Scaling-Up Renewable Energy in Low Income Countries (SREP). Both the CTF and the SREP finance low-carbon clean technology and development. The FIP supports developing country efforts to reduce deforestation and forest degradation and promotes sustainable forest management that leads to reductions in emissions and enhancement of forest carbon stocks (REDD+).

Table 3.1: CERF contributions to a range of countries with identifiable elementsof emergency preparedness (2012)

Country	Total CERF contribution ¹⁵	Projects with likely emergency preparedness components
Nepal	\$4,997,385	 Trained water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH), nutrition and health cluster members on humanitarian preparedness and response.
		 WHO and Ministry of Health and Population (MoHP): procured stockpiles; strengthened early warning and reporting systems; improved early diagnosis of health-, nutrition- and WASH-related ailments.
		 Agriculture: improved food security and long-term resilience.
Djibouti	\$4,019,325	Hygiene promotion campaigning.
		 Meeting of WASH cluster to improve overall coordination and emergency preparedness.
Afghanistan	\$9,995,396	 Protection cluster engaged village leaders in community-based preparedness activities.
Chad	\$14,781,195	 WASH cluster increased hygiene and sanitation sensitisation through radio messages during a cholera epidemic.
		 Training for communities and heads of health centres.
		 249 community workers trained in cholera prevention.
Niger	\$24,069,716	• WASH project provided treatment and disinfection of water sources in households at risk of cholera contamination in order to prevent a future outbreak.
Philippines	\$13,010,727	• Livelihood support reduced vulnerability and strengthened resilience to shocks.
Sudan \$20,158,449 • Warehouse space to accommodate and expand suppli- preparedness.		 Warehouse space to accommodate and expand supplies as part of emergency preparedness.
South Sudan	\$40,044,091	• WASH project: hygiene promotion messages focused on effective water treatment and storage.
		 Multi-sector project increased water supply; curbed the spread of water-borne diseases; preparedness for potential acute watery diarrhoea (AWD)/cholera outbreak.
Zimbabwe	\$2,006,304	 Rapid health assessment on preparedness and response capacity in two districts. 60 schools, 21 clinics and their communities were reached with WASH facilities and hygiene promotion messages.

of the discussion, and notwithstanding the usefulness of preparedness activities in the management of humanitarian crisis, the Secretariat remains convinced that preparedness should not be considered, at this stage, within the CERF Life-Saving Criteria, as it is not part of CERF mandate and alternative sources of funding should be pursued.'

Notwithstanding the CERF guidance, a narrow range of preparedness activities has been funded. In keeping with other humanitarian instruments, these tend to be focused on community-level activities (notably training for health workers and hygiene promotion), stockpiling and warehousing (Taylor and Couture, 2014 forthcoming). Total preparedness financing is a challenge to track, but activities outlined in project documentation suggest that of 22 CERF allocations in 2012, activities in nine countries included elements of preparedness (ibid.).

Emergency Response Funds

Emergency Response Funds have been the least 'regulated' of the humanitarian funds to date (Taylor and

15 Of which emergency preparedness activities are a part, though the specific values cannot be extracted without further analysis.

Couture, 2014 forthcoming). Unlike CHFs, which are acknowledged as requiring a critical mass of funding, management and advisory capacity and a CAP or similar appeal, ERFs have been created in a range of different ways in a range of different contexts. The initiative to set up an ERF can come from a Humanitarian Coordinator (HC) looking for a mechanism through which to fund under-served priorities or from a prominent donor looking to create a useful disbursement channel in the aftermath of a crisis. ERFs vary greatly in terms of scale; many of the smaller funds are seen as having insufficient management capacity¹⁶ and a narrow donor base.¹⁷

The Ethiopia Humanitarian Response Fund (HRF) is an outlier, generally described as a 'hybrid' financing instrument, having many of the attributes of a CHF (scale, well-developed allocation and disbursement procedures, and a strong advisory board). The stance of the Ethiopian government and its reluctance to see a standing humanitarian appeal (CAP or similar) established mean that the HRF is likely to remain. In keeping with ERFs, the Ethiopia Fund is characterised as an ERF on the basis of what it lacks (a jointly constructed CAP or similar appeal, and fixed or standard allocation rounds).

There are examples of ERFs being used to fund preparedness activities. As a rule, however, these activities are not prioritised and constitute a relatively small proportion of what are small volumes to begin with. Context plays a significant part in the extent to which preparedness is funded in ERFs, but more significant factors appear to be the nature of the funds and the amount of funding available. Where emergency preparedness is included, activities are largely at the community level, and do not address legislation, national standards, international and regional agreements, resource allocation, coordination or information management systems.

Funding levels for emergency preparedness (as a proportion of overall expenditure) are low: for the 10 countries that released annual reports in 2012, a total of \$51.1 million was received. Of this, only \$2.3 million is estimated to have been spent on emergency preparedness.

Common Humanitarian Funds

There is no single document that puts forward a policy stance on the relationship of CHFs with emergency preparedness. At the country level, guidance is not standard and individual guidelines tend not to address preparedness directly. The specific rules of each fund are therefore of prime importance. In Somalia, for example, guidelines for standard allocations make no reference to preparedness funding (OCHA, 2012c). For the emergency reserve of this particular fund (approximately 20% retained annually for unforeseen emergencies), funding for preparedness is specifically excluded.

All CHFs operate within CAPs or similar appeal frameworks and CAPs define (or should define) priorities within a country context. The majority of CHFs make two standard allocations per year, theoretically taking a snapshot of current priorities at the time of each allocation. Although allocation processes vary slightly by country, most rely heavily on clusters to bring together partners and refine priorities, on a part-consensual, part-competitive basis.

A lack of disaggregated data within a CHF contribution to its respective CAP makes tracking of emergency preparedness very challenging. The 2012 annual reports suggest that a limited range of activities within the preparedness matrix are funded from CHFs. As with the ERFs, attention is predominantly to contingency/preparedness and response planning (including community preparedness); training exercises (specific to each context); emergency services/ standby arrangements and pre-positioning (predominantly through stockpiling); and information management and communication systems.

Suggested volumes of emergency preparedness in each country, as indicated in the 2012 reports, are as follows: Central African Republic, \$1.8 million (maximum); Somalia, \$3 million (estimate); South Sudan, no figure, although three clusters report some preparedness activities; Sudan, no clear data; DRC, no clear data.

However, the largest allocation (under the 'multi-sectoral' category) was the provision of \$13.5 million to UNICEF's Rapid Response to the Movement of Populations (RRMP) project in Eastern DRC. In recognition of the highly volatile security context in the east of the country, the RRMP pre-positions implementing partners, financial resources and supplies to enable a rapid humanitarian response to population movements (either displacements or returns) after assessments by partners. It provides emergency education services to the most affected communities (JPFU, 2012: 11). Listed as a response project, the RRMP is also an example of a clearly targeted preparedness mechanism.¹⁸

Consolidated Appeal Process

The CAP is not a pooled financing mechanism. It is a tool to bring aid agencies together to jointly plan, coordinate, implement and monitor response to natural disasters and

¹⁶ In reference to Indonesia: 'Like many ERF/HRF mechanisms the level of staff available is inadequate to meet the extent of the expectations that are involved' (OCHA, 2013a: 6).

¹⁷ In reference to Colombia: 'ERF Colombia was initially supported by Norway, Sweden and Spain. These three donors continue to be its greatest supporters. While only one new donor (San Marino) has been identified in the short term, OCHA has expressed its desire to increase donorship and double the amount of the Fund' (ibid.: 9).

complex emergencies. However, given the importance of the CAP in preparing costed projects and appealing for the funding of these projects, it is included in our analysis of the options of improved financing for emergency preparedness. For most complex emergencies, an annual appeal is launched at the end of each year, covering the humanitarian needs of the coming year, based upon the CHAP, which provides a foundation of common analysis, needs assessment, scenario planning, etc.¹⁹

CAPs have shown flexibility in adapting to humanitarian trends, and many of them address preparedness in elements or as a theme. CAP guidelines include predisaster planning, which in turn includes crisis monitoring and preparation for emergency relief management as a potential area of focus. Furthermore, guidelines include assessments to determine the scope of the emergency or potential emergencies. Based on the scope of the activities listed in the mid-year reviews, the most recent CAPs seem to be effective at fulfilling these guidelines. CAPs contain a somewhat broader range of emergency preparedness activities across the matrix than many individual instruments. These have included early warning and hazard risk analysis, legislative frameworks, interagency coordination, contingency/preparedness and response planning (including community preparedness), training opportunities and stockpiling/pre-positioning.

Preparedness components most frequently referenced by country reviews were contingency preparedness and response planning, capacity-building (including training opportunities) and stockpiling/pre-positioning, including vaccinations and immunisations. In 2012 seven countries reported preparedness activities attributed to contingency/ preparedness and response planning. The categories for training opportunities and stockpiling/pre-positioning were both evident in five countries.

Most preparedness financing articulated by the CAP is, however, difficult to disaggregate. In most cases it is only possible to track preparedness through specific references to CAP documents and reports – however, the diversity of emergency preparedness activities and their reach across different contexts are very important. For example, Sudan's 2012 CAP (OCHA, 2012d) had a specific section on preparedness, with a clear requirement of \$13.2 million. In other examples from 2012 CAP documents:

- In Afghanistan, the CAP included flood preparedness workshops, pre-positioning of health supplies and the establishment of emergency health teams. It also contributed to the establishment of a National Contingency Plan and inter-agency contingency plans for conflict, floods, landslides and earthquakes.
- In Djibouti, the CAP gave support to the WASH cluster for planning in emergency preparedness and response.

- In Chad, the CAP helped to develop local support through contingency plans for natural disasters and, in the health sector, supported the procurement of 22 cholera kits to be provided to high-risk health districts.
- In Kenya, 80% of projects funded via the CAP incorporated early recovery and DRR components (OCHA, 2012e: 26). These included rain assessments for food security, the drafting of a law for DRM and the training of government staff in every county.
- In South Sudan, the CAP included a significant amount of preparedness. This included the pre-positioning of supplies in regions likely to be cut off by rains/flooding and a revision of the South Sudan Humanitarian Contingency Plan to ensure that preparedness plans addressed potential fall-out from border conflict with Sudan.
- In Somalia, the CAP had a significant emphasis on preparedness, including AWD, cholera prevention and preparedness in high-risk areas; training in disaster preparedness of 1,500 teachers and facilitators; training in DRR for 300 community education committees; and contingency plans for 12 distracts, including the provision of early warning action systems.

BOX 3.2: FROM CONSOLIDATED APPEAL PROCESS TO THE STRATEGIC RESPONSE PLAN

During the finalisation of this report, new guidance was released by the IASC that replaced the CAP with the Strategic Response Plan (SRP). Effective from 2014, SRPs replace the preparation and publication of the traditional CAP document. They are designed to be similar to the CAP, with many existing features retained or enhanced. Key elements include a Humanitarian Needs Overview, Country Strategy and Cluster Plans.

Note that, for the purposes of this report, the CAP is referred to throughout until the recommendations section, when the latest guidance on Strategic Response Plans is used.

¹⁸ While clearly fitting within the preparedness matrix, it is again worth noting that this is preparedness in a very narrow sense – preparedness for the international system to respond with a narrow range of activities and a limited geographical area against a clearly specified, and very predictable, set of risks. This makes it similar to the Sudan referendum project described earlier.

¹⁹ In addition to consolidated appeals, the UN also coordinated the preparation of flash appeals, to provide rapid funding for three to six months after a crisis. There was just one of these in 2012, for food insecurity in Lesotho. For the purposes of this report, flash appeals are largely irrelevant for emergency preparedness; the focus is therefore on consolidated appeals. However in Section 4 of the report where we analyse financing across a range of countries, we include flash appeals where appropriate, as elements of the overall funding context.

- The CAP in the Occupied Palestinian Territories (OPT) included the training of community members and health providers in emergency preparedness and the strengthening of WASH cluster partners' capacity for preparedness.
- In Yemen, funding via the CAP was allocated to contingency plans at national level and within conflict areas, leading to new programming, sectoral preparedness and response plans and stockpiling of critical supplies.
- In Zimbabwe, the WASH sector reported \$5.5 million for 'emergency preparedness and response', including assessment of typhoid risk factors and outbreak preparedness. The protection cluster focused on thematic preparedness/contingency plans; early warning indicators; training in DRR; and district-level DRR workshops.

3.3 Risk-related mechanisms

UNDP Thematic Trust Fund for Crisis Prevention and Recovery

Managed by the Bureau for Crisis Prevention and Recovery (BCPR) within UNDP, the CPR TTF has a broad remit in preventing and recovering from crisis, focusing largely on a group of priority countries agreed in advance of the upcoming year (Vaux, 2014b forthcoming). Emergency preparedness features across a wide range of initiatives within reports from the CPR TTF, including in areas of DRR, conflict prevention and early recovery (ibid.). Where the CPR TTF funds emergency preparedness activities, they are often bound up with these 'larger' areas and rarely articulated as separate projects. Interestingly, this was not so typical in the early years of CPR TTF funding, where financing was often granted for stand-alone projects specifically for disaster preparedness.²⁰ Most of the funds are utilised directly by UNDP country offices, but they could be more widely used with appropriate strengthening of policy and guidelines.

The geographic range of the CPR TTF is almost unlimited (ibid.). It is a global fund without restriction beyond UNDP's own focus and mandate, and CPR TTF funding has been used across a diverse group of conflict- and disaster-affected countries. The top 15 countries by expenditure in 2011 were (in decreasing order) the

OPT, Haiti, DRC, Somalia, Pakistan, Liberia, Sri Lanka, Nepal, Chad, Sudan, Niger, Timor-Leste, Yemen, Côte d'Ivoire and Lebanon.²¹ The CPR TTF covers a wide range of countries: the 2011 report states that UNDP helped 59 governments to establish comprehensive DRR programmes. Activity may continue over long periods (five years plus) but may be supported by different funding sources during that time. The CPR TTF typically helps in the early stages after a crisis, wherein UNDP may then seek to attract longer-term funding from donors.

Despite the availability of overall data on recipient volumes, disaggregation of emergency preparedness is not possible with openly accessible material. This is in part due to the integration of preparedness into larger initiatives, as already mentioned. For example, although there is breakdown by 'window' for 2011, it only captures broad overall funding (Table 3.2).

Table 3.2: Expenditures of the UNDP CPR TTF, 2011

CPR TTF window	Expenditure (\$ millions)
Conflict prevention and recovery	63.8
Disaster risk reduction and recovery	13.4
Early recovery	21.7
Gender equality	5.5
Policy and programme support	7.0
Total	111.3322

Source: UNDP BCPR Annual Report 2011, current prices (UNDP, 2012)

Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery (GFDRR)

Established in 2006, GFDRR is a partnership of 41 countries and eight international organisations committed to helping developing countries reduce their vulnerability to natural hazards and adapt to climate change. It works to mainstream DRR and CCA into country development strategies by supporting country-led and managed implementation of the HFA (Hill, 2014 forthcoming).

GFDRR is responsible for allocating funds entrusted to it in line with geographic and thematic priorities set by its donors and partners. In any given country, it adopts a number of criteria to help in allocating resources, including established vulnerability indicators; past evaluation of impact; the political context (including existing relations

²⁰ Discussion with senior BCPR staff member, 10 September 2013.

²¹ The list of top countries changes rapidly, often to reflect most urgent recovery contexts; Haiti was the biggest recipient in 2009 and 2010.

²² Excluding core funds allocated by UNDP to crisis, termed 'targeted resources at the Core' or more usually within UNDP, TRAC 1.1.3 funds. This is set at 7.2% of UNDP's core programme resources, intended for crisis, both conflict- and disaster-related.

with governments); and donor priorities. There are also criteria for determining in which country funding is granted. To date it has funded activities in 49 disaster-prone countries, selected through its eligibility criteria (risk and vulnerability indicators with consideration of geographical representation) (GFDRR, 2013a).

GFDRR has prepared comprehensive programmes of support in DRM for 20 priority countries,²³ 11 donorearmarked countries (GFDRR, 2009) and the African-Caribbean-Pacific European Union (ACP-EU) programme countries (GFDRR, 2012a). Core priority countries are financed primarily through the multi-donor trust fund; non-core countries that are earmarked by specific donors are financed primarily through three single-donor trust funds (Australia, Spain and Japan); and other countries are financed with flexible funds or special initiatives (such as the ACP-EU programme) (GFDRR, 2012b). Currently 70% of funding is invested in priority countries, with the remaining 30% used flexibly across all countries. In financial year 2012, GFDRR approved 22 projects worth \$20.3 million and disbursed a total of \$27.5 million through its trust fund to support the

23 At its fifth meeting in Copenhagen (2008), the GFDRR Consultative Group asked the secretariat to focus on priority countries to increase impact. This led to a prioritisation of operations in 20 core countries: Burkina Faso, Djibouti, Ethiopia, Ghana, Haiti, Indonesia, Kyrgyz Republic, Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Marshall Islands, Mozambique, Nepal, Panama, Papua New Guinea, Senegal, Solomon islands, Togo, Vietnam and Republic of Yemen. The countries were selected due to their high vulnerability to natural hazards and low economic resilience to cope with disaster impacts, including anticipated climate change and variability. Two thirds are least developed countries (LDCs) and 12 are highly indebted poor countries; nine are in Africa and several others are small island states at high risk. These 20 countries will receive 80% of available funds, while 20% will be made available for flexible, high-impact grants, such as those that catalyse increased investment programmes and integration of DRR and CCA in any disaster-prone country.

Table 3.3: GFDRR-funded emergency preparedness interventions

Project description	Country	Estimated emergency preparedness value	Activities	GFDRR pillar
Technical and advisory support to 'Managing Natural Hazards', which includes forecasting and early warning. Community-based preparedness, targeting 6,000 most vulnerable communities.	Vietnam	Unknown	Hazard/risk analysis and early warning Contingency/ preparedness and response planning	Risk identification, preparedness
Support establishment of early warning system (EWS), technical support and capacity development.	Lesotho	\$0.5 million	and early warning ident	Risk identification, preparedness
Support establishment of information management system across institutions.			legislative frameworks	
Support preparedness and response capacity. Priorities include local contingency and emergency preparedness plans; linking plans to early warning; community-based preparedness, including drills and simulation exercises.	Burkina Faso	No data	Contingency/ preparedness and response planning Training and exercises	Risk Identification, preparedness
Develop a weather-based index for triggering emergency financing (LEAP) to strengthen the Productive Safety Net Programme.	Ethiopia	\$0.7 million	Hazard/risk analysis Information management systems Funding mechanisms	Preparedness
Improve preparedness by modernising the evacuation shelter network and engaging communities in mapping and emergency planning.	Haiti	\$0.2 million	Contingency and preparedness Emergency services/ standby arrangements	Risk identification, preparedness, risk reduction
Master Plan for Flood Management in Metro Manila, identifying investments to protect residents from floods with up to a 100-year return period.	Philippines	\$1.65 million	Hazard/risk analysis Institutional frameworks	Risk identification, risk reduction

Source: (Hill, 2014 forthcoming)

integration of DRM in development, providing targeted grant financing, knowledge products and technical assistance to disaster-prone countries (GFDRR, 2012a). Implementation is largely by the World Bank and by national governments.

GFDRR structures its work through five pillars: risk identification, risk reduction, preparedness, financial protection and resilient reconstruction. Of these, the preparedness pillar is clearly relevant for this exercise, as are almost all of the elements of the 'risk identification' package ('understanding hazards, exposure and vulnerability') (GFDRR, 2013b). There are clear examples of financing for emergency preparedness, although costs are often unknown, usually due to a lack of disaggregated data. Some of the accessible examples, which represent a selection rather than a comprehensive list, are indicated in Table 3.3.

The latest strategy and workplan of GFDRR has increased the prominence of preparedness, with a commitment to strengthen 'national and local agencies and civil society organisations (CSOs) in a minimum of 23 partner countries ... to provide better early warning and response more effectively when disasters occur' (GFDRR, 2013b: 23).²⁴ The mechanism does not appear to fund outside of its mandate or areas of specialisation. It funds the largely development-based aspects of preparedness and does not fund preparedness for conflict.²⁵

3.4 Climate finance mechanisms

- 24 It is worth noting that a reported strength of GFDRR is its ability to leverage funds from wider resources available within the World Bank. One example is its work in hydromet services, where it has managed to leverage further funds from PPCR and from both the International Development Association (IDA) and International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), amongst others (GFDRR unpublished note, 2013).
- 25 Note that this does not equate to 'not funding for countries in conflict'. While GFDRR's focus is on DRM, some of its priority countries (such as Pakistan and Yemen) are affected by conflict.
- 26 A concrete adaptation project is defined as a set of activities aimed at addressing the adverse impacts of and risks posed by climate change. The activities should aim to produce visible and tangible results on the ground by reducing vulnerability and increasing the adaptive capacity of human and natural systems to respond to the impacts of climate change, including climate variability (Adaptation Fund Board, 2010).
- 27 The fourth one is generic: 'Starting to implement adaptation activities promptly where sufficient information is available to warrant such activities, inter alia, in the areas of water resources management, land management, agriculture, health, infrastructure development, fragile ecosystems, including mountainous ecosystems, and integrated coastal zone management' (UNFCCC, 2001).
- 28 In the vast majority of countries where the Adaptation Fund has financed emergency preparedness, it has been in the form of EWS. These include: Argentina, the Cook Islands, Ecuador, Eritrea, Georgia, Lebanon, Madagascar, Mauritius, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea, Sri Lanka and Uruguay. In Colombia, the Fund has financed EWS and risk analysis, and in Honduras and Tanzania risk analysis alone.
- 29 This figure reflects the 100% allocated to projects with emergency preparedness activities (17 projects). It does not represent the amount for specific activities.

Adaptation Fund

The Adaptation Fund was established with the overall objective of 'reducing vulnerability and increase[ing] adaptive capacity to respond to the impacts of climate change, including variability at the local and national levels' (Adaptation Fund Board, 2010: 2). This is done through financing the total costs (as opposed to only incremental or additional adaptation costs) of climate change adaptation projects and programmes.²⁶ Of the indicative set of four activities to be supported by the Adaptation Fund since its establishment in 2001 (UNFCCC, 2001), three are aligned to emergency preparedness: hazard and risk analysis and early warning, particularly around vector diseases affected by climate change; institutional and legislative frameworks for integrating climate risks, particularly to extreme weather events; and information and management communication for information networks at national and regional levels and contingency/preparedness planning for extreme weather events.²⁷ This preliminary list of 'fundable' adaptation activities was established under the Marrakesh Accords in 2001, as a guide for adaptation projects that could be approved under any of the mechanisms of the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). The list also reveals how the relationship between resilience and preparedness has been established since the early stages of the adaptation finance debate.

From a preliminary review of the 28 projects approved by the Adaptation Fund, 17 (61%) include at least one emergency preparedness activity in their climate change adaptation objectives.28 The total approved budget for all projects was \$184 million, of which projects including emergency preparedness activities represent \$113 million.²⁹ Understanding the total value of emergency preparedness is challenged by the lack of disaggregation of activities within the \$113 million worth of projects. Of this group, 16 projects are receiving financial support for the establishment of early warning systems (EWS), mainly for climate-related hazards such as droughts and floods (including coastal, inland and glacial types). Seven of the projects also include the improvement of the country's hydro-meteorological network, at both national and sub-national levels, and in all cases they are linked to the establishment or expansion of EWS. Four also include preparedness planning activities at the community level, mainly for the identification and participatory monitoring of local-level hazards. Although adaptation normally requires the establishment of, or specific support to, national planning and institutional frameworks, there was no strong indication that such processes included emergency preparedness, and so no support for coordination activities was identified. Finally, no specific preparedness training exercises or emergency services were evident in descriptions of the projects.

Least Developed Countries Fund (LDCF)

The LDCF is a multilateral fund under the UNFCCC, established in 2001 to respond to the adaptation needs of least developed countries (Caravani and Nakhooda, 2014 forthcoming). It focuses on reducing the vulnerability of sectors and resources that are central to development and livelihoods, such as 'water; agriculture and food security; health; disaster risk management and prevention; infrastructure; and fragile ecosystems' (ibid.). Key limitations of the LDCF in terms of emergency preparedness are therefore relatively self-evident: funding goes only to LDCs; it is limited to natural hazards (i.e. not conflict); and within those natural hazards its focus is on climate risks (UN FCCC, 2009). That said, there is evidence of financing for emergency preparedness. Since the Fund's inception in 2001, 148 projects have been created, of which 33 have included preparedness activities. These account for \$150 million of the total LDCF allocation (Caravani and Nakhooda, 2014 forthcoming). A further 81 projects have emergency preparedness as a secondary or supporting activity (equivalent to \$156.1 million). Fifteen of the 33 projects that include emergency preparedness matrix: 23 include EWS from the local to the national levels, while 10 projects cover hazard and risk analysis. These components are also complemented by information and communication systems, and community preparedness (ibid.) – Table 3.4.

Table 3.4: Recipients of emergencypreparedness financing though the LDCF,2001-201230

Recipient country	Approved amount (\$ millions) for emergency preparedness activities
Bhutan	14.94
Burundi	11.80
Afghanistan	9.10
Gambia	8.93
Zambia	8.35
Angola	8.35
Samoa	6.35
Nepal	6.30
Sudan	5.70
Lao PDR	4.70
Timor-Leste	4.60
Maldives	4.25
Tuvalu	4.20
Benin	4.00
Burkina Faso	4.00
Ethiopia	4.00
Malawi	4.00
São Tomé and Príncipe	4.00
Sierra Leone	4.00
Tanzania	4.00
Uganda	4.00
Rwanda	3.16
Kiribati	3.00
Liberia	2.90
Haiti	2.73
Vanuatu	2.58
Lesotho	1.60

BOX 3.3: MALAWI'S NAPA

Malawi's National Adaptation Programme of Action (NAPA) provides a useful example of the importance of emergency preparedness activities related to the LDCF. During its development, 31 adaptation options from eight sectors were identified to address urgent adaptation needs, with an emphasis on vulnerable rural communities. The 31 options were ranked using a multicriteria analysis, and a shortlist of 15 priority adaptation options was developed. These were further ranked and prioritised to produce a list of five top-priority actions:

- improving community resilience to climate change through the development of sustainable rural livelihoods
- restoring forests in the catchments of the Upper and Lower Shire Valleys to reduce silting and associated water flow problems
- improving agricultural production under erratic rains and changing climatic conditions
- improving Malawi's preparedness to cope with droughts and floods, and
- improving climate monitoring to enhance the country's early warning capability and decisionmaking.

Source: Caravani and Nakhooda (2013)

Source: Climate Funds Update, \$ millions, current (database searched in September 2013; see www.climatefundsupdate.org)

46

30 This list is derived from a detailed review of funding reports across the range of LDCF recipients.

One particularly interesting aspect of climate financing through the LDCF (and adaptation financing in general) is that funding appears to be more 'balanced' across different recipient countries, with far fewer differences in volume than for other financing, such as DRR. This indicates one of the strengths of global mechanisms in being able (at least theoretically) to view the landscape of need globally and to finance appropriately, rather than being driven by the demands of a single country context (see Kellett and Caravani, 2013: 18-20).

Pilot Program on Climate Resilience (PPCR)

The PPCR is a targeted programme of the Strategic Climate Fund (SCF), one of two funds within the framework of the Climate Investment Funds (CIFs). The financing window is aimed at jumpstarting 'climate-smart' development, by piloting and demonstrating ways to integrate climate risk and resilience into countries' core development planning. The PPCR supports funding for activities that address climate resilience, especially technical assistance to support its integration into national and sectoral development plans. The focus is on piloting projects that integrate climate risk and resilience into core development planning, while

Country	Project description	Type of finance	Amount approved (\$ millions)
Niger	Project for the improvement of climate forecasting systems and operationalisation of EWS	Grant and concessional loan	3.5
Cambodia	Climate risk management and rehabilitation of small- and medium-scale irrigation schemes in the Tonle Sap Basin	Project preparation grant	0.6
Cambodia	Enhancement of flood and drought management in Pursat Province	Grant and concessional loan	9.96
Dominica	ominica Disaster vulnerability reduction project Project preparation grant grant grant		0.24
Grenada	Disaster vulnerability and climate risk reduction project	Concessional loan	0.27
Jamaica	Improving climate data and information management	Grant	0.45
Mozambique	Climate resilience: transforming hydro-meteorological services	Grant	10
Nepal	Building resilience to climate-related hazards	Grant and concessional loan	31
Pacific region	Identifying and implementing practical climate change adaptation and related DRR knowledge and experience	Project preparation grant	0.32
Pacific region	Mainstreaming CCA and related DRR	Project preparation grant	0.13
St. Vincent and the Grenadines	Disaster vulnerability and climate risk reduction project	Grant/concessional loan	10
Tajikistan	Improvement of weather, climate and hydrological delivery project	Grant	7.2
Yemen	Climate information system and PPCR programme coordination	Project preparation grant	0.5
	Total to date		\$77.7

Table 3.5: Emergency preparedness activities identified within PPCR financing

Source: Hill, M. (2014 forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness and PPCR. (\$ millions, 2011 current prices)

complementing other ongoing activities of the CIFs, thus leading to increased awareness of the potential impact of climate change, improved coordination for climate resilience and scaled-up investment for broader investments (CIF, 2011). The overall goal of the fund is therefore to leverage additional financing from both national and international sources, which determines its available funding.

Nine countries and two regions were selected to participate in the pilot programme. Selection was based on a range of climate-related natural hazard types, levels of country vulnerability, country eligibility, country distribution, coherence with existing adaptation funding and value added, replicability, sustainability, scalability and development impact, and the potential to implement rapid results (CIF, 2011). The countries are Bangladesh, Bolivia, Cambodia, Mozambique, Nepal, Niger, Tajikistan, Yemen and Zambia. The Caribbean region comprises Grenada, Haiti, St. Vincent and the Grenadines and Saint Lucia; the Pacific region comprises Papua New Guinea, Samoa and Tonga (PPCR, 2013). Each country is able to receive investments of up to \$110 million.³¹

31 PPCR finance includes grant finance (up to \$1.5 million to prepare a country's Strategic Programme for Climate Resilience in phase one), preparation grants (estimated \$1.5 million for detailed preparation of activities in phase two), and finally both grants and concessional loans to finance the additional costs necessary to make a project climate-resilient.

NCY DISTINUTION POINT BISCUIT

4. How emergency preparedness is funded lessons from five country case studies

4. How emergency preparedness is funded: lessons from five country case studies

Key messages

- Financing for emergency preparedness is complicated, fragmented and piecemeal, especially the international contribution, with an array of separate institutions, mechanisms and approaches determining which parts of the preparedness continuum are funded, and in what ways.
- Despite significant challenges, national governments appear to have a much more rational and logical approach to financing for natural hazard-related preparedness.
- Case study evidence suggests that volumes of financing are considerably below requirements, except arguably in the case of the Philippines.
- Financing for emergency preparedness fails to target need or be respondent to risk. What financing exists mostly follows the fragmented nature of the existing financing architecture.
- Evidence suggests that the bulk of international funding where it is available is not concerned with building the long-term capacity of national systems of preparedness but is reinforcing a piecemeal and project-led approach.
- For national and international actors, emergency preparedness presents the specific budgetary challenge of assessing risk and dealing with uncertainty.
- The case studies reveal huge potential for growth in preparedness activities, given the increasing interest in disaster risk in general and its impact on sustainable economic development.

This section outlines the funding profile of each of the case study countries: the Philippines, Niger, Sudan, Myanmar and Haiti. The financing of emergency preparedness systems from national government resources is highlighted, before turning to the international architecture and its financing mechanisms. The analysis explores the key financing options described in Section 3: the humanitarian mechanisms (CERF, ERFs, CHFs, CAP), the risk-focused mechanisms (GFDRR and CPR TTF), the climate funds (Adaptation Fund, LDCF, PPCR) and finally bilateral donor funds (humanitarian and development). Other sources of emergency preparedness financing are then considered: country-specific mechanisms, core and multi-use funding, the Red Cross, multilateral banks and the private sector. The section ends with a summary of the current state of emergency preparedness financing, as evidenced by the case studies.

4.1 Mapping the funding sources: five country case studies

Emergency preparedness is not just a matter for the international community: a diverse range of actors in each country funds it formally and informally, knowingly and unknowingly. Evidence tells us that emergency preparedness may not be described as such in many cases; in Niger many international NGOs report undertaking emergency preparedness activities but rarely formulate them as being distinct from their humanitarian programming. This partly informs how funding for emergency preparedness activities originates from a variety of different sources. These range from global pooled funding mechanisms involving international donors and UN agencies through to national systems of preparedness involving small and medium-sized businesses taking initiatives to prepare for local-level risk, and NGOs using existing human resources to prioritise emergency preparedness activities.

In-depth research in Haiti, Myanmar, Sudan, Niger and the Philippines reveals this complexity of financing. As an illustration and by way of comparison, a mapping of the main international channels of emergency preparedness financing and national fiscal contributions in each country is shown in Figures 4.1 - 4.5, in relation to the different preparedness activities they fund.³²

Figure 4.1: Financing mechanisms and tools for emergency preparedness in Myanmar



³² Note that these illustrations depict the funding sources for emergency preparedness, not the implementation. The actual channel of final delivery can be complicated, with agencies able to act as donor, fund manager or implementer depending on the particular structure of financing. The activities listed in the figures reflect those used by the funding tools/mechanisms; hence they differ slightly from the comprehensive set shown in Figure 2.2.





Figure 4.3: Financing mechanisms and tools for emergency preparedness in Haiti







Figure 4.5: Financing mechanisms and tools for emergency preparedness in the Philipines



4.2 Emergency preparedness in case study countries: national financing

The case study countries all have very different capacities and levels of financing for emergency preparedness. Economic levels give us some indication, as a proxy, of how likely it is that governments have both the capacity to manage risk and the funding to undertake that management.³³ The World Bank classes three of the five countries as low-income and two as lower-middle-income (World Bank, 2013b). Average per capita government revenues³⁴ vary significantly from country to country. In Niger and Myanmar they are amongst the lowest in the world, putting these countries on a list of just 13 that have revenues of less than \$50 per capita (Kellett and Caravani, 2013). On this indicator, Myanmar is the poorest country in South-East Asia; however, its overall available revenue is still greater than that of Haiti, the poorest country in the western hemisphere (World Bank, 2013c).

Table 4.1: Economic indicators from the five case study countries³⁵

	Income status	Average government revenues, 2007-2011, per capita (\$)
Niger	Low	43.69
Myanmar	Low	46.08
Sudan	Lower-middle	269.63
Haiti	Low	-8.23
Philippines	Lower-middle	416.42

The Philippines hosts the most advanced risk management of the five countries, and the consciousness of disaster risk is high across civil society. The government is very committed to preparedness, in particular through the implementation of the 2010 Disaster Risk Reduction and Management (DRRM) Act. Overall it is the major contributor in terms of volume of financing for DRR, spending up to \$1 billion each year. Financing, especially for key preparedness institutions – early warning, hazard/ risk analysis and building local government capacity

- was a minimum of \$107.5 million combined over the years 2009-2011 (Kellett, 2014 forthcoming: 39), exceeding financing volumes from international actors. The government is also particularly strong in the area of health preparedness, and has a dedicated specialist team that finances specific preparedness activities for the sector (ibid.: 24). The targeting of resources towards local government units (LGUs) most in need of support remains an issue, as does the overall coherence of actions between international and national actors for risk management. Preparedness for conflict - namely in the island of Mindanao – is not clearly articulated, and is part of a separate process to DRM. However, government agencies responsible for elements of the DRRM Act (including elements of preparedness) do extend their support to conflict-affected populations.

In Niger, national and international action has traditionally been concentrated on the country's largest risk, namely food in security, which is related largely to the significance of drought. In recent years, broader DRM has been progressively incorporated into sectoral and national policies, strategies and plans. This evolution also led to the government establishing a risk management system called Le Dispositif National de Prévention et Gestion des Crises Alimentaires au Niger (the Dispositif) in 1998. This system initially aimed to prepare and respond to food security-related crises, but over time has evolved to be responsible for a wider portfolio of risk. Despite national policy commitments, there is little national funding for preparedness, even at a central level, where key institutions are largely donor-funded. What financing exists for emergency preparedness is focused on supporting the Dispositif, including early warning systems, as well as the National Market Information System (SIMA). Between 1 June 2012 and 30 November 2013, the Dispositif's planned expenditures were estimated at FCFA 2.08 billion (\$4.21 million), of which the national government was to provide 32.6%, the European Union (EU) 46.5% and other partners 20.9%. Key areas such as health emergency capacity and activities such as pre-positioning of food and non-food items (NFIs) are consistently underfunded. Financing beyond the capital Niamey is reportedly non-existent, with the exception being relatively small levels of funding for international actors (Robitaille et al., 2014 forthcoming).

In **Myanmar**, emergency preparedness is a relatively new concept, and is commonly embedded within DRR/ DRM financing and policy architecture. New engagement with the international community is helping to prioritise risk within government policy, with the development of the national Myanmar Action Plan on Disaster Risk Reduction (MAPDRR) and the development of the Myanmar Peace Centre, two important achievements. However, national financing is weak, and the government's national budgetary systems require significant strengthening. While progress has been made, with 21 priorities under the

³³ That said, due to the lack of precise coding and tracking of emergency preparedness in national fiscal systems, the cost of preparedness according to the matrix is often not identifiable. In many places only the price of projects exists, which is indicative but by no means comprehensive of the total cost of preparedness needs.

³⁴ The methodology for this calculation can be found in Kellett and Caravani (2013).

³⁵ Sources: income status from World Bank (2013c); average government revenues from a methodology developed in Kellett and Sparks (2012). Note that the negative figure for Haiti is due to the deduction of international aid from overall government revenues.

MAPDRR, for example, funding is limited, and tracking of national expenditure is at best incomplete. Thus far, the government has focused its attention on establishing the national policy environment, structures for DRR and support to ongoing peace processes. Translating these initiatives into a fully funded and functioning preparedness architecture remains some way off. International funding is primarily humanitarian, with small, inconsistent portions of funding for preparedness, released as part of broader risk reduction components of crisis response. There is a strong commitment by national and international actors to invest more in emergency preparedness, but this is constrained by the financing architecture, relatively small donor base and the challenges of spending funds in a difficult governance context.

In Haiti, the response to the 2010 earthquake has generated financial and technical resources for emergency preparedness and has also increased general awareness of the importance of other types of risk beyond the seismic, which are significant in type and scale across the country. This has spurred a heightened engagement with and strengthening of Haitian stakeholders, particularly in the context of the transition process that aims to transfer responsibilities, systems and capacities to the national government. Disaster risk has become a priority and is likely to play a key role in future development. Legal provisions for disaster preparedness have been in effect since the 1980s and the country has had a national disaster management system for more than a decade (Fan et al., 2014 forthcoming). However, there are concerns that humanitarian funding is being reduced too quickly, while national preparedness and response capacities remain fragile. The Department of Civil Protection (the lead agency for DRM), which sits within the Ministry of Interior, established a National System for Risk and Disaster Management in 2001, which included a National Emergency Operations Centre (COUN).

Much of this structure was significantly under-resourced. The government has now begun to prioritise resources for DRM, with its 2012-2013 budget allocating \$7.55 million to the Ministries of Interior and Environment, with \$2.3 million from its own resources.

In Sudan, decades of conflict across a number of areas (with some conflicts still ongoing) have resulted in national and international actors focusing on large-scale response year on year. Financing for emergency preparedness from government resources is at best modest, but the sense in-country is that there is a slow move towards ex-ante risk management (i.e. before the event). This is made problematic by at least eight different government agencies or ministries having a mandate for aspects of preparedness. There is no clear understanding of responsibility across different elements of the preparedness system or how the work of the various agencies interconnects. What appears relatively clear is that funds for all preparedness activities are limited. Crisis response drives the bulk of government funding (including a significant focus on areas of conflict) and, while anecdotal evidence suggests that elements of that response may include preparedness (Hockley, 2014 forthcoming), there is little confirmed data to substantiate this.

As the case studies reveal, public financial management is lacking across the five countries (arguably with the exception of the Philippines). Poor fiscal management undermines the ability of governments to ensure that the necessary budgetary processes are in place to apportion funds to support preparedness systems. Creating regular financial support to emergency preparedness requires effective national budgetary systems and processes. Box 4.1 provides suggestions for how the international community can support improved methods to code and track budgetary processes.

BOX 4.1: IMPROVING METHODS TO CODE AND TRACK BUDGETARY PROCESSES

National budgetary allocations in support of preparedness are critical for sustained financing, and also help determine the extent to which emergency preparedness is catered for, financially and in policy action. The fact that 168 countries endorsed the 2005 Hyogo Framework for Action stands as testament to national governments' understanding of the importance of adopting riskinformed approaches to development (UNSIDR, 2011). Yet while no equivalent exists for conflict preparedness – a significant gap to be addressed – there remain gaps in our knowledge of both conflict- and natural hazard-related preparedness spending. In fragile and conflict-affected contexts where public financial management systems are weak or sometimes non-existent, the starting point for understanding how to strengthen financial support to preparedness actions will be quite different – as in the case of Myanmar. The international community can help in supporting improved methods to code and track national fiscal policy and budgetary processes in this regard.

There is often a significant difference between how domestic funding is structured, governed and delivered compared with international funding. A preliminary analysis of the linkages between emergency preparedness and national policy (e.g. national development plans) and expenditure (e.g. Medium Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF)) and the annual budget need to be undertaken. This will provide an indication of the national prioritisation of emergency preparedness in

BOX 4.1: IMPROVING METHODS TO CODE AND TRACK BUDGETARY PROCESSES (CONTINUED)

terms of policy and expenditure. Such analysis should be completed through a review of national planning documents.

The domestic funding modalities for emergency preparedness would need to be examined; two main channels are the national budget and extra-budgetary funds. There may be one or more national emergency response funds, supported by national legislation, which should be examined. In addition, the national budget may have an emergency fund that any emergency preparedness response can draw on (this may be a component of the contingency fund).

The governance of expenditure should be analysed (e.g. the roles played by ministries of finance and planning, and emergency preparedness units within sector ministries); also the relationship between national and sub-national agencies. There is often a central administrative unit responsible for national crisis management, and its location within government should be documented, as this often reveals national policy priorities. Whether it resides within central government, such as in the prime minister's office, or is positioned in a line ministry, e.g. the environment ministry, or is a government agency, is likely to influence funding allocations.

Coordination mechanisms that exist between national and international agencies and national emergency preparedness coordination structures (and their supporting secretariats) should have a financial 'footprint' that can be traced and analysed. Such coordination can involve a large number of disparate parts of the government administration (e.g. ministries of home affairs, defence, health), raising an obvious challenge to securing an effective emergency preparedness response.

Source: Bird et al. (2012)

4.3 How the international funding architecture works in the case study countries

How preparedness is financed from international sources varies considerably across the five countries examined. It reflects the nature of the relationship with national government and the current context of development, governance and risk, and in each case the aid profile³⁶ is heavily shaped by both current and past events. In some contexts, especially those involving conflict, the international community is called upon to do much

more than it might otherwise do, fulfilling the role and responsibility of national authorities that may not exist or may be a party to that conflict.

36 It should be noted that not all engagement of the international community in a context is necessarily picked up by traditional methods of tracking aid expenditures. Contributions to UN peacekeeping missions are, for example, largely outside of ODA. While troop contingents themselves are often made up of developing nation armies, financing is through assessment, and largely therefore from developed nations. The volume of expenditure on these missions can be significant. In 2010 expenditures on multilateral peacekeeping operations reached just under \$10 billion, with \$5.6 billion being spent on UN missions (Development Initiatives, 2012: 81).



Figure 4.6: ODA to the five case study countries, 2002-2011

Source: Based on OECD DAC, 2011 constant prices

For both Myanmar and Sudan, preparing to respond in complex risk environments is complicated by broader political conditions and international relations. Sanctions and restrictions on spending shape the volume and timing of ODA that is provided. However, Myanmar is also undergoing rapid change. The country is opening up, sanctions are being lifted or revised, and the need for preparedness is becoming increasingly self-evident in view of recent natural and conflict-related emergencies. In Haiti, development assistance spiked significantly in 2010, when funds pouring into earthquake response and reconstruction reached more than \$4 billion, a figure usually only seen in post-conflict state-building, such as in Afghanistan and before that in Iraq.³⁷ For the Philippines and Niger, ODA over a decade has been relatively stable; the peak to Niger in 2006 was largely accounted for by almost \$1.5 billion of debt forgiveness (see Table 4.2).

While donor coding and tracking of preparedness remain poor, it is impossible to know from global datasets how much of a priority emergency preparedness has been for donors (regardless of the mechanisms they might use). A useful proxy of in each of our five case studies can be drawn from data from the OECD Development Assistance Committee (DAC). While this data is not a complete representation of emergency preparedness, since it focuses on natural disasters only and moves beyond preparedness to prevention, it provides us with an indication of how prevalent ex-ante investment in risk is across each context. Perhaps unsurprisingly, given what the case studies have told us, Haiti and the Philippines have seen the most funding. Niger, Myanmar and Sudan have seen little since OECD DAC recording began in 2004.

Outlined below is a snapshot of the funding profile in each of the five case study countries.³⁸

Traditionally the Philippines has been a significant recipient of ODA, largely from development funds rather than humanitarian assistance. Over the 10 years to 2011 it received \$13.4 billion of ODA from a variety of donors, up to \$1.6 billion per year. Almost \$8 billion of this was in the form of loans, the bulk of which came from the Japanese government (\$7.2 billion). Humanitarian assistance meanwhile amounted to just \$322.9 million over the decade, rather a small figure considering the many crises the country has faced. Of this humanitarian financing, \$100 million came in a single year (2009), largely in response to Typhoon Ketsana. That year, the proportion of international humanitarian financing peaked at just over 8% of ODA; over the decade the proportion was just 2.5%, though if loans are factored out, the proportion increases to just over 6%. The international community has placed disaster risk at the heart of much of its work in the country, and there is evidence of multiple preparedness activities under way (usually within a larger programme of action), which are considerable in both scale and scope.

Niger has traditionally been a significant beneficiary of ODA, receiving \$7.8 billion over the decade 2002-2011. The total volume of assistance increased from \$410 million in 2002 to \$743 million in 2010, falling back slightly in 2011. While the share of humanitarian aid to Niger was low in the first half of the decade (3.7% in 2001 and 0.9% in 2003), it increased continually thereafter, reaching 30.3% in 2010, making Niger the 11th largest recipient of official humanitarian aid that year (Development Initiatives, 2013b). Since then, humanitarian aid has represented a considerable part of the total ODA received by the country, reflecting the international community's acknowledgement of the many crises it faces. This has also led to continued support for government risk management structures, by humanitarian and development financing.

In Myanmar, it is widely anticipated that if the economic and political reforms that started in 2011 continue and result in substantial progress, the country's economic future could mirror that of its Asian neighbours over the long term. The current transition, characterised by political and economic liberalisation, has also raised hopes of a better future and of increased international support, accompanied by the lifting of current restrictions and sanctions (see, for example, OECD, 2013b). This transition is likely to be challenging, with continued support required for some decades into the future. The data reflects the past relationship clearly, with the majority of international aid between 2002 and 2011 granted for humanitarian relief. This increased from \$1.5 million in 2002 to \$43.5 million in 2011 and peaked at \$620 million in 2008 (related to relief and recovery after Cyclone Nargis). In its renewed engagement with the Government of Myanmar (GoM), the international community is supporting the formalisation of the policy architecture for national risk management more broadly. Yet international politics still shapes donors' interests, and the ability of operational agencies in-country to persuade donors to prioritise risk appears weak. At the time of research, for example, international agencies were struggling to obtain funding for preparedness for conflict-related population movement and for a response anticipated in lieu of the upcoming rainy season. Response still dominates the international community's engagement in the country, and funding for both conflict- and natural hazard-related disasters is ex-post (i.e. after the event).

In **Sudan**, financial assistance from the international community continues to be primarily humanitarian,³⁹ accounting for more than 60% of ODA over 10 years; only

37 OECD DAC data.

- 38 The analysis in this sub-section is drawn from case study data, GHA programme data and author analysis of OECD DAC data.
- 39 In addition to ODA financing, Sudan has received a huge investment from the international community relating to peacekeeping. In 2009, for example, the costs of the United Nations Mission for Sudan (UNMIS) and the hybrid mission for Darfur (UNAMID) had a combined budget of more than \$2.5 billion (see Development Initiatives, 2010: 124).

500mm 100, 200	Official development assistance,	Development component,	Humanitarian aid,	Proportion of ODA as humanitarian aid
	\$ millions	\$ millions	\$ millions	
Niger	7,801.6	7,071.0	730.6	9.4%
Sudan	16,496.3	6,335.2	10,161.1	61.6%
Haiti	11,418.0	8,595.8	2,822.3	24.7%
Philippines	13,474.2	13,026.8	447.4	3.3%
Myanmar	2,699.1	1,705.6	993.5	36.8%

Table 4.2: Breakdown of development and humanitarian aid to case studycountries, 2002-2011

Source: Based on OECD DAC data (downloaded August 2013)

Figure 4.7: DAC country financing of disaster prevention and preparedness, 2004-2011



Source: Based on OECD DAC, 2011 constant prices

Somalia has a higher proportion. This is directly related to the large scale of long-term humanitarian need, with the international community using financing mechanisms and tools for obtaining, prioritising and managing the considerable volumes of assistance. The 2013 United Nations and Partner Work Plan, for example, appealed for over \$983 million to implement 364 projects. The objectives of the Work Plan include building the capacity of national actors to address humanitarian needs in Sudan, a prerequisite for the transition to recovery and development. This is complemented by the 2013-2016 United Nations Development Assistance Framework (UNDAF), which has a proposed budget of \$877 million. The last two years have seen a decrease in the funds available for humanitarian interventions, with the Work Plan receiving \$741 million in 2011 and \$586 million in 2012. This downward trajectory is likely to continue as donors shift

attention away from Sudan (Hockley, 2014 forthcoming), both increasing the challenges of delivering humanitarian assistance and forcing a focus on transition.

In **Haiti**, overall funding from the OECD DAC countries increased (albeit gradually) from very low levels throughout the decade before the 2010 earthquake. This was in part due to response and reconstruction related to the series of cyclones and considerable flooding in both 2004 and 2008. Despite significant ongoing natural and man-made risks, the almost unprecedented financing following the 2010 earthquake included more than \$1.5 billion for humanitarian response alone. The scale and impact of the earthquake has prompted considerable attention from the international community to all aspects of risk management in Haiti.

4.3.1 The mechanisms in detail⁴⁰

Central Emergency Response Fund (CERF)

There are isolated examples of preparedness activities being funded, but this is largely ad hoc and heavily dependent on the individual context.

The experience in Niger is somewhat typical across our five case studies. The CERF is an important resource for humanitarian response and there is some - though limited - evidence that it has funded emergency preparedness. In 2012 the CERF channelled \$24.6 million of humanitarian aid (OCHA, 2012f). Despite many individuals in-country stating that CERF funding has not been used for preparedness, nor even considered as a possible vehicle, an analysis of 2012 projects shows that some do include preparedness, as defined by the matrix applied throughout this research. For example, the CERF has given \$2 million to UNHCR to provide protection and relief for 30,000 people; part of these funds has been used to build the capacity of local authorities to respond to the needs of refugees, an element of preparedness according to the matrix. The CERF has also provided \$1 million to WHO and UNICEF to support government efforts to prevent cholera and treat victims by, amongst other things, strengthening disease surveillance throughout the country. Similar evidence can be found in Haiti, where in 2012 and 2013 the CERF contributed several million dollars for projects that mix response, preparedness and prevention in relation to cholera, with the International Organization for Migration (IOM), UNICEF and the UN Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) implementing (see OCHA, 2013b).

Myanmar has received funding from the CERF each year since 2006 through one or both of its Rapid Response and Underfunded Emergencies provisions. A total of \$71.1 million has been allocated, with peaks in 2008 (\$28.4 million) after Cyclone Nargis and in 2010 (\$12.5 million) in response to Cyclone Giri and widespread flooding, particularly in Rakhine Statet. However, there was minimal evidence of CERF funding for preparedness, apart from relatively minor funding for health sector preparedness through the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) (see Peters, 2014 forthcoming).

It is a similar story in the Philippines. While the country has regularly received funding from the CERF – more than \$45 million over the past seven years – analysis reveals very little expenditure on preparedness. Only two out of 40 projects were identified as having partial preparedness objectives – two very similar World Food Programme (WFP) projects undertaking disaster preparedness in conflict-affected areas of Mindanao (Kellett, 2014 forthcoming).

Sudan's CERF allocation mirrors the country's overall preoccupation with managing the sustained humanitarian

60

situation. In January 2013, Sudan received \$17 million from the CERF; this followed a \$14 million allocation in the previous year that was directed to underfunded priorities within the Work Plan. No evidence was found of emergency preparedness in any of these projects.

Emergency Response Funds (ERFs)

Of the five case study countries, ERFs are present only in Myanmar and Haiti. Evidence shows that funds have been allocated to support preparedness activities in Haiti, largely for cholera-related projects.

The Haiti Emergency Relief Response Fund (ERRF) was established in 2008 and was an essential tool to kickstart critical activities in the 2008 hurricane season (OCHA, undated a). The budget dramatically increased following the 2010 earthquake, exceeding \$80 million (an exceptional amount for an ERF, the only fund with higher volumes of funds being Ethiopia's; see OCHA, 2013c). Since its inception, the ERRF in Haiti has funded 98 projects. In 2011 and 2012, a portion of funds was allocated to cholera prevention and epidemiological surveillance. Through a detailed examination of projects, 11 ERF contributions have been identified as supporting emergency preparedness activities in 2011 (OCHA, 2012g). Ten of these were to support cholera: for example, \$500,000 granted to AMURT to undertake prevention and preparedness interventions in the municipalities of NW Artibonite, Terre-Neuve and Anse-Rouge, and \$300,000 for Mercy Corps for similar work on the Central Plateau. A noteworthy project is the funding of Internews to run a CDAC network in Haiti (CDAC, 2013); this is one of the first examples of building up communication networks for both humanitarian response and preparedness, and was targeted to reduce the 'vulnerability of cholera-affected and at-risk communities and to increase community resilience and disaster preparedness' (OCHA 2012g: 16).

Since 2007, the Myanmar ERF (which is called the Humanitarian Multi-Stakeholder Fund (HMSF); see OCHA, undated b) has allocated \$8.2 million to national and international NGOs for work in conflict-affected areas and with internally displaced persons (IDPs). On investigation, it does not appear that any projects funded include emergency preparedness components. In 2012, for example, the total funding was \$1.2 million, all for emergency response.

⁴⁰ Note that overall funding volumes that a mechanism may provide to a country (and indicated in this section) are not necessarily reflective of strong financial support to preparedness. Identifying spending on preparedness requires (in all five countries) manual tracking and coding of activities.

Common Humanitarian Funds (CHFs)

There is no CHF in Myanmar, Niger, the Philippines or Haiti. In Sudan, a CHF has provided preparedness financing through many of its sector priorities, though it is not labelled as such and is therefore difficult to track.

Sudan's CHF has been supporting humanitarian needs since 2006, and by the end of 2012 it had contributed \$1.2 billion to 'support the highest priorities of the UN and Partners Work Plan, directly reaching people who are most in need throughout the country and covering critical humanitarian gaps' (OCHA, 2012h: 5). An analysis of the most recent years of the CHF reveals a mixed picture for emergency preparedness. The CHF is used to finance 10% of the Work Plan, which includes special allocations of seeds. tools, livestock vaccines and drugs, NFIs and emergency shelter, and of ready-to-use therapeutic food (Hockley, 2014 forthcoming). Similarly, the 2012 CHF report states that two sectors have a particular focus on prioritising CHF funds for preparedness: health and nutrition (OCHA, 2012h: 18, 22). The full list of emergency preparedness activities and the sectors in which they are found is as follows:

- strengthening capacity of national actors (coordination and common services)
- strengthening coordination and capacity of state and non-state actors for effective and timely response (food security and livelihoods)
- improved emergency preparedness, risk reduction, disease surveillance (health)
- predictable logistical response (logistics and emergency telecommunications)
- core pipeline stocks (non-food items and emergency shelter)
- national capacity and core pipeline stocks (nutrition)
- early warning mechanisms (protection)
- disaster preparedness through building capacity (water, sanitation and hygiene).

CHF sector priorities are found in eight of 13 sectors in Sudan, though deepening the analysis by trying to track preparedness is made difficult because the term itself is not used. Sectors where emergency preparedness cannot be discerned are basic infrastructure, education, mine action, refugee/multi-sector, and returns and early reintegration.

UN Appeals Process

Preparedness is found within organised appeals, but the extent depends on the kind of appeal – consolidated or flash – and, for the former, on how much importance is given to emergency preparedness inside the CHAP. Having an appeal that includes preparedness as a core element does not guarantee funding. Evidence on the use of appeals for emergency preparedness is largely determined by what kind of appeal has been used in each of the five country contexts, and the extent to which the humanitarian community has made preparedness a priority. Consolidated appeals have some evidence of preparedness being funded; flash appeals have little or no evidence of this happening. In regards to the case studies, four have consolidated appeals (Haiti, the Philippines (for Mindanao), Sudan and Niger). Only the Philippines has regular flash appeals, driven by the need to respond almost every year to cyclones, such as Cyclone Nargis in 2008. Haiti has also had a flash appeal, following the earthquake in 2010.

Levels of commitment to emergency preparedness, even in consolidated appeals, are variable across contexts. The strongest evidence is found in Niger. Here, preparedness is central, as one of three pillars under a 'resilience' objective within the CHAP. Of 83 projects in the most recent appeal, 53 have some element of preparedness; of these 53, contingency planning and training/exercises account for approximately one third, followed by hazard/

Humanitarian donors appear unwilling to prioritise emergency preparedness activities in the context of limited overall humanitarian resources for action plans and appeals

risk analysis and early warning with 16% each. We estimate that close to \$14 million has been raised for preparedness through the CAP. To a lesser extent, in the Sudan Work Plan, elements of preparedness can also be found. Through a manual tracking of the 2013 appeal, 57 of 364 projects were found to have an element of preparedness. The value of these 57 projects was \$100 million; the allocation for preparedness is estimated at 3% of the overall requested volume, approximately \$3 million – hardly a significant volume, given the predicted needs.

The appeals context in the Philippines is complicated by the mix of consolidated and flash appeals. Mindanao is a focus for consolidated yearly appeals, but is increasingly being complemented by urgent (flash) appeals due to cyclones, in recent years focusing on the same area. Overall there have been only minimal attempts to use the appeals process to obtain preparedness funds; those that have succeeded have been largely for humanitarian coordination and logistics. For example, since 2004 there have been six UN appeals in the Philippines with conflict in Mindanao or typhoon response usually being the focus, with final requirements of \$394.9 million drawn from 352 projects. A detailed analysis reveals that only 11 of these projects have at least a partial objective of preparedness, five of which were funded: three for UN OCHA, one for WFP and one for Plan International. All of these came from the consolidated appeal for Mindanao. As of July 2013, none of the 2013 projects with preparedness components had been funded. The total amount requested through appeals for emergency preparedness was \$3.8 million (1% of the total requested), with \$2.7 million of that funded.

The 2011, 2012 and 2013 appeals for Haiti have all included objectives on preparedness (OCHA, 2010, 2011b, 2012i).41 The 2013 Haiti Action Plan (HAP) has an objective to shift humanitarian response plans and coordination away from the international community to the Haitian government. It is anticipated that moving humanitarian coordination mechanisms to national structures and promoting increased response capacities will support government leadership in responding to future disasters. The mid-term review of the HAP stated that a Coordination Transition Plan, detailing the transfer of humanitarian coordination structures to national counterparts, was completed in the first quarter of 2013 and was awaiting approval. A total of \$17 million would be required to implement this plan, though the only costs included in the 2013 HAP were for the transition of the remaining coordination clusters not yet handed over to the government (\$1.8 million was requested, which was 43% financed as of September 2013, according to OCHA's Financial Tracking Service (FTS)). The revised 2013 HAP also references the national strategy and contingency plan prepared by the Directorate of Civil Protection (DPC) and the role of international humanitarian actors supporting it, listing six emergency preparedness projects. However, these projects have received very little financing (OCHA, 2013d). It is rare that CAP/HAPs are fully funded, but Haiti appeals in recent years have fallen significantly below global averages (46% funded in 2012; the 2013 appeal was 42% funded as of September 2013). The projects under the emergency preparedness objective had received only 4% of the requested \$6.4 million funding as of September 2013. Humanitarian donors appear unwilling to prioritise emergency preparedness activities in the context of limited overall humanitarian resources for action plans and appeals.

Similarly, in Myanmar, collective appeals have been put in place to mobilise resources. For example, in response to crises such as Cyclone Nargis in 2008 and the violence in Rakhine in 2012, immediate appeals were launched – the former a formal flash appeal and the latter an appeal organised by the UN, but not a formal part of the CAP process. Perhaps surprisingly (in comparison with evidence from other flash appeals), both appeals were used to articulate emergency preparedness, albeit in only a few projects. OCHA's FTS reports that in 2008 two projects that had preparedness components were actually overfunded: a Merlin health sector 'DRR and preparedness' project for \$4.2 million and a \$349,000 project for the NGO Malteser International for 'disaster preparedness in the cyclone-

affected region'. The 2012 appeal project for emergency preparedness was also for Malteser International, directed to 'improved basic infrastructure and disaster preparedness' for the population in Rakhine.

Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery (GFDRR)

Funding for preparedness has been received in the Philippines and Haiti, for the more developmental part of the preparedness continuum.⁴²

Only two of the five countries selected for this research are GFDRR priority countries: Haiti (a GFDRR priority) and the Philippines (a country selected by donors as their priority). Given that GFDRR's mandate reaches beyond preparedness into a range of disaster risk-focused financing initiatives, it is not surprising to see a range of risk-related projects being undertaken with financing from the facility where preparedness is a component of larger objectives (GFDRR, 2013a).

In the Philippines, GFDRR has funded five projects to date. Two of these – support for Post-Disaster Needs Assessments (PDNAs) in the 2009 typhoon season and a project to support high-risk local government – have been completed. Three were ongoing at the time of writing: support to the Philippines disaster risk management agenda (\$2.7 million); reducing vulnerability to flooding in Metro Manila (\$1.65 million); and 'City-To-City', which supports the sharing of government capacity to manage natural disaster risks (\$1.15 million). Of these, only the first project (supporting the country's DRR agenda) has explicit emergency preparedness components, which take the form of long-term capacity-building of government for response.

In Haiti (GFDRR, 2012c), GFDRR has financed nine projects; all but one of these (a needs assessment following the four hurricanes of 2008) came after the earthquake of January 2010. Of the nine projects, two were needs assessments and three were largely sectorspecific risk reduction projects (health infrastructure, housing and cholera prevention⁴³). The remaining four projects include elements of emergency preparedness, one specifically on multi-hazard assessments (\$1.2 million) and three for a range of institutional capacitybuilding (of which certain elements appear to be for preparedness). These projects total \$3.2 million; however,

⁴¹ In the 2011 and 2012 CAPs, no indication was given of which projects in the appeal were meant to achieve the objective or how. Rather, the projects were organised by 'cluster' (the UN-led coordination mechanism based on humanitarian sectors).

⁴² The only reported GFDRR project that covered Sudan was a 2010 workshop that looked at climate risk for the Horn of Africa. In Niger, the only GFDRR project to date has been a regional project covering workshops for climate extremes.

⁴³ Elements of this cholera project are likely to be emergency preparedness, taking into account project descriptions.

the proportion of preparedness spend could not be determined due to lack of access to an itemised budget.

UNDP Crisis Prevention and Recovery Thematic Trust Fund (CPR TTF)

Financing for preparedness is found in four of the five case study countries. It includes a rare example of a mechanism funding conflict prevention, of which a portion is likely to be for preparedness.

The CPR TTF has been used in all of the case study countries apart from Sudan in recent years. In 2011, for example, CPR TTF funding was received for the Philippines, Myanmar and Haiti, in each case for disasterrelated projects. Haiti was the most significant in terms of volume, with close to \$4 million in three projects funded by the TTF; the majority of this financing was for early recovery programmes (see UNDP, 2013a) in response to the 2010 earthquake. Early recovery expenditure through the TTF also accounted for the bulk of financing in 2011 to both the Philippines and Myanmar. It appears unlikely from the project descriptions that could be accessed that any significant proportion – if any – of this early recovery expenditure was for emergency preparedness.

Niger provides an interesting case where CPR TTF funding combines risk management for different types of risk. In 2011, \$2.1 million was committed by UNDP to conflict prevention, of which a component was likely to be for preparedness. Of this, \$611,348 came from the TTF directly. This funding in part has supported two specialists focusing on a mix of crisis prevention and recovery, moving beyond conflict prevention to support national action on the Dispositif and implementation of the HFA.

44 These are termed TRAC 3 or sometimes TRAC 1.1.3, 'TRAC' standing for 'Targeted Resources at the Core'. In total, 7.2% of UNDP's core funding is allocated to crisis.

45 Note that in this section we also include an analysis of other sources of climate financing beyond the core mechanisms being examined.

It should be noted that UNDP also manages its own core resources⁴⁴ allocated to crisis, through the same management structures and decision-making processes as the TTF. While not formally considered to be part of the TTF, these could be considered as UNDP's own core resources to the fund. For the five case study countries, in 2011 these resources would add an extra \$1.6 million for conflict prevention/recovery in Niger, \$66,429 and \$53,345 for the Philippines and Myanmar respectively for 'response', and \$219,432 for DRR in Haiti. Often programmes funded by UNDP and managed by BCPR include financing from both these 'core resources' and the TTF; for example, the Niger conflict prevention project mentioned above is a single project financed by both sources.

Table 4.3 highlights the scope of both of these funding sources managed together by BCPR. Note that (as indicated above) not all these volumes are for emergency preparedness.

Climate adaptation financing: Adaptation fund, LDCF, PPCR⁴⁵

Where adaptation financing features in a country, there is evidence that it supports the more developmental aspects of emergency preparedness – this is particularly evident in Niger and to a lesser extent in the Philippines. This financing does not support the full range of emergency preparedness required, only those areas that climate risks share with risk management in general.

Financing for climate change-related activities has occurred in all five of the case study countries. The Philippines has seen by far the highest volumes of financing, with more than \$400 million since 2007, while Niger has also received more than \$100 million.

In the Philippines, \$184 million of financing has been for climate 'mitigation' (IPCC, 2012), with no projects identifiably related to emergency preparedness. Of the \$225 million approved since 2007 for adaptation or 'multiple foci' (the two broad areas of climate financing where preparedness

Table 4.3: Expenditures managed by BCPR from the CPR TTF and crisis-related core resources, 2011

	CPR TTF		Core resources		Total
	Conflict	Disaster	Conflict	Disaster	
Niger	611,348		1,576,541		2,187,889
Myanmar		375,471		53,345	428,816
Haiti		3,895,967		219,432	4,115,398
Philippines				66,429	66,429
Sudan	0	0	0	0	0

Source: Vaux, T. (2014b forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness and UNDP CPR TTF (\$, current 2011)



Figure 4.8: Climate financing in the five case study countries

activities may be captured), only marginal investments in preparedness can be discerned. Two of these are funded by Germany's International Climate Initiative (IKI, 2013). The first is a \$3.6 million project entitled 'Adapting Climate Change and Conserving Biological Diversity' (GIZ, 2008), and the second is a \$3.8 million project supporting the Philippines Climate Change Commission in implementing a national climate strategy. A third project for 'climate change adaptation' to a value of \$4.97 million is funded by the Special Climate Change Fund (SSCF). There are considerable efforts under way in the Philippines to integrate CCA and DRM, so it is anticipated that adaptation funding will have some impact on broader risk management, specifically in regards to institutional development and risk management, including risk assessments. However, government officials state that this is very much a work in progress.46

Niger's \$117 million of climate financing, except for \$1 million, is solely dedicated towards adaptation. The PPCR has funded just over \$100 million of this and the LDCF has contributed another \$11.25 million. Descriptions of the two largest projects - both for the 'Niger Community Action Project for Climate Resilience' - include language referring to 'mainstreaming climate resilience into development strategies at national and local levels', with expectations of risk assessment and preparedness being included. In addition, within other projects references are made to 'private sector investment to build climate resilience' and 'implementing National Adaptation Programme of Action (NAPA)⁴⁷ priority interventions'. Not all project descriptions are this ambiguous: some projects are clearly within the bounds of emergency preparedness. Three for 'climate forecasting and the operationalization of early warning systems' totalling \$13.5 million, were all funded by the PPCR.⁴⁸ In addition, \$3.25 million of LDCF funding was used for 'community based adaptation', including some community-related emergency preparedness activities.

Sudan's \$40 million of climate financing is largely accounted for by seven adaptation projects totalling just under \$37 million. Of these, the majority is for energy and water resources. One project to the value of \$13.9 million is funded by Japan's Fast-Start Finance initiative, which, while not one of our three global mechanisms, is still worth considering. It is termed as a 'countermeasure through food aid in collaboration with WFP' and is categorised as 'prevention of disaster and rehabilitation'.

Volumes of climate financing to Myanmar and Haiti are relatively small at \$6 million and \$8.9 million respectively, of which \$5.83 million for Myanmar is for adaptation, and \$6.88 million for Haiti.⁴⁹ In Myanmar, a small project for 'training on DRR utilizing mobile/water knowledge' is the only likely preparedness project, funded by Japan's Fast-Start Finance.⁵⁰ In Haiti, three LDCF projects receive just over \$6 million; one of those - \$2.73m for FAO for 'reducing disaster risk in agriculture' - speaks to preparedness in its fourth focus area, 'strengthening of local institutions and

48 Additional financing for these projects came from the African Development Bank (AfDB). Developed and supported by the AfDB, the African Union and the UN Economic Commission for Africa (UNECA), the Climate for Development in Africa Programme (ClimDev-Africa) in Niger 'aims at constructing a solid foundation for the response to climate change'. The AfDB developed this fund to support the ClimDev-Africa programme related to the generation and dissemination of reliable climate information, the integration of climate change information into development programmes and the implementation of pilot adaptation practices.

⁴⁶ From interviews with both the Philippines Head of the Office of Civil Defense (the body responsible for guiding disaster risk management in the Philippines) and the deputy head of the Climate Commission (Kellett, 2014 forthcoming).

⁴⁷ Note that for the purposes of this study ODI considers the creation of a NAPA as being equivalent to the 'legislative and institutional framework' elements within the emergency preparedness matrix guiding this research. An investment in creating a NAPA is therefore, in part - given the crossover of NAPAs into DRR in general considered an investment in emergency preparedness.

Figure 4.9: Adaptation financing to the five case study countries, by financing source, 2007-2011



associations to encourage awareness and dissemination of risk management' (GEF, 2013).

In summary, of the three selected adaptation mechanisms, only two fund in all five case study countries: PPCR and the LDCF. There is no discernible pattern in support of preparedness in this or other adaptation financing, which comes from a variety of global- and country-level mechanisms. Furthermore, the lack of integration of climate adaptation financing with activities funded through DRM risk mechanisms was highlighted as an issue in several of the case studies, especially for the Philippines, Niger and Haiti.

In-country bilateral: humanitarian and development funding

Financing from in-country donors occurs in all five case study countries, but it is highly variable and highly dependent on the context.

Bilateral in-country financing for emergency preparedness from donor countries is heavily shaped by the country context, including (amongst other issues) the risk context, political and economic status, governance arrangements, conditions of conflict, peace and security, and crucially the historical and political relations between the donor, the international community and recipient country governments. Bilateral financing, which excludes all funding that goes through one of the global or country mechanisms/tools discussed above, occurs in each of the five case study countries, though to significantly varying degrees and for a variety of emergency preparedness purposes.

Donor representation within each country is key to understanding bilateral contributions from development and humanitarian funding. Global pooled financing mechanisms, such as those discussed in this study, allow many non-resident donors⁵¹ to prioritise funding for specific themes or sectors, without necessarily being present in the recipient country – this is one of the arguments for pooled mechanisms in general. However, broadly speaking, most donor countries undertake a large proportion of their development programming at a country level. This is an important distinction if the argument is put forward for more donors to fund emergency preparedness in greater quantities and in more countries with development financing.. Simply put, there would need to be more resident donors, which would be a considerable challenge to achieve, or alternatively a better division of labour (thematically and in-country) (see OECD DAC, 2010 and 2011).

Global data on the number of donors to each country (see Table 4.4) does not tell us if those donors are resident – however, it does suggest how much reliance a country may have on a particular set of donor partners. The data tells us that the Philippines, for example, has a rather narrow overall donor base for ODA. Of the DAC donor governments, five (the US, Japan, Australia, Germany and the EU) accounted for \$3.9 billion of grant ODA between 2002 and 2011, 77.9% of the country's total. The top 10 donors accounted for more than 93%. The other case study countries appear to have a wider donor base. Certainly for Niger, Sudan and Haiti, the regular presence of consolidated appeals in part explains this, giving donor nations without in-country representation

⁴⁹ In both cases, tracking what elements of emergency preparedness are financed is a challenge.

⁵⁰ Note that, although none of the case study countries is currently receiving support from the Adaptation Fund, a project in Myanmar has been recommended but has not yet been approved. It was formulated by a multilateral implementing agency (Adaptation Fund Board, 2013a). At present, only 50% of Adaptation Fund financing can be channelled through multilateral agencies, and all available funds have already been programmed (Trujillo and Nakhooda, 2013).

^{51 &#}x27;Resident donors' is a term used to describe donors that have a presence in-country. 'Non-resident donors' refers to those that do not.

	Volume of ODA (\$ millions)	Number of donors	Volume of funding from the top five donors (\$ millions)	Volume of top five donors % of total
Niger	672.0	40	437.4	65.1%
Sudan	1,201.3	41	649.0	54.0%
Haiti	1,698.2	36	1,199.4	70.6%
Philippines	943.8	44	769.7	81.6%
Myanmar	386.3	36	226.4	58.6%

Table 4.4: Donors to case study countries in 2011

Source: Based on OECD DAC (accessed August 2013). Note that number of donors includes institutions as well as donor countries.

a conduit for both prioritisation and funding of humanitarian needs. The 2011 data highlights the differences between recipient countries. However, this is not necessarily a suitable indicator for the range of donor options for emergency preparedness, and data at a global level is not comprehensive. A more useful indicator would be to look at how many donors have funded preparedness activities. In a recent study, ODI has highlighted how some countries have very few donors in disaster risk-related activities, even over a long period: the Philippines has had 14, Haiti 15 and Niger just six over 20 years (Kellett and Caravani, 2013: 22).

Given the challenges within the global data, our analysis relies more heavily on the case studies for a clearer picture of how donors use bilateral funding in-country for emergency preparedness. The Philippines has the most bilateral donor financing in terms of volume that can be tracked. Of the \$84.6 million of emergency preparedness funding currently under way, \$66 million (75%) comes directly from donors in-country. This is split broadly into two distinct channels: Japanese development funding for long-term early warning infrastructure and related institutional development, and the remaining donors (most prominently Australia and the US) funding largely humanitarian coordination and preparedness for response.

In Myanmar, preparedness features strongly for a few donors, especially the European Commission's Humanitarian Aid Department (DIPECHO), USAID and AusAID; however, for most donors (except DIPECHO) there is no disaggregation of funding for preparedness from larger DRR programmes. Bilateral funding is largely humanitarian in origin, triggered after a crisis strikes. DIPECHO's disaster preparedness programme is the primary donor for DRR, under which emergency preparedness activities often fall. These funds are channelled to operational UN and non-governmental agencies. In 2011, DIPECHO funding in Myanmar reached €1.5 million. In 2012, the EC's humanitarian aid to Myanmar reached €24.7 million, and emergency preparedness received €1.65 million through DIPECHO. Despite the risk context, there is no equivalent approach to funding preparedness for conflict-related emergencies. Donor presence – if any – is minimal in Yangon, and increasingly minor in the capital Naypyidaw.

In Niger, donor funding for preparedness is primarily humanitarian in origin and is generated by the CAP. Funding is largely not in-country, which in part reflects the small number of donors that are resident in the country and the few avenues for donor financing at country level. Over a 20-year period, only six donors have contributed any money at all (Kellett and Caravani, 2013: 22). However, the EC's support to the Dispositif, the main governmental risk management body, is a rare example of development funding for the main institutions for preparedness.⁵² The Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation (SDC) also supports the Dispositif to prevent and manage crisis, doing so with a mix of humanitarian and development financing.

In Sudan, almost all funding clearly targeted to preparedness (what little exists) comes through the consolidated appeal. Only one donor, Japan, has contributed funds to preparedness outside of the CAP, through a number of agricultural projects with FAO in the Blue Nile and South Kordofan regions. In both cases this was development finance.

For Haiti, the major donors are the US, the EC and Canada. Both the US and the EC have emphasised the importance of DRR within their approaches, and have funded directly to partners. In Haiti, assistance to DRR from the Office of U.S. Foreign Disaster Assistance (OFDA) has been overwhelmingly in the form of programmes that integrate risk within disaster response. Examples include cholera prevention and reinforced shelters, as opposed to standalone DRR interventions. In 2011, \$44 million of disaster assistance to Haiti integrated DRR; by contrast, only

⁵² Most bilateral development financing for emergency preparedness we have traced through the country studies has been confined to either broad risk reduction activities in 'development sectors' such as agriculture or to technical elements of early warning.

\$298,000 was for stand-alone DRR projects (USAID, 2011). ECHO has provided €25.9 million for DRR projects from 1998 to 2013 (ECHO, 2013). ECHO's financing to DRR in Haiti represented 6.6% of its total funding in 2010 and 8% in 2011; in 2013, €3.5 million was planned for specific disaster preparedness projects. ECHO-funded DRR projects that have included emergency preparedness also involve working in close collaboration with the national system of DRM and reinforcing government capacities to respond to emergencies (ibid.).

4.3.2 Other sources of emergency preparedness financing

The case studies also revealed other significant investments in preparedness, which go beyond the financing mechanisms and channels being investigated in detail here. These additional sources of finance are important for understanding the full picture at a country level.

Country-specific financing mechanisms

Heavily dependent on context, in some cases countryspecific mechanisms fund emergency preparedness activities, but only as part of larger or wider objectives.

According to the evidence from the five case studies, country-specific mechanisms do not exist in the Philippines or Niger. In the other three countries specific financing mechanisms do exist, in response to the particular context.

In Myanmar the Livelihoods and Food Security Trust Fund (LIFT) a multi-donor trust fund established in 2009, includes three projects that have an element of preparedness, protecting livelihoods from the impact of disaster. At the more developmental end of the preparedness continuum, these activities can be considered to be supporting preparedness more broadly: 'Civil society led community based livelihood resources development', projects with a \$1.9 million budget, implemented by ActionAid; 'Community initiated livelihoods and poverty reduction projects', a project with a \$2.8 million budget, implemented by the Adventist Development and Relief Agency (ADRA); 'Reducing Risks and Improving Livelihoods in the Rice Environments, a project with a budget of \$2 million implemented by the International Rice Research Institute. In-country, many believe that LIFT could go much further to incorporate preparedness into its investment decisions.

Since 2005 and the signing of the Comprehensive Peace Agreement (CPA), Sudan has had many mechanisms specific to the country. Two of the most important are the Multi-Donor Trust Fund (MDTF) administered by the World Bank and the Darfur Community Peace and Stabilisation Fund (DCPSF) administered by UNDP. Of the more than \$500 million committed to the MDTF since 2005 (two thirds of which has come from the Sudanese government (Sudan MDTF-N, 2011)), no project has either focused on emergency preparedness or has had preparedness activities as a component. The DCPSF is, in terms of mandate, closer to preparedness, with its overall objective being to 'promote peace building and reconciliation in Darfur through the implementation of community-based recovery and development activities' (UNDP, undated a). However, more careful investigation into specific projects undertaken through its funding reveals negligible amounts for emergency preparedness. The United Nations Fund for Recovery, Reconstruction and Development in Darfur (UNDF) was created in May 2013 to support the implementation of the Darfur Development Strategy (DDS), the development tool intended to 'move Darfur out of a cycle of conflict and poverty, towards a stable and prosperous future' (UNDP, undated b). Its focus is on reducing conflict, to 'restore peace, security and social stability'. There are also references to 'improved government functionality' and strengthening of civil administration - however, whether this is to manage risk is as yet unknown.53

The January 2010 earthquake in Haiti prompted a substantial response, followed almost immediately by a considerable volume of funds for reconstruction. Part of this was channelled through the Haiti Reconstruction Fund (HRF), set up by the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB), the World Bank and the UN in support of the government's Action Plan for the Recovery and Development of Haiti. To date, \$380 million has been committed to the fund, making it the largest single source of finance for reconstruction. Since its inception, it has funded a number of projects in which emergency preparedness is a partial component. These are all DRR programmes and include the HRF's contribution of \$8 million towards multi-sector risk reduction and \$14 million for 'natural disaster mitigation'. The fund is also financing a (somewhat unrealistically titled) 'earthquake prevention plan' for the north of the country (HRF, 2012), with \$9.9 million. One project stands out as particularly important for preparedness: a \$2 million 'capacity building for DRM project', which includes supporting the Civil Protection Department (CPD). This project is largely about crisis coordination.

Core and multi-use funding⁵⁴

Core funding allocated directly to emergency preparedness is difficult to track, with few institutions or agencies separating out such investments from the rest of their work. Where there is evidence, it is largely through the use of existing human resources for preparedness activities, which may often by part of a larger programme.

All of the case studies report on at least some use of existing resources for emergency preparedness activities; often these resources are 'human', with staff drawn from other functions to undertake preparedness plans. Evidence suggests that this human resource capacity comes either from core resources i.e. staff retained to manage overall operations, or alternatively from staff drawn into preparedness from other project activities. In Myanmar, this was evident when impending natural hazard-related risks were identified through early warning. It should be noted that the case studies suggest that institutions and agencies do not necessarily separate out 'duties in the area of preparedness' from other activities.

In the Philippines, several agencies and institutions report undertaking preparedness work by utilising existing human resources. These largely take the form of technical support to government in and around coordination capacity, or for supporting their own response activities; they are not substantial in terms of financial volume. For example, IOM runs trainings for camp management throughout the year, continually updating its own and government staff skills. Plan International has elements of preparedness integrated into much of its work. UNDP and the World Bank extend their technical support to government for improving risk management, beyond specific programmes and projects.

A similar picture is found in Myanmar, Haiti and Sudan, though to a lesser extent. The Niger case study found more evidence of existing resources being applied specifically to emergency preparedness, especially within the NGO community while implementing largely humanitarian programmes and projects. The case study suggests that the volume of this financing from core resources is 'considerable'.⁵⁵ In Niger, many NGOs report using the same funding lines and staff to conduct preparedness activities, as a way to improve their response time and efficiency. It was strongly suggested by several organisations that preparedness (for them at least) was an essential part of 'good' humanitarian aid, and not divisible from that aid.

The Red Cross

Both the International Federation of the Red Cross (IFRC) and the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) feature in the case studies, and Red Cross National Societies exist in each country. **IFRC:** The IFRC places significant emphasis on disaster preparedness as part of its overall work in 'disaster management'. It ring-fences 10% of each appeal budget for 'resilience-building' measures, to 'ensure that the operation includes enough investment in disaster preparedness and risk reduction to help keep communities safe and resilient in the future', while also strengthening national capacity (IFRC, 2011: 5).

As a rule, the IFRC does not break down the amount of actual money spent on disaster preparedness globally; its 2011 report, for example, shows \$438 million divided into percentages for its development programme (31%), disaster response programmes (55%), other projects (7%) and supplementary services (7%).

The Red Cross movement as a whole is seen as a key actor in Haiti and the Philippines, and perhaps to a lesser extent in Niger and Myanmar (though in the latter its role is growing fast). In all four cases, disaster preparedness strategies exist that link together Red Cross National Societies with the IFRC and the National Societies of resident donors. Identifying the amount of money spent on preparedness is made challenging by the many routes in which funding can flow within the IFRC system, with individual societies able to act as donor, recipient and implementer of funding.

In Haiti in 2011, for example, ECHO funded French, German and Spanish Red Cross societies as well as the IFRC itself to work on projects that included emergency preparedness activities; Luxembourg financed its own Red Cross society to do the same in 2012. It is highly likely that the Haitian Red Cross played a key role in implementing these projects. A similar pattern is found in the Philippines, where the IFRC and six visiting National Societies are funding the Philippines Red Cross to 'significantly reduce the impact of disasters' (2012-2016 Philippines Red Cross Strategic Plan).

ICRC: The ICRC has an annual budget of \$1 billion exclusively for humanitarian purposes. It does not track exact values for emergency preparedness, though funding is likely to be spread across its four standard programming areas: protection, assistance, prevention and cooperation with National Societies. Its 2011 annual report suggests that preparedness is part and parcel of delivering on its humanitarian mandate and a foundation of its work within the global Red Cross movement, enhancing 'preparedness and response by optimizing complementarity and strengthening the global Movement network' (ICRC, 2012: 14). The report goes further,

55 Note that it is not possible to state exactly what that means in terms of financial value due to the lack of individual time records for personnel activity. See Niger case study (Robitaille et al., 2014 forthcoming).

⁵⁴ Note that we use the term 'core and multi-use' to indicate the usage of funding for 'core' activities of an agency set aside for emergency preparedness, as well as the provision of resources from other activities undertaken by an agency.
stating that the ICRC supports emergency preparedness capacities of its National Society partners in many countries (ibid.: 33) to enable them 'to meet the specific needs of women in situations of armed conflict or internal violence'. Finally, it understands emergency preparedness as part of attempts to prevent displacement, alleviate the effects of displacement and ease return or relocation (ibid.: 47). Perhaps surprisingly given its conflict-focused mandate, it also makes reference to strengthening the disaster preparedness of its member societies, such as in the Middle East. (ibid.: 369).

The clearest evidence of emergency preparedness from the case studies is drawn from the Philippines. Here the ICRC reported expenditure of \$1.7 million in 2012 and 2013 for preparedness activities, largely targeting the conflictaffected population of Mindanao. In addition, the ICRC released stocks and supplied its own staff to assist when Typhoon Bopha struck the country in 2012.

Multilateral banks

Multilateral banks' investments in risk management for disasters tend to mirror international engagement in general. Where risk management is high on the agenda, it is also for the banks, often informing their country assistance strategies.

The involvement of multilateral banks in the five country contexts mirrors very closely general international engagement in emergency preparedness. Where risk is high on the agenda for international and national communities, it is also so for the banks, as can be seen in the Philippines, Haiti and, to a lesser extent, Niger. Where the relationship between the international community and a country has changed, so does the work of the banks. This can be seen politically in the opening up of Myanmar to the international community in general, and also in relation to risk, such as the massive impact of Haiti's earthquake and the sudden surge in international support. The type of emergency preparedness activities funded depends largely on the context. Bank strategies have a very clear focus on disaster risk in the Philippines. Both the World Bank⁵⁶ and the Asian Development Bank (ADB) have substantial risk programming in the country. The World Bank has 10 initiatives under way in the area of DRR, a mix of both stand-alone capacity-building programmes and programmes with a heavy risk-related cross-cutting element. Four of these are for the Philippines alone, the rest being regional. One of the country-level programmes is implemented through GFDRR funding. The three remaining programmes are:

- 'Capacity-Building Post-Disaster Needs Assessment (PDNA) and Transparent Monitoring of Disaster-Related Expenditures' – \$500,000
- 'Reducing Vulnerability to Flooding in Metro Manila' \$1.6 million
- 'Supporting Local Government Capacity to Manage Natural Disaster Risks in the Philippines' – \$1.1 million.

There are elements of preparedness within each of these (especially in the building of long-term national response capacity).⁵⁷

In Niger, both World Bank and African Development Bank (AfDB) strategy papers (2005-2012 and 2013-2016 respectively) recognise that the country is seriously challenged by drought and flood, and both banks state these as priority issues to be addressed (World Bank, 2013d; AfDB, 2013a). The AfDB currently has two projects under way, one focusing on economic development and the other on utilisation of water resources; neither appears to include any emergency preparedness activities. The World Bank has 16 projects under way; the majority do not feature risk, but instead deal with 'competitiveness and growth', HIV/AIDs, the transport sector and support to national statistics.⁵⁸

In Haiti the World Bank has 21 ongoing projects, all but six of which started after the 2010 earthquake. Two projects are important for emergency preparedness. The first is a \$15 million 'Cholera Emergency Response Project', which has a sub-component of 'strengthening government's capacity to manage and respond to outbreaks' (World Bank, 2013e). In addition, a DRM and reconstruction project (World Bank, 2013f) is especially important; three of its five components are key – natural hazard risk assessment mainstreamed in line ministries; strengthening civil protection and improving communications/decision-making; and improving rapid response and recovery coordination. Given that the total budget of this project is \$60 million, the investment in preparedness is likely to be considerable. (The IDB has five projects under way in the country to a value of close to \$150 million; none of these incorporate preparedness.)

In Sudan, the development banks mirror the minimal focus on emergency preparedness from other mechanisms and sources. The World Bank's current portfolio (outside of the MDTF-administered projects) consists of six projects. These

⁵⁶ Note that in this section we make a distinction between the World Bank and GFDRR, the latter being a financing mechanism managed by a secretariat based within the Bank. In this section, the financing described relates to funding through the World Bank, outside of GFDRR contributions.

⁵⁷ However, none of them target preparedness alone and it is difficult to extract the exact funding levels, at least not until project completion when a line-by-line expenditure analysis can take place.

⁵⁸ One project has preparatory elements within it, however, which can be found after considerable investigation: 'agricultural/food security preparedness through preparation of local cereal banks and animal fodder banks', part of a \$15 million project. This is part of the Niger Second Food Security Support Project; see World Bank (2013e) for more details. Note that the Bank's strategy does talk of supporting more risk-related programmes in the future, including early detection of locust populations and supporting food security and the Dispositif.

cover health, education and livelihoods (World Bank, 2013g), but none relates directly to emergency preparedness. Similarly, the AfDB has two ongoing projects in the country, both related to debt management (AfDB, 2013b).

In Myanmar, conditions have only just made it possible for development banks to consider operating in the future. The World Bank is in the process of setting out its future re-engagement with the country. This includes a focus on supporting the government's efforts to transform institutions, building confidence in reform and preparing for a possible resumption of a full country programme (Peters, 2014 forthcoming). At the time of writing, the World Bank was conducting missions in Myanmar, though it is clear that there is a long way to go before the systems and processes are in place that would allow in-country funding and financial investment. Similarly, the ADB has not approved any loans in Myanmar since 1986, but a resumption of engagement is anticipated with the development of an ADB roadmap in 2012 (ADB, 2013). This sets out a range of activities, including the current interim country partnership strategy for 2012-2014, technical assistance and assessments of key economic sectors.

Private sector

Private sector investment in preparedness is limited – for various different reasons – in Sudan, Myanmar and Niger, and only isolated examples were identified. Most evidence is found in the Philippines and, increasingly, in Haiti.

Private sector investment is mixed across the five case studies. In Niger and Sudan it barely registers.⁵⁹ There are, however, individual examples in Myanmar and significant investment in the Philippines and, to a growing extent, in Haiti. The evidence from the five case studies suggests that the level of engagement with preparedness issues is correlated with the level of consciousness of risk across civil society.

Disaster risk consciousness within Filipino society is high (Kellett, 2014 forthcoming), and it is perhaps unsurprising that the private sector is also a significant and influential actor, contributing considerably to response activities and increasingly to preparedness. The case study revealed several examples, which represent only a portion of private sector investment. Yum, a restaurant chain, has contributed \$100,000 to a WFP emergency preparedness capacity-building project; the Corporate Disaster Response Network is implementing 11 local preparedness projects (worth just under \$100,000) funded by eight different companies or corporations; and Philippine Business for Social Progress (PBSP) is implementing community preparedness to a value of \$1.5 million, with funding from a range of institutional and private sector sources.

Private sector support is bolstered by government legislation. The National Disaster Risk Reduction and Management Plan (NDRRMP) and the Philippines Development Plan (PDP) name 'Industry and Services' as a specific area of focus, with the requirement to 'Assess the level of DRR awareness and activities among the private sector and disseminate materials on DRR to ensure their support, participation and cooperation'.⁶⁰ Similar encouragement to formalise the role of the private sector in risk management is seen in Haiti. In 2012 the UK funded a forward-looking review of the 2010 earthquake response, specifically to explore strategies for integrating the private sector into the Haiti Earthquake Preparedness Plan as a potential first responder.⁶¹

Preparing for conflict, according to the case study evidence, is barely articulated by the private sector, although this does not exclude the possibility that evidence could be extracted from a more detailed understanding of each country's civil society. The Philippines was the one case where the private sector did appear to be involved in emergency preparedness for conflict, in Mindanao, with business associations and the PBSP involved in 'conflict management' (Rood, 2005).⁶²

Some of Haiti's largest companies have taken up disaster preparedness very seriously, both in terms of their own preparedness (i.e. contingency plans for operations and assets) and in the services they provide – for example, the mobile communications company Digicel distributes disaster alerts via SMS. As early as 2006, a private sector coalition, the Alliance for Risk Management and Business Continuity (AGERCA), was established, with a 15-member network including companies such as Digicel, Comme II Faut, UNIBANK, Rebo, Nassa and AIC insurance. A number of AGERCA's members have facilitated the development of preparedness teams within companies, as well as the improvement of delivery mechanisms and the development of a strategic plan to engage small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in preparedness.

- 60 See annex of PDP concerning relationship with the NDRRMP (PDP, undated).
- 61 No final report for this project is yet available.
- 62 Disaggregating emergency preparedness within the set of activities that are regarded a 'conflict management' has not been possible within the frame of this study.

⁵⁹ The methodological challenges of tracing and tracking private spending on preparedness impede the extent to which we can establish the level of investment coming from the private sector. Anecdotal evidence suggests that private sector involvement in preparedness is significantly greater than the case studies have uncovered, partly due to simple under-reporting and partly because companies may not use the term 'preparedness' in the same way that the study has done. The lack of any central source of information (either national or international) for understanding the full contribution of the private sector in any of the five countries adds to this challenge, and tracking therefore remains ad hoc at best. Where possible, additional detail is provided in each of the five case studies.

Box 4.2: Philippines private sector and preparedness: growing and shared experiences

Philippine Business for Social Progress (PBSP) is the country's 'largest business-led social development organisation'. It works with its 243 member companies to integrate corporate social responsibility (CSR) into their core work, and examines the impact of business on the country's growth. It also has a philanthropic wing; in 2012 it reported giving support to more than 14 million people, both from its members and from other sources. Its work on preparedness comes as part of a DRR/CCA agenda.

The Corporate Network for Disaster Response is similar to the PBSP, and focuses on disasters in particular. Again sponsored by a mix of member and external contributions, it works in areas from disaster response to preparedness, with a particular focus on the country's most vulnerable areas. One of the most promising public-private sector partnerships for emergency preparedness (and indeed for a wide range of risk-related activities) is the Philippine Disaster Recovery Foundation (PDRF). Set up after the 2009 typhoon season, the PDRF is venturing beyond reconstruction into ex-ante initiatives, such as using mobile phone company installations to install rain gauges for monitoring purposes.

The Filipino private sector is also expanding its influence and sharing its expertise beyond its own borders. In early 2013, SM Prime Holdings (the country's largest chain of shopping malls) became a member of UNISDR's Private Sector Advisory Group (see UNISDR, 2013b).

- 63 See case studies for Myanmar (Peters, 2013), Sudan (Hockley, 2013) and Niger (Robitaille et al., 2014 forthcoming).
- 64 It should be noted that the lack of data available in Myanmar does not negate the likelihood of business investment in preparedness nationally, especially through informal or small community-based enterprises. This is anecdotally reported in the case study, but data is lacking on its scale.
- 65 See, for example, PwC's report of 'significant developments in Myanmar's economic and social landscape, which have resulted in optimism from the global business community' (PwC, 2012: 4).
- 66 The leveraging of PPPs has also been considered by at least one of the country's main donors, USAID. USAID is promoting PPPs through its latest Global Development Alliance (GDA) Annual Programme Statement (APS) call, with up to \$1 million available for each collaboration. In 2013, one of the funding opportunities focuses on DRR and preparedness in Myanmar, Thailand and Vietnam, with private funding to at least match USAID contributions.
- 67 In Haiti, and in comparable cases beyond the five case study countries, the potential for disasters to undermine the economic growth of a country is helping make the case for the need to more proactively consider risk management as a factor affecting economic growth. As an example, in the aftermath of the 2010 Haiti earthquake, the Post-Earthquake Disaster Needs Assessment 2010 and the Action Plan for National Recovery and Development of Haiti included DRM as a cross-cutting priority for both the public and private sectors. In addition to managing and reducing risk, DRM was presented as an opportunity to support decentralisation, strengthen civil society and promote CSR and innovation in the private sector. As noted by GFDRR, the inclusion of DRM in these plans and strategies demonstrates a consensus within the Government of Haiti and its partners on the importance of integrating DRM 'as a core component of sustainable poverty reduction and economic growth' (World Bank and GFDRR, 2010: 4).
- 68 For example, while we note that more than \$1.3 billion of private funding arrived in Haiti in the post-earthquake period (much of which came from private sector companies, corporations or foundations), accounting for one third of humanitarian financing that year (OCHA FTS), we are unable to track how flexible the use of this funding was, i.e. whether it was also directed to preparedness activities.
- 69 See Kent and Burke (2011). This report outlines the current scale of private sector involvement in humanitarian response, preparedness and DRR; it sees preparedness as a yet undefined role for the private sector, but one likely to see growth.

Evidence from the other countries reveals little private sector engagement with preparedness issues.63 In Myanmar, only a few minor examples of private financial support to response and recovery or reconstruction were identified.⁶⁴ For example, Serge Pun Associates of Singapore, one of the largest foreign companies present in the country, assisted with response and built a model village following Cyclone Nargis. A report by Trocaire (2011) discusses the role of Myanmar's private sector in humanitarian response, largely through the philanthropic work of companies in responding to Cyclone Nargis. It may be reasonable to consider that under likely improved conditions for private business,65 current support for response may venture into preparedness, something that Trocaire anticipates in recommending public-private partnerships (PPPs) for DRR.66

In summary, private sector engagement with preparedness varies considerably. Only in the Philippines and Haiti has the level of risk consciousness in civil society prompted national private sector involvement. In the Philippines this has evolved over several decades, while in Haiti it was largely a spontaneous reaction to the shock of the 2010 earthquake. Evidence from the case studies does suggest potential for growth, especially given the increasing interest in disaster risk in general and its impact on economic development and growth.⁶⁷ The role of international corporations needs further investigation. While the case studies suggest that this is limited to a few cases in Haiti,⁶⁸ Myanmar and the Philippines (at least in terms of financing), actual preparedness activities are considerably under-reported.⁶⁹

Table 4.5: Overview of the scale and scope of emergency preparedness financingin case study countries

	Humanitarian funding mec	hanism/tool			Direct donor funding
	CERF	САР	CHF	ERF	Bilateral donor – humanitarian
Haiti	In both 2012 and 2013 the CERF contributed several million dollars for projects that mixed response, preparedness and presentation in relation to cholera. Value a proportion of \$1.9 million	The CAP included preparedness as a key issue in 2010, 2011 and 2012. But funding for preparedness remains limited. Estimated maximum \$2 million	No CHF present	11 ERF projects specifically identified as having preparedness components in 2011. Ten of these were for cholera. One stand-out project is the funding of a CDAC network in Haiti. Estimated value a portion of \$3.5 million	Substantial attention to wider DRR from USAID and ECHO over a long period. Total value to preparedness difficult to track. \$3.5 million from ECHO, \$300,000 from USAID minimum values in recent years
Philippines	Only two of 40 projects (for WFP) have had partial preparedness objectives. Value a proportion of \$2.7 million over two years	Since 2004 there have been six UN consolidated or flash appeals, with \$394.9 million from 352 projects, of which only 11 have had a partial preparedness objective. Total funded \$2.7 million	No CHF present	No ERF present	Mostly Australia and United States, funding largely humanitarian coordination and preparedness for response. Value: \$29.6 million
Niger	Provided \$1 million to WHO and UNICEF to prevent cholera and treat victims. UNHRC received \$2 million for IDPs. Preparedness components exist but remain hidden and rare. Emergency preparedness a proportion of \$3 million	Preparedness is central to the CAP, one of three pillars under a resilience 'objective'. Of 83 projects in the most recent appeal, 53 have some preparedness element. Emergency preparedness funding estimated at \$14 million	No CHF present	No ERF present	A part-humanitarian, part- development SDC support project to the Dispositif
Myanmar	Minor preparedness funding, for UNFPA for health-related preparedness. Value unknown.	The post-Nargis appeal was the only official CAP – a flash appeal. Two projects for 'DRR and preparedness' are traceable. Value \$4.5 million	No CHF present	Allocated \$8.2 million to national and international NGOs in conflict-affected areas and with IDPs. ⁷⁰ No evidence of emergency preparedness activities	Preparedness features strongly for a few donors, especially ECHO, USAID, AusAID; however, for most except ECHO there is no disaggregation from larger DRR programmes. Known value: \$3.15 million over two years
Sudan	Funding allocated often for underfunded priorities within the Work Plan. No evidence of emergency preparedness in any of these projects	2013 Work Plan is appealing for over \$983 million to implement 364 projects, it is estimated about 3% of this overall requested volume. Value through the CAP estimated at \$3 million.	The 2013 CHF, used to finance 10% of the Work Plan, includes references to preparedness in the majority of sector priorities. Value impossible to gauge	No ERF present	No financing discovered

Key: No fill indicates no mechanism/tool present or used, light grey indicates minimal emergency preparedness included in the mechanism/tool, darker grey indicates more substantive financial support for emergency preparedness. The estimated value of

	Risk-focused mechan	isms	Climate adaptation mechanisms			
Bilateral donor – development	GFDRR	CPR TTF	LDCF	Adaptation Fund	Pilot Programme on Climate Resilience	
None tracked	Nine projects funded, eight after the 2010 earthquake. Four projects contain elements of preparedness. Value a proportion of \$3.2 million	\$3.9 million for early recovery, unlikely to have preparedness component. \$219,000 for DRR for co-managed core resources. Value a proportion of \$0.2 million	Three projects funded to the value of \$6.4 million. One project in particular references 'reducing disaster risk in agriculture', valued at \$2.7 million and implemented by FAO. Value a proportion of \$2.7 million.	No funding	One project (\$0.4 million) to design a national programme for climate resilience. No clear emergency preparedness component	
Japanese development funding for long-term early warning infrastructure and institutional development. Value: \$35.3 million	GFDRR has funded five projects to date: A 'support to the DRM agenda' project will likely have emergency preparedness components. Value a proportion of \$2.7 million	\$66,429 from co-managed core resources, for 'response'. No emergency preparedness funding identified	No funding	No funding	No funding	
Both the EC and SDC support the Dispositif. Total value: around \$16 million	Not a priority country – no funding	\$2.1 million for conflict prevention (of which \$600,000 from CPR funds, the rest from UNDP core funding). Value a proportion of \$2.1 million	Four projects since 2009. The most likely inclusion of emergency preparedness is through \$3.75 million to UNDP for 'scaling up community-based adaptation'. Value a proportion of \$3.75 million	No funding	Delivered \$100 million in 2011 and 2012. Preparedness activities are seen in three climate forecasting projects worth \$13.5 million. Emergency preparedness components in the remainder – water resources and community action – very difficult to track. Value a considerable part of \$13.5 million	
No financing discovered	Not a priority country – no funding	\$375,000 for early recovery unlikely to have preparedness components, \$53,000 for response. No emergency preparedness funding identified	One project, solely to develop the NAPA. No emergency preparedness components	No funding	No funding	
Japan funded FAO for agricultural preparedness in Blue Nile and South Kordofan regions. No total figure for preparedness available	Not a priority country – no funding	No recent funding	Three projects financed, to a value of just over \$6 million. No obvious emergency preparedness components	No funding	No funding	

emergency preparedness for each mechanism in each case study is indicated in bold. Where the exact preparedness value is not known, this may be indicated as 'value part of x million.'

⁷⁰ http://www.unocha.org/roap/about-us/ocha-asia-and-pacific/myanmar/myanmar-emergency-response-fund

4.4 Summary: the current state of emergency preparedness financing

This research suggests that investment in systems, processes and projects for emergency preparedness by the national and international community occurs in discrete, concentrated efforts. Yet coverage of all the requirements (geographical, sectoral and temporal) falls far short of need. Critically, from an international perspective, a coherent or coordinated approach across humanitarian and development action from the international community is consistently lacking. Inadequate emergency preparedness is therefore not just about the volume of funding. Across each of the five contexts the research team noted the lack of a shared vision or shared plan of action that would articulate risks. needs, responsibilities, programmes and activities (with connections to national plans and systems). And, despite the evident need, attention to emergency preparedness (or rather the persistent lack of it) still coalesces around the existing financing architecture rather than targeting 'need' or responding to 'risk'.71

Despite the evident need, attention to emergency preparedness (or rather the persistent lack of it) still coalesces around the existing financing architecture rather than targeting 'need' or responding to 'risk'

In fact, all of the mechanisms and channels analysed here fund at least some part of the emergency preparedness matrix. Humanitarian funding mechanisms play a considerable role, in some cases despite their mandate; anecdotal evidence suggests this is in part due to the absence of other channels of finance. We have tracked elements of preparedness in the CHFs, ERFs and even the CERF, as well through consolidated appeals. In general, financing for emergency preparedness comes largely from humanitarian sources (mechanisms and donors) and there is evidence that the apparent logic and rationale for investing in emergency preparedness is in part crowded out by the humanitarian financing architecture, which inhibits more proactive and sustained preparedness efforts. The most significant financing (in terms of volume) is for support to 'preparedness for response' activities, with a focus on coordination (both national and international), logistics, training and prepositioning. The evidence from the case studies is that the bulk of funding for these activities - where it is available

 is not concerned with building the long-term capacity of national actors, which reflects the limitations of the mechanisms.

The risk-focused mechanisms we have analysed in some detail - GFDRR and the UNDP CPR TTF - fund activities in the case study countries that are priorities for their intervention, and this financing is more likely to go towards longer-term preparedness activities, usually as part of a larger package of work and usually focused on natural disasters. There is some evidence that development money for emergency preparedness direct from donors is encompassed within broader DRR or climate-related goals, or sometimes for resilience or poverty reduction. Where we can identify development money from larger initiatives, we see that it goes primarily towards longerterm DRR initiatives, largely attached to legislation, institution-building and key technical areas such as early warning and risk assessment. Climate adaptation financing, at least in the case study countries, connects with emergency preparedness exclusively where climate risk meets DRM, with shared objectives largely towards the development end of the preparedness continuum.72

A key issue for attracting emergency preparedness financing in each of the case study countries is the availability of in-country donors, especially worrying for countries that have little profile or lack financing tools and mechanisms that can engage donors beyond the country itself. There is also some evidence of donor fragmentation, which is exacerbated by a lack of funding coordination for risk management across each context. On balance, most donors' funding of preparedness appears to come through consolidated appeals, which represent both a long-term engagement with complex emergencies and a tool for non-resident donors to fund preparedness activities. However, even when the CAP has an overall target or goal of preparedness, such as in Niger, actual funding levels are relatively low - an articulation of emergency preparedness needs is no guarantee that funding will come. There appears to be a gap between country-level prioritisation of emergency preparedness and donor engagement. On the other hand, there is evidence that multilateral development banks can act as substantial donors themselves when 'risk' is put at the heart of their

⁷¹ In addition, resources for emergency preparedness are sometimes 'hidden' by the way it is defined and managed; there is, for example, evidence of a key role being played in agencies providing other resources (such as core funding, humanitarian or risk-related programming) towards emergency preparedness, without it being identified as such. It is also important to note that the lack of shared semantics, coding and reporting of emergency preparedness has been shown throughout the case studies to considerably inhibit our understanding of all that is financed.

⁷² Perhaps unsurprisingly, evidence from the case studies shows that, despite having this shared risk agenda, financing for CCA and DRR is often segregated, with largely separate agencies, either national or international, involved.

country strategies. Given that banks respond to a great extent to a country's own priorities, this happens naturally when a country itself has a high consciousness of risk, such as in the Philippines.

For conflict preparedness, the picture is very mixed across the different contexts, with this being largely a secondary concern, in different ways depending on the context. In the Philippines, agencies (both national and international) direct their disaster-related resources towards preparing for conflict in Mindanao. In Myanmar, the little conflict preparedness that exists is focused almost exclusively on food and non-food items. There is little segregation of conflict preparedness from overall food security needs in Niger. In Sudan, conflict is the major issue, and response dominates. Although in some ways it is secondary to other objectives, preparedness for conflict is not non-existent; the consolidated appeal in Sudan, for example, which barely mentions preparedness specifically, articulates emergency preparedness activities that are clearly in response to predicted conflict.

National governments appear to have a rational and logical approach to financing for preparedness (if we exclude conflict situations). In all of the case studies, even though overall funding is low (except in the Philippines), national governments (and to an extent civil society) are unified by delivering legislation and policy for creating an adequate system and processes for disaster preparedness, usually as part of a long-term set of DRR measures. However, needs obviously remain at a country level, and arguably these could be prioritised by the international system. Long-term technical capacity-building, some of which is already under way, is needed even in the most positive of contexts - the Philippines – as the recent devastating Typhoon Haiyan highlights. To an extent, although the contexts are very different, Haiti and Niger are in similar need of support for long-term preparedness. In Sudan and Myanmar, there is much to be done to get even the basics of 'preparedness for response' up and running, and the reasons are largely the same in both contexts, though in different ways: the

An articulation of emergency preparedness needs is no guarantee that funding will come. There appears to be a gap between country-level prioritisation of emergency preparedness and donor engagement

challenge of aid financing in general and the heavy focus on humanitarian financing. Recent evidence suggests that the international community has some way to go to prioritise financing in the right places (in terms of risk, need or domestic capacity) (see Kellett and Caravani, 2013).

In summary, the evidence from all five case study countries suggests that emergency preparedness is inadequate regardless of the context. There is unequal attention across the range of activities, with an abundance of actors working on some activities and significant gaps in others. This is not to suggest that there should be equal weighting across all activities, but that weighting should be appropriate to the nature and scale of that activity. Overall, the financing picture for emergency preparedness is both unnecessarily complicated and piecemeal at best, a situation that is exacerbated rather than combated by the international aid architecture. Where noteworthy actions have taken place, they have not added the value that they potentially could have done, had a stronger systematic approach to preparedness been adopted by all actors engaged in high-risk areas.

5. The business case for emergency preparedness

Niger and beyond



5. The business case for emergency preparedness: Niger and beyond

Key messages

- In Niger, the monetary benefits of investing in preparedness in relation to drought clearly outweigh the costs; this suggests a fiduciary duty on the part of donors and the government to focus more support on emergency preparedness.
- The benefit-to-cost ratios for emergency preparedness in Niger are positive across all scenarios, ranging from \$3.25 of benefit generated for every \$1 spent, on conservative estimates, up to \$5.31 for every \$1 spent.
- Findings support further investment in emergency preparedness activities, as the benefits far outweigh the costs in terms of reduced caseloads, unit cost of response and disaster losses.
- The international community has a stronger role to play to support systems of preparedness for conflict, even in the most challenging of working environments. To date, conflict preparedness (as a concept, and in practice) has been neglected.
- Change will cost; minor adjustments to existing mechanisms will not be enough to adequately support preparedness on a global scale.
- Evidence is lacking on the costs and benefits of emergency preparedness, and so what we know of the value of preparedness is only a fraction of what it could offer.

5.1 The costs and benefits of emergency preparedness

It is increasingly being recognised that, in a changing political and economic landscape, a risk-based approach to development and humanitarian work offers maximum potential to use ODA to great effect (see Mitchell et al., 2012). A risk-based approach aligns with the recent trend in 'resilience' (Harris, 2013) and economic analyses that build the evidence base for why ex-ante investment and action are cost-effective (Cabot Venton et al., 2014 forthcoming; Mechler, 2014 forthcoming). Yet this is not just an agenda for the international community. A more risk-informed approach to development, and the ambition to pursue a sustainable development trajectory, require national ownership and responsibility for preparedness actions. This necessitates improved national fiscal policy, allocations to preparedness in budgetary processes and improved understanding of the national financial contributions required to address in-country preparedness needs.

The national landscape must be at the forefront of all international efforts to build the capacity to respond to both natural hazards and man-made crises within any country context. Where the international community has a stronger role to play is in better understanding what conflict preparedness can entail, and to support national systems to strengthen preparedness for conflict even in the most challenging of working environments.

Evidence on the costs and benefits of emergency preparedness is lacking in relation to other interventions, thus what we know of the value of emergency preparedness is only a fraction of what preparedness could offer. Moreover, challenges abound in coding and quantifying emergency preparedness, inhibiting the generation of reliable and quantifiable evidence on preparedness spending in individual contexts (see Bird et al., 2014 forthcoming). Yet there is growing interesting in providing quantitative evidence to back up what humanitarians have argued for decades in relation to preparedness and broader risk-based approaches to development. Decision-makers and donors are increasingly becoming interested in the 'business case' for investing in disaster risk management. There is a small but growing trend for using cost-benefit analysis (CBA) as a tool for comparing the costs and benefits of interventions in order to make this case. Yet emergency preparedness, as one critical element of risk management contributing to reducing risk, has not previously been studied specifically in this regard.

Box 5.1: Research into the cost benefits of emergency preparedness

A background paper for this report suggests that the economic case for DRM – which incorporates emergency preparedness for natural hazards – is strong and that the benefits of investing in DRM outweigh the costs of doing so – on average by four times the cost in terms of avoided and reduced losses (see Mechler, 2014 forthcoming).

Mechler's paper highlights how preparedness has increasingly been tackled, with 10 out of the 30 prominent studies it reviewed having a preparedness component. Nine of these cover emergency/response preparedness in terms of considering the returns to land use and evacuation planning, training and capacity-building, early warning, shelters and the provision of emergency kits. Also, three studies cover systemic preparedness interventions, such as the establishment of women's self-help groups. Overall, the preparedness studies seem to offer substantial net benefits across different evaluations, hazards and locations. While some interventions exhibit benefit/ cost ratios of less than

1 (i.e. interventions were not considered costefficient), many times these ratios are positive, and an upper value of 4 for the best estimates per study seems a reasonable number for this set of studies. Variation is high, however, and the gains from preparedness may often even outweigh benefits from exposure modification,⁷³ with ranges of benefitsto-cost ratio estimates from early warning of up to 70 and preparedness (in terms of planning and enhancing resilience) of up to 24.

5.2 Emergency preparedness in Niger: a cost-benefit analysis

As part of this research, a detailed investigation was carried out into the costs and benefits of emergency preparedness in Niger (Cabot Venton et al., 2014 forthcoming). The findings provide indicative evidence that there is a clear financial imperative for greater investment in effective preparedness in the country. The monetary benefits of investing in preparedness in relation to drought – assuming that is it implemented in a manner that delivers the expected gains – clearly outweigh the costs. This suggests a clear fiduciary duty on the part of donors and the Government of Niger (GoN) to focus more support on emergency preparedness.

The cost of support

The GoN's Annual Support Plan (*Plan de Soutien*) estimates overall needs for food security and nutrition assistance, related to all hazards. It has allocated an average of \$231 million per year over the six years between 2008 and 2013. In 2013, the Support Plan estimated the cost of emergency preparedness at \$14.1 million, equivalent to approximately 6% of the total costs estimated for that year. In addition, in November 2011 the 2012 consolidated appeal stood at \$229 million. By the time of its revision in April 2012, needs had reached a total of \$487 million. With needs in Niger on a staggering scale, the benefits of emergency preparedness are of heightened importance, and have been articulated as:

- reduced unit cost of response
- reduced caseloads and
- reduced losses.

The cost of humanitarian response is likely to decrease if emergency preparedness measures are in place and functioning well

Reduced unit cost of response

The cost of humanitarian response is likely to decrease if emergency preparedness measures are in place and functioning well. This is for a variety of reasons – for example, contingency planning can allow for pre-

⁷³ Adapted from IPCC (2012), exposure modification refers here to 'the presence of people; livelihoods; environmental services and resources; infrastructure; or economic, social, or cultural assets in places that could be adversely affected'.

positioning of stocks, leading to a reduction in last-minute transport costs, and sourcing of supplies can be prearranged at lower price points. WFP Niger estimates that pre-planning in response to drought could reduce aid costs (food and non-food aid) to 89% of the cost under a scenario without any pre-planning, based largely on reduced costs of cereal prices and transport costs (Ballo and Bauer, 2013). These savings are also applicable for flooding and conflict, as the savings on pre-planning apply to food and non-food aid in any emergency as it arises.⁷⁴ This would suggest that the cost of humanitarian response could decrease from an average annual estimate of \$217 million under the *Plan de Soutien* to an annual average of \$193 million.

Reduced caseloads

Emergency preparedness is also expected to lead to a reduction in caseloads, by facilitating early response before asset depletion has taken hold. This will be true especially in the context of drought, as slow-onset disasters present a greater opportunity to intervene before a crisis stage has been reached. In the case of floods or conflict, while the reduction in caseloads may not be as pronounced, emergency preparedness measures such as evacuation plans and early warning should facilitate a decrease in loss of lives and assets.

Ballo and Bauer (2013) use the Household Economy Approach to model the reduction in caseloads that could occur with an early response to drought in Niger. The modelling suggests that caseloads from an early response to a high-magnitude drought are 51% of the caseloads under a late response (Cabot Venton and Coulter, 2013). Applying this potential reduction to the cost of response as a result of preparedness is not straightforward, however. The Plan de Soutien provides an aggregate cost of response for all events. However, it is unlikely that this level of reduction could be achieved for rapid-onset events such as floods and conflict - the reductions are likely to be much smaller, but data does not exist to quantify them. Applying a reduction in caseloads to the cost-benefit figures identified suggests that humanitarian response costs would decrease even further to an average annual cost of \$98 million, a total reduction in humanitarian response costs of \$119 million.

Reduced losses

Emergency preparedness aims to reduce losses due to the impact of crisis – early warning and contingency planning, for instance, can reduce losses associated with lost lives, assets and livelihoods. Because data on reduced losses with preparedness measures is not available with any certainty, the analysis looks at three potential scenarios. Under the most conservative assumption, losses are estimated to decrease by 10%, a second scenario considers a 20% reduction in losses and a third scenario considers a 30% reduction in losses. These percentages were chosen as illustrations, but are considered to be conservative.

Table 5.1: Estimated reduction in lossesand value of reduction

Value of reduction
\$4m
\$8m
\$12m

Costs

The cost of emergency preparedness measures is described in two plans: the *Plan de Soutien* (estimated at FCFA 6.96 billion, or \$14.1 million) and a GoN flood risk management plan (estimated at FCFA 50.18 billion, or \$101.4 million for three years, equivalent to \$33.8 million per year). The total estimated cost of emergency preparedness is therefore \$47.9 million per year.

Benefit-to-cost ratio

The costs and benefits outlined above were input into a 20-year model, to estimate the costs of emergency preparedness as compared with the benefits, monetised in terms of avoided costs of aid and disaster losses. Because of the number of assumptions required in the modelling, three scenarios were modelled, varying the assumptions around the absolute level of disaster losses, the potential reduction in disaster losses and the discount rate.⁷⁵ Table 5.2 summarises the three scenarios modelled, ranging from the most conservative assumptions to the least conservative.

The benefit-to-cost ratio (BCR) for each of these scenarios is presented in Table 5.3.

The BCRs are positive across all scenarios. In the most conservative scenario, it is estimated that \$3.25 of benefit is generated for every \$1 spent, and this increases as high

⁷⁴ While this was not specifically explored in Ballo and Bauer (2013), WFP did a similar analysis in Mozambique for both flooding and drought, and found that similar levels of savings in unit cost were achieved.

⁷⁵ The discount rate is used to reflect the time value of money. In other words, a dollar today is considered more valuable than a dollar tomorrow, because it can be put towards productive purposes immediately. A 10% discount rate is typical for most development projects and is used here.

Table 5.2: Modelling scenarios

Parameter	Scenario 1	Scenario 2	Scenario 3
Disaster losses	\$44m – annualised crop losses	\$88m – doubling of losses	\$132m – tripling of losses
Reduction in losses	10% (\$4m)	20% (\$18m)	30% (\$40m)
Discount rate	10%	5%	0%

Table 5.3: Benefit-to-cost ratio

BCR	
3.25	
4.00	
5.31	
	3.25 4.00

as \$5.31 of benefit for every \$1 spent in Scenario 3 in the least conservative. The findings clearly support the case for investment in emergency preparedness activities, as the benefits in terms of reduced caseloads and disaster losses far outweigh the costs.

5.3 Effectiveness analysis for emergency preparedness in Niger

Cost-effectiveness analysis is used to assess the cost of various measures to achieve a given outcome. However, in this analysis, the aim is not to weigh up different components of emergency preparedness; it would not be appropriate to invest in some measures and not others, as preparedness measures are inter-related and designed to work together. Having an extensive early warning system, for example, will be of marginal use if governments and communities do not have the capacity to act on information. In the case of emergency preparedness, the objective is to reduce the cost of recovery per person (in other words, the cost per person to return them to a pre-disaster state). Here, this cost is compared for the counterfactual – i.e. late humanitarian response – and emergency preparedness.

Drought and floods

The Economics of Early Response and Resilience (TEERR) reports on Niger conducted extensive modelling, based on probabilistic hazard assessment for drought, and using the Household Economy Approach dataset (see Ballo and Bauer, 2013). The WFP research found that the average cost of response per person under the counterfactual – late humanitarian response with no emergency preparedness – was between \$92 and \$106. By comparison, under early response, including early procurement and pre-positioning of supplies, WFP estimated that the cost of humanitarian response would be \$41 per person. Furthermore, the modelling estimated that caseloads would decrease by half, reducing the cost of response to effectively \$20 per person.⁷⁶ This implies an average annualised cost per person of

Table 5.4: Summary cost-effectivenessanalysis for droughts and floods

Cost per person affected	Drought	Flood				
	Drought					
Counterfactual: late humanitarian response						
a. Aid costs	\$92	\$46				
b. Annualised	\$30	\$9				
Late: total cost per person	\$30	\$9				
Emergency preparedness/	early respon	se				
a. Aid costs	\$41	\$23				
b. Adjusted for reduction in caseloads	\$2078	\$23 ⁷⁹				
c. Annualised	\$7	\$5				
d. Cost of emergency preparedness	\$12–\$21	\$60				
Early: total cost per person (c+d)	\$19–\$28	\$65				

between \$30 and \$35 under the counterfactual, as compared with \$7 per person under early response/emergency preparedness.⁷⁷

Emergency preparedness does not eliminate the need for humanitarian response, but it does significantly reduce it. When its cost is combined with the residual need for

78 Reduction in caseloads in drought estimated at 50%.

79 Reduction in caseloads in flood estimated at 0%.

⁷⁶ These costs specifically relate to high- and medium-magnitude droughts, which have a return period of once every three years in Niger.

⁷⁷ These figures refer purely to humanitarian response costs, and do not include losses. Clearly savings would also include a reduction in losses, though data in this regard is weak and therefore cannot be included in this analysis

humanitarian response, the total cost is between \$19 and \$28 per person per year. At the high end, this suggests that an emergency preparedness scenario would cost half that of late humanitarian response. At the low end, costs of emergency preparedness are slightly lower than the counterfactual.

Emergency preparedness does not eliminate the need for humanitarian response, but it does significantly reduce it

The cost of emergency preparedness in Niger, as contained in the *Plan de Soutien*, is between \$12 and \$21 per person per year. This amount needs to be invested every year, regardless of whether a drought takes place, to ensure that the systems and capacity are ready when a crisis strikes.

Floods occur more or less every other year in Niger, but medium-magnitude floods that require more consistent humanitarian response occur on average once every five years.⁸⁰ Despite their prevalence, data on floods is far more limited, though the government assessment of the 2012 floods provides some useful data. This is used to annualise the estimated cost of response. The indicative estimate used here shows the cost of response at between \$46 and \$53 per person. By way of comparison, the cost of response per person affected in the 2012 floods – a one-in-100-year event – was \$55 per person,⁸¹ very much in line with these estimates.

Under an early response/emergency preparedness scenario, costs would be reduced by approximately half, to between \$23 and \$27 per person. However, caseloads are less likely to decrease in a rapid-onset event as compared with a slow-onset event, where there is significantly more lead time to act to reduce caseloads. Therefore, it is assumed that caseloads under flooding are not affected by early response/emergency preparedness.

Cost-effectiveness analysis: the caveats

The findings for floods suggest that emergency preparedness is not more cost-effective than the counterfactual. However, this is based purely on comparing aid costs with emergency preparedness costs; and emergency preparedness costs are estimated on the basis of the flood response plan for contingency measures for a one-in-100-year flood and therefore are likely to be out of proportion to the kinds of measures necessary for a one-in-five-year flood. Further to this, this analysis was not able to account for potential losses, or for losses avoided under emergency preparedness, which are likely to be significant.

The effectiveness of an emergency preparedness plan will depend on the degree to which these various criteria are properly assessed and incorporated. For example, while the quantitative analysis suggests that emergency preparedness is more cost-effective than the current approach, this conclusion relies heavily upon the assumption that emergency preparedness measures will be fit for purpose and hence effective at delivering gains. An emergency preparedness plan that is not carefully designed, or does not account for the various criteria listed above, may fail to deliver outcomes, and hence ultimately be more expensive than 'business as usual'.

⁸⁰ Personal communication by Courtenay Cabot Venton, WFP, October 2013.

⁸¹ Total aid costs of approximately \$30m divided by 547,000 people affected.

6. Understanding what makes for effective financing of emergency preparedness

6. Understanding what makes for effective financing of emergency preparedness

Key messages

- Humanitarian financing mechanisms and tools are not a 'silver bullet' to financing emergency
 preparedness. The CERF, ERFs, CHFs and CAP offer varied possibilities, but also have a number
 of constraints to better financing.
- Climate adaptation funds also offer considerable potential for expanding into more specific preparedness financing. There are shared weaknesses too, however: none of the funds supports preparedness for non-climate-related risks or conflict.
- The two mechanisms with a specific focus on risk (GFDRR and UNDP CPR TTF) perform strongly in the framework questions, warranting further exploration.
- The entrenched, bifurcated donor government structure has contributed to establishing an artificial divide between development and humanitarian communities; both provide a partial solution to improved financing of emergency preparedness.
- Unless country-based funding is allocated using a tailored percentage relative to in-country needs, earmarking of funds is a somewhat arbitrary exercise.
- Simply increasingly volumes of funding for preparedness will not overcome the non-financial challenges identified and – as the example of the Philippines suggests – may add confusion to an already complicated preparedness picture.

BOX 6.1: METHODOLOGICAL APPROACH FOR DETERMINING THE 'BEST FIT' MECHANISM

The methodological approach for determining the 'best fit' mechanism involved i). detailed analysis of the case studies (Section 4), ii). research into emergency preparedness financing mechanisms beyond the case study countries (Sections 3 and 6), iii). Identification of a set of key determining questions for effective and efficient emergency preparedness.

The five case studies were analysed in detail to come up with a comprehensive list of criteria identified as enabling effective and efficient emergency preparedness.

The importance of each criterion to each country was then considered, indicating the extent to which the countries meet that criterion. Each of these was then ranked by the overall importance given to them by the full range of case studies.

As not all criteria examined are seen as essential for effective and efficient financing of preparedness, or at least not for the financing mechanisms themselves, each was closely examined and a decision was made on what was appropriate to be included as key questions specifically for financing. These questions were then brought together into a framework of questions, as indicated in Table 2.3.

The questions were then used to analyse each of the core mechanisms and channels of financing in order to identify the 'best fit' mechanism for financing emergency preparedness (see Table 6.1).

Answers to these questions were then considered in the light of an examination of core mechanisms beyond case study countries and the current context of preparedness policy debate, to come up with a set of options for improved emergency preparedness (see Section 7).

For further details of the methodology used in this report, including the criteria for effective/efficient preparedness, the importance of the criteria across contexts and the appropriate of criteria to financing, see the background documents.

6.1 Identifying the 'best fit' mechanism for financing emergency preparedness

Section 4 demonstrates the clear need to reconsider or re-imagine the design of the current funding system in order to effectively finance emergency preparedness. Section 5 makes it clear that there is a business case to be made for investment in emergency preparedness. This section uses the framework of questions (Table 2.3) and the ideal scenario (Figure 2.3) introduced earlier to consider the current financing mechanisms in detail. The purpose is to identify the 'best fit' tools/mechanisms, meaning those that could be targeted to strengthen the financial support provided for emergency preparedness, now and in the future.

The assumption that financing mechanisms function exactly as they were designed to is misplaced, as the evidence from the country case study shows. The analysis conducted investigated not only the mandate of the most viable mechanisms and tools, but also the way they play out in practice. Evidence from the five case studies and the background papers (including comparative cases) reveals differences in the way that financing tools and mechanisms operate at the country level.⁸² Thus Table 6.1 and the discussion below are not a 'test'; indeed, many of the mechanisms considered were not designed to fund emergency preparedness. What the analysis represents is a detailed consideration of the 'best fit' mechanism for financing emergency preparedness, based on what already exists.⁸³

Table 6.1 provides a snapshot of that analysis, which has been verified by international experts and, to the extent possible, by representatives from each of the mechanisms themselves.⁸⁴

6.2 What does this tell us about existing financing mechanisms?

Analysis of the financing mechanisms against the framework reveals certain patterns that deserve further exploration.

The humanitarian financing mechanisms and tools analysed offer varied possibilities for, but also a number of constraints to, better financing of emergency preparedness. ERFs have the weakest potential for addressing the current global preparedness gap and the weakest possibility for expansion to do so, being significantly limited by the range of actors that they can finance. The CERF offers much in terms of its own profile and in the possibility of raising the profile of emergency preparedness, a key condition that appeared repeatedly throughout the case studies and in prior evidence (see Kellett and Sweeney, 2011). However, it is weak on addressing many of the questions, especially those focused on national actors and processes, and on being connected to long-term plans and comparative advantage. The CAP and the CHFs appear to offer much more potential. Although different in form (the CHF being a funding mechanism administered in-country and the CAP largely a strategic planning and coordination tool for humanitarian interventions), they share many positive conditions for emergency preparedness. They are both strong in areas of common plans of action and reasonably strong in both accessibility to actors and in several preconditions important to national actors and processes. However, they also have weaknesses that are shared with both the CERF and the ERFs. These relate to the constraints of being countrybased humanitarian mechanisms, which limit their ability to be used as strategic tools to address global priority needs beyond the specific country in which they are established (noting, of course, that they are present in only very few of those countries that require preparedness finance). All four mechanisms fail significantly on this test. Moreover, the cost (political and financial) of expansion into a broader range of countries arguably calls all these mechanisms into guestion as feasible options for addressing the needed global reach for preparedness.

Climate adaptation funds also offer considerable potential for expanding into more specific financing of emergency preparedness, at least on the face of it. The three examined most directly in this report, the LDCF, Adaptation Fund and PPCR, have considerable strengths. These are especially noticeable in the areas of accessibility to actors and multiyear funding, as well as support to national actors and processes. There are also shared weaknesses, however. None of the funds is focused on non-climate-related risks or on preparing for conflict, and the level of integration with DRR processes, actors and planning is decidedly low. One of the key drawbacks is the significant cost involved in changing what are very clearly climate-based mechanisms to focus attention much more obviously on the range of emergency preparedness needs. Moreover, they are almost entirely devoid of links with humanitarian actors. While three mechanisms are considered here, there are others that could warrant further attention, such as the Green Climate Fund, as a potential channel of funds.

The two mechanisms with a specific focus on risk (GFDRR and the CPR TTF) have some similarities and some key differences. The main difference is that GFDRR focuses on DRR alone, while the CPR TTF looks at a wider range

⁸² For example, the CERF has funded activities which appear within the matrix of activities to be regarded as emergency preparedness (see Taylor and Couture, 2014 forthcoming).

⁸³ In the concluding sections we consider the suitability of the mechanisms, with changes to their current form, and, discuss whether 'best fit' is sufficient or whether 'transformative' adjustments to the current financing architecture are required.

⁸⁴ This table (and its qualitative comments) have been prepared in collaboration with several experts in the appropriate funding channel: Kamal Kishore (BCPR TTF), Daniel Kull (GFDRR), Smita Nakhooda, (Climate Adaptation Funds), Lisa Doughten (CERF), Shoko Arakaki (CHF, ERF).

of risks. This difference informs some of the key variations that each fund has in relation to the questions in the framework. GFDRR is strong in areas of multi-year funding, alignment with government plans and priorities, and to an extent in the area of having a prioritised set of countries for implementation. It also benefits from a reasonably high profile in and beyond the DRR community. The CPR TTF performs even more strongly than GFDRR overall. It is strong in the framework questions related to supporting long-term plans of action and comparative advantage, and equally so in demonstrating its links to national actors and processes. Unlike GFDRR, it also has the potential to focus on a range of man-made and natural hazard-related disasters. Where it has weaknesses, it is largely because at present it is a reactive fund, responding to demand, rather than looking at the wider picture of global need for preparedness. It also arguably (at least in comparison with GFDRR) arguably has a lower profile.

Finally, direct donor funding is considered, in this case limited specifically to funding that is granted bilaterally at a country level to a range of actors, from donors to UN agencies, NGOs and governments, and drawn from humanitarian and development sources. One of the key findings from phase one of this research (Kellett and Sweeney, 2011) was the entrenched nature and strength of the bifurcated donor government structure, which has contributed to establishing an artificial divide into which emergency preparedness has often fallen. While the evidence from the case studies shows some hope for joined-up interventions in the area of emergency preparedness, the picture is still largely divided into these two donor communities, development and humanitarian.

It is worth examining, however, how each of these two communities could be at least a partial solution to improved financing of emergency preparedness. Both are relatively strong compared with other solutions discussed. Both require minimal obvious costs to expand into more funding for emergency preparedness, and both can fund from government down to community actors. Humanitarian funding is slightly weaker than development funding on a number of key issues around sustainability of funding. This is especially the case for multi-year funding (or lack thereof) and alignment with government processes and priorities.⁸⁵ It is also arguably the case in the area of accessibility to key implementing actors, with humanitarian financing more unlikely to fund government actors (for many legitimate reasons, particularly in relation to working in fragile and conflict-affected contexts). Although overall development funding decided upon in-

85 Although it is recognised that on many occasions this may be intentional, as a matter of humanitarian neutrality.

country has clear potential for expansion into, or bolstering of, emergency preparedness, this would only service countries where donors are present and there is a wider political commitment for a donor country to support a state and its citizens. Thus while bilateral funding is particularly strong in addressing the framework questions related to country planning and programming, in-country donors cannot (rather obviously) look at the global picture of needs. There remains a need to channel funding based on an overall assessment of priority countries.⁸⁶

Finally, across the five country case studies, concerns were raised about rhetoric on funding for preparedness not translating into its actual availability. Earmarking funds, namely a percentage of bilateral funds, was often cited as necessary to ensuring that rhetoric on funding was translated into reality. However evidence suggests that this would be a somewhat arbitrary exercise unless countrybased funding was allocated a tailored percentage to suit incountry needs. Simply getting more funds for preparedness will not help overcome the non-financial challenges that have been identified and in fact – as in the case of the Philippines – may serve to add confusion to an already complicated preparedness picture.

6.3 Non-financial issues for effective and efficient emergency preparedness

There are also issues that are not strictly financial which impact on adequate emergency preparedness. All of the non-financial issues outlined in Table 6.2 were detected across some or all of the case study countries. Some of the non-financial issues have already been introduced, especially where they have an impact on financing itself. This should not imply that little is being done to address these challenges, but rather that there remain key issues; some of these could be addressed in part through financing, effectively incentivising good practice.

Taking a closer look at the non-financial issues affecting conflict preparedness, they are somewhat rudimentary, with a lack of clear or common understanding about what preparedness entails. In adapting the activities outlined in the preparedness matrix for conflict (Table 2.2), the activities at the more 'developmental' end of the preparedness continuum (Figure 2.2) look quite different, involving different sets of actors and types of engagement. In these areas (hazard/risk analysis, institutional and legislative frameworks, coordination) the international community is likely to play a much stronger role in conflict preparedness than in disaster preparedness (where, under stable conditions, the government should take the lead). Yet in the future this may also require consideration of different ways of engaging (see Box 6.2).

⁸⁶ Donors have other channels and routes for supporting emergency preparedness beyond bilateral in-country funding. The recommendations section considers how emergency preparedness can be supported in a range of ways by donor governments.

Table 6.1: Current funding tools and mechanisms measured against the framework of questions

		Humanitarian fundin	g mechanism/tool		
	Framework question	CERF	САР	CHF	ERF
Comprehen- siveness of decisions	Are funding decisions based on a detailed understanding o f all risks?	The CERF is demand- driven, based on humanitarian requirements and priorities identified by the HCT. Activities are prioritised taking into consideration the CERF's life-saving criteria. An analysis of short-term risks is undertaken and informs decisions.	This is possible.	This is possible.	The ERF is a short-term, response-driven fund. Risks are considered to a certain extent at the time of development of the CHF allocation strategy papers. However, there is no structured risk management framework.
	Are funding decisions based on a global assessment of priority countries?	Not based on priorities for emergency preparedness; however, the CERF refers to OCHA's Global Focus Model when deliberating on allocations, particularly in the Underfunded Emergencies analysis.	No, only based on where the CAP currently exists.	No, only based on where CHFs exist.	No, only based on where ERFs exist.
Supporting long-term plans of action and comparative advantage	Are funding decisions based on a common plan of action with defined roles and responsibilities?	No, the CERF is largely not funding emergency preparedness. However, it has allocated limited funding for early action when a common plan of action exists.	Yes, this is possible within the CAP, and it also requires detailed planning/roles and responsibilities.	Yes, this is possible, and it also requires detailed planning/roles and responsibilities.	No. That said, ERF funding decisions should be aligned with cluster priorities and overall humanitarian plans (i.e. CHAP).
	Is funding available to a range of necessary actors?	UN only.	UN, INGOs, national NGOs.	UN, INGOs, national NGOs.	UN, INGOs, national NGOs. INGOs and NGOs access funds through a UN agency that assumes financial and programmatic responsibility.
	Is the timeframe for emergency preparedness funding proportional to needs?	No, single crisis-related funding.	No, but in reality the same projects (or similar) can appear year on year.	Not explicitly, but evidence suggests that some projects are funded year on year.	No, very short- term.

87 Note that this refers to consolidated appeals, not flash appeals, the latter having little traction for emergency preparedness.

In-country donor	funding	Risk-focused finar	cing	Climate adaptat	ion mechanism	5
Bilateral donor – humanitarian	Bilateral donor – development	GFDRR	CPR TTF	LDCF	Adaptation Fund	PPCR
Evidence to date suggests that this is rarely the case, with decisions based on a combination of factors including need, media profile, political position, historical ties, etc.	Evidence to date suggests that this rarely happens. Funding is siloed across risk where it exists.	Understanding of risk is focused on natural hazards. The fund can work in contexts of conflict but does not 'prepare for conflict'.	Partially yes, as priority is given to a set of countries based on level of risk, need for support and likelihood of success. However, demand-driven nature goes against this.	Understanding of risk is focused on climatic risk. No inclusion of non-climatic risk (including conflict).	Understanding of risk is focused on climatic risk. No inclusion of non-climatic risk (including conflict).	Understanding of risk is focused on climatic risk. No inclusion of non-climatic risk (including conflict).
N/A as in this case we are talking of how donors operate in each context.	N/A as in this case we are talking of how donors operate in each context.	20 countries are prioritised by GFDRR, 11 are earmarked by donors.	Funding is limited to about 40 priority countries agreed upon with UNDP bureaux, and based on assessment of risk.	No – equal distribution of finance to all LDCs.	First come, first served.	Pilot programme working in sub-set of countries identified through expert review.
This is possible, but limited in practice by differences in humanitarian/ international focus.	Not currently, but potentially possible within current context.	Not currently, but potentially possible within current context.	Not currently, but potentially possible within current context.	Potentially possible but somewhat limited by lack of integration between climate and DRR work.	Potentially possible but somewhat limited by lack of integration between climate and DRR work.	Potentially possible but somewhat limited by lack of integration between climate and DRR work.
All possible, but emphasis towards international system.	All recipients possible.	Focus is on government and World Bank implementation. With government endorsement other actors can access; however, it is not common practice.	All recipients possible but in practice UNDP Country Offices have been the common recipients of funding.		Work through multilateral or national implementing entities; they in turn pass funding to diverse executing entities.	Programmes coordinated through ministry of finance, implemented by the MDBs; funding can be channelled through a number of entities including government, the private sector, potentially NGOs.
Funding can stretch beyond one year in some cases, but often demands that new decisions are made each year.	Funding is usually multi-year.	Funding can be multi- year.	Funding can be multi- year (typically three years but sometimes more).	Potentially possible within current context.	Potentially possible within current context.	Potentially possible within current context.

Key

Strong evidence
 Positively answers the question

Continued

Weak evidence Lacks compelling answer to the question

		Humanitarian fundin	g mechanism/tool			
	Framework question	CERF	САР	CHF	ERF	
National actors and processes	Does funding for emergency preparedness align with government plans and national stakeholder priorities?	No, response-driven, internationally focused; on the limited occasions the CERF has funded early action, it has taken into consideration government and national plans.	This is context- dependent, but can align.	This is context- dependent but can align to an extent – though funding does not go directly to government.	No, response-focused. However CHF allocations – in general – are aligned to the CAP, which provides a link to national priorities.	
	Do preparedness measures target a range of requirements at community, sub-regional and national levels?	N/A	Where preparedness is identified as a key objective, projects can exist at any level. Many CAP projects are already focused on community work.	Where preparedness is identified as a key objective, projects can exist at any level.	No.	
Strong donorship	Does the mechanism have strong M&E for transparent, accountable tracking in investment, as well as for learning?	Limited to intervention- based M&E, including the annual RC/HC reports and annual independent review in multiple countries, based on the Performance and Accountability Framework.	Mid-year review acts as an M&E 'window'.	No.	No (although the quality of M&E systems varies across countries).	
	Can the fund receive funds from a range of sources?	Yes, from almost any source.	Donors only.	Donors only.	Governments, the private sector as well as individuals can contribute funding to an ERF.	
Administration	To what extent are there administration costs in expanding work in emergency preparedness?	An additional preparedness 'window' for the CERF would not necessarily be particularly costly (but would require additional staffing in the CERF secretariat). It remains unclear as to whether a GA resolution would be needed to amend the focus of the fund.	Difficult to determine given that they are driven by complex emergencies, but unlikely to be easily or cheaply replicated.	Significant costs. Country HCT would need to approach OCHA, making the case. Would need to demonstrate the need, and likely donor support. CAP needs to be in place.	Reasonably significant costs. HCT needs to approach OCHA and make the case. Would need to make the specific case for the ERF.	
Feasibility	Is there sufficient political support behind the inclusion (or expansion) of emergency preparedness in the fund?	Independent CERF evaluations have raised the question of the place of emergency preparedness in the CERF; at present emergency preparedness is deliberately not included.	The CAP is already stretching to incorporate enhanced preparedness, an evolution of the last few years.	CHFs are relatively large, and have support in each country context. Expansion to fund emergency preparedness has to be placed firmly in the context of the CAPs, which the funds support.	Desire for expansion of ERFs in evaluations appears to emanate from a recognition that the activities are underfunded in general, rather than from any realistic expectation that ERF's can or should expand.	
Visibility	Does the mechanism have a high enough profile to push preparedness forward?	High profile, connected to media around crisis and with a yearly donor conference.	High profile, connected to media around crisis, and with a launch and mid-year review, which enhance attention.	Profile only within countries where they exist.	Profile only within countries where they exist, but set up after large disasters with global visibility.	

In-country donor	funding	Risk-focused finar	icing	Climate adaptat	ion mechanism	S
Bilateral donor – humanitarian	Bilateral donor – development	GFDRR	CPR TTF	LDCF	Adaptation Fund	PPCR
funding is much less likely to be tied to	Development funding is more likely to be tied directly to government plans and priorities.	Yes.	UNDP cannot spend any of these resources without government approval; in most cases support follows a national strategy, or can provide support for its development	It should, as funding is directed to an adaptation programme developed with stakeholder input.	It should, as funding is directed to an adaptation programme developed with stakeholder input.	It should, as funding is directed to an adaptation programme developed with the lead ministry, usually the Ministry of Finance.
This is possible.	This is possible.	GFDRR is largely not funding preparedness at local levels.	This is possible. Historically, support has included a range of activities from community to national levels.	It should, but may not in all cases.	Yes/usually.	Yes/usually.
Potentially yes.	Potentially yes.	Limited to date, but planned evaluations in preparation.	A multi-year results framework is adopted, which is compiled and published annually.	Yes.	Yes.	Yes.
No, fixed by government.	No, fixed by government.	Potentially yes, but in practice none to date.	Yes, but in practice this has been very rare.	Potentially.	Yes.	Potentially.
Costs of expanding work in emergency preparedness minimal.	Costs of expanding work in emergency preparedness minimal.	Relatively low, expanding beyond current priority countries.	Costs of expanding work in emergency preparedness minimal.	Substantial (this is not an emergency preparedness fund by design/ objective).	Significant (this is not an emergency preparedness fund by design/ objective).	Significant (this is not an emergency preparedness fund by design/objective).
Growing support following increased evidence on the cost-effectiveness and improved response as a result of emergency preparedness.	Growing realisation of the place of risk and preparedness in mainstay development programming.	GFDRR donors have asked the fund to focus its attention on existing priority countries and activities.	No specific reference discovered supporting (or not) enhanced work in emergency preparedness (but 1998 GA resolution does mandate UNDP for work on disaster preparedness at a country level.)	Minimal.	Minimal.	Minimal.
Humanitarian donor funding often has higher profile than development.	High profile, although many competing priorities.	Reasonably high profile.	Generally low profile.	Potentially (though unlikely): it is not a DRR fund, but it is a high-profile/ norm-setting space.	Potentially (though unlikely): it is not a DRR fund, but it is a high-profile/norm- setting space.	Potentially (though unlikely): it is not a DRR fund, but it has relatively high capitalisation and substantial resources per programme.

Key

Weak evidence Lacks compelling answer to the question

Strong evidence
 Positively answers the question

Non-financial issues for emergency preparedness	Some examples from the case studies			
Semantics: Definitions and meanings of key emergency preparedness terms are not	In Niger, very different conceptions of emergency preparedness exist, from narrow 'humanitarian' through to long-term capacity-building.			
shared across the different actors.	In Myanmar, some donor agencies use 'emergency preparedness' and 'DRR' interchangeably.			
	In Sudan, the preponderance of humanitarian response means that there is little incentive for highlighting emergency preparedness; as a result, any activities that do exist are incorporated into humanitarian interventions.			
Knowledge of risk: There is often a lack of joined-up understanding of all risks. Much is known, but	In Sudan, humanitarian response has dominated engagement (and still does) by both national and international actors – combined risk assessments have largely not been undertaken.			
often this knowledge is 'parcelled out' amongst particular actors within their own sectors.	In Myanmar, the 'preparedness gap' is largely because agencies address risk from their own perspectives and implement accordingly. Little brings them together.			
National systems: Government frameworks and institutions for	In Haiti, parts of the preparedness system still lack legal status.			
risk management are weak, lack capacity and lack clear policy directives.	In Niger, the risk management structures of government are almost non-existen beyond the capital.			
	In Sudan, at least 8 different government agencies have some preparedness responsibility, without any single one being clearly in charge.			
International architecture: Emergency preparedness is either oriented towards emergencies, humanitarian actors, humanitarian	In Haiti, development donors remain reluctant to fund preparedness, seeing it as a humanitarian issue, even when this means the capacity-building of national institutions.			
donors and to an extent humanitarian mechanisms, or divided into humanitarian/ development 'areas' without adequate coordination. Existing	In the Philippines, preparedness is largely split into two broad categories: response preparedness targeting crisis coordination structures (funded by humanitarian sources) and investments in early warning systems (funded by development).			
coordinating structures currently struggle to address the full range of needs.	In Sudan, only one donor has financed emergency preparedness activities out of a development fund; agencies are forced into trying to incorporate longer-term preparedness such as capacity-building and early warning into one-year cycles of humanitarian funding.			
Roles and responsibilities: These are often unclear, especially within the international community.	In the Philippines, several key international agencies admitted to not knowing who was responsible for emergency preparedness.			
	In Sudan, there is no single focal point for emergency preparedness within the UN system: for example, early warning information across agencies is not coordinated.			

Table 6.2: Non-financial issues affecting emergency preparedness

International capacity: There is a lack of capacity internationally to coordinate risk management issues, especially when part of long-term development.	Very few of the case study countries have the necessary 'central' capacity to coordinate work across risk. This is, for example, an issue in some of the Resident Coordinators' offices.
Planning : There is a lack of a systematic approach and planning not just for emergency	Myanmar has a largely piecemeal, project-based approach.
preparedness, but for risk management overall. No case study country approached the	In Haiti, recognition of the importance of emergency preparedness has not led to a clear vision or plan of action.
range of emergency preparedness activities comprehensively.	In Sudan, emergency preparedness is undertaken by individual agencies; no consolidated plans exist.
Tracking and reportin g: There is poor tracking of emergency preparedness, in itself a consequence of the	In Niger, 53 of 83 CAP projects in 2013 had at least one emergency preparedness activity – yet only one project had 'preparedness' in its title.
many approaches, the different semantics and the inability to disaggregate emergency preparedness from larger programmes, etc.	In Myanmar and Niger, many agencies considered preparedness as something indistinguishable from response, and therefore did not track it separately.

Box 6.2: Non-financial challenges: preparedness in conflict contexts

Defining and operationalising emergency preparedness for conflict requires concerted attention to the nuances of each conflict and risk context. In some contexts it may not be possible to hold such a conversation overtly; in others, international actors will have a job to do in negotiating the way for such dialogue to happen. Evidence from across Haiti, Myanmar, Sudan and Niger, supplemented by background papers exploring South Sudan, Kenya and other caseloads (Vaux, 2013a), shows that preparedness for conflict is largely in its infancy, at least in terms of a comprehensive approach. Nonetheless, it is possible to conceive of a set of activities - based on the emergency preparedness matrix developed for this report (Table 2.2) – which support national capacity in conflict preparedness. This may require working in quite different ways to those currently adopted.

Two examples are 'brokerage' and 'entrustment' (see Allouche and Lind, 2013). In the former, preparedness could be enacted through strengthening national capacity through 'brokerage [that] involves actions to build a shared understanding amongst actors whose interest may vary significantly and whose capacity to act in support of these interests may be unequal' (ibid.: 32). Such concepts support the idea of finding pathways to working even in situations characterised by fragmented authority 'where power is mediated through local processes to reconcile the interests of different actors' (ibid.). Emergency preparedness for conflict would look quite different to the activities currently conceived by the humanitarian actor used to dealing with crisis response. Relatedly, calls have been made to identify new and innovative ways to operationalise DRM in fragile and conflict-affected states; to challenge the predominantly state-centric approaches currently in place (see Harris et al., 2013).

Similar applications can be made for the term 'entrustment', whereby decisions and power are brought closer to the population through the use of local actors and structures. This would represent a marked difference from the way that actors operate today, and could help address the criticism that 'aid stakeholders have tinkered at the edges when what is needed is a wholesale reinvention of development in these [fragile and conflictaffected] contexts' (ibid.: 34).

Source: (Peters, 2014 forthcoming), Sudan (Hockley, 2014 forthcoming), and Niger (Robitaille et al., 2014 forthcoming).



7. Recommendations a set of options for change

7. Recommendations: a set of options for change

Key messages

- Much can be done to improve the way that the international system finances preparedness, from 'no regret' incremental changes, to an enhanced system, through to considerable institutional review ('transformational change').
- Given the cost-benefit evidence for emergency preparedness, governments and donors have a duty to consider greater integration of options to improve the current system of financing.
- Incremental changes to current mechanisms will leave gaps. This report recommends the establishment of a global fund for preparedness: either an enhanced GFDRR or UNDP CPR TTF or alternatively a new dedicated fund.
- More dedicated funding for preparedness should not result in the 'extraction' of emergency preparedness from existing processes, systems and approaches.
- Donors can and should do more to address preparedness through the system and within their own spending priorities: development funding for emergency preparedness is seen as an essential way forward.

7.1 A set of options: from beyond business as usual through to transformational change

The recommendations start from the premise that existing financing mechanisms, and channels or flows of finance, should be strengthened in support of emergency preparedness, where appropriate and where they can add value. Table 7.1 summarises this report's recommendations, broken down into four interrelated parts. The three options are underpinned by enhanced support by donor governments for emergency preparedness:

- · Expansion where it makes sense: 'no regret' options
- Maximising opportunities: an enhanced system
- Transformational change:⁸⁸ solutions beyond the current system
- Donor governments: the case for development financing.

While any mechanism can be adjusted to include a greater focus on emergency preparedness (either solely or as part of a wider-ranging series of objectives), this does not mean that all of them should be expanded. A balance needs to be struck between achieving the financing needed for preparedness and recognising what is practical and feasible within the existing context. This means taking careful consideration of the investment required to make changes to current models, and not 'artificially' expanding a mandate or a geographical scope to address preparedness needs.

⁸⁸ This section adopts an understanding of 'transformation' as described by Tanner and Bahadur (2013: 6): 'Transformation is commonly interpreted as radical change requiring innovation and testing of new approaches. This entails the generation/use of new knowledge and a markedly different way of doing things.'

Table 7.1: A set of options for future funding of emergency preparedness

Expansion where it makes sense: 'no regret' options	Maximising opportunities: an enhanced system	Transformational change: solutions beyond the current system
There is considerable potential in maximising the use of existing mechanisms for financing emergency preparedness more effectively (see section 7.2).	These opportunities will entail considerably more effort from the international system in order to be achieved (see section 7.3).	This represents a considerable change in the way that emergency preparedness is financed, with a new dedicated approach and financing sourced beyond the system (see sections 7.4–7.5).
 Bolster existing humanitarian financing mechanisms, so that opportunities for funding emergency preparedness are continually sought – including, for example, within the CHFs, ERFs and the CERF. GFDRR to make preparedness a priority action within all its selected countries. CPR TTF to prioritise preparedness within its priority countries when it makes new grants. All agencies should investigate how they can utilise other resources for emergency preparedness where they are most appropriate. 	Multi-year Strategic Response Plans (SRPs) should be obligatory across protracted complex emergencies. All new humanitarian mechanisms to include a consideration of preparedness, and this should be reflected in the relevant set-up policy documentation and guidelines including, for example, SRPs. Climate change adaptation financing to be implemented in ways which support a broader preparedness system for risk, including improvement for the PPCR, Adaptation Fund and LDCF.	Significantly enhance either of the existing risk-focused global mechanisms: GFDRR or CPR TTF. Or: Create a new global pooled funding mechanism. Beyond the system: enhanced support for preparedness through private sector and remittances (see Annex 3).
Donor support for preparedness		

Support preparedness throughout and greatly increase the role of development financing (see section 7.6).

7.2 Expansion where it makes sense: 'no regret' options

There is much that can be achieved within the current system to improve the financing of emergency preparedness that does not require radical overhauls of practice and policy. On balance, there is considerable potential in improving the scope of all of the core mechanisms and tools. The 'no regret' recommendations outlined below draw on analysis of what makes for effective financing (see Section 6).

Common Humanitarian Funds: advocacy to encourage greater consideration of emergency preparedness in CHFs and any forthcoming guidelines.

In some ways the CHFs have considerable strengths for expanding into more work in emergency preparedness: they are a tool for looking ahead (before the humanitarian need actually arises); they can look to address a range of risks; and they are based on a consultative process to reach an agreed set of interventions. Their weakness in comparison with the CAP is that their 'profile' is largely restricted to the country concerned.

This report's recommendation is that the CHFs should follow the preparedness developments of the CAP (and now its Strategic Response Plan replacement) more explicitly, and ensure that adequate attention is placed on building capacity for preparedness within national and international actors. Practically, this means that each CHF should have an inbuilt demand for Humanitarian Country Teams (HCTs) to examine emergency preparedness need and ensure that it is a core part of all consultation/ prioritisation exercises, both within and between clusters/sectors. Unless preparedness is made a clear responsibility for CHFs, then the work of the HCT in this area will remain ad hoc and dependent solely on the strength of the humanitarian appeal. South Sudan's decision to allocate \$56.5 million of CHF money to a mix of both humanitarian aid and emergency preparedness is a positive example (OCHA, 2013e) that could be followed across all existing and future CHFs.

Emergency Response Funds: opportunities should be maximised to include preparedness in the ERFs as part and parcel of good humanitarian practice.

Where it is deemed plausible and of need, ERFs should include preparedness activities relevant to the context in which they operate; these, evidence suggests, are likely to be focused on the immediate requirements for improving emergency response. However, beyond their current role ERFs in particular have, at present, few plus points for expanding greatly into more funding for emergency preparedness: they are not well designed to answer the questions identified for effective emergency preparedness financing, nor for an expansion to do so.

The research undertaken for this report indicates that ERFs are the least 'regulated' of the humanitarian funds (Taylor and Couture, 2014 forthcoming), and are highly dependent on the context in which they are created. To maximise the relatively few appropriate opportunities that the ERFs present, strong leadership by the relevant ERF lead agency, and further consideration of the place of preparedness in policy guidance, are required to support increased incorporation of emergency preparedness.

The Central Emergency Response Fund: do not inhibit the inclusion of preparedness where the case has been effectively made, but maintain the CERF's focus on life-saving response.

The CERF is strong in answering a number of the framework questions (see Table 6.1), for example those related to the high profile and yearly donor conference that provides for a dedicated focus of funds. It is weaker on a number of critical areas (such as explicit policy support for preparedness), and changes required to address these would involve significant political and leadership support and a change in mandate. Such a change would necessitate overcoming significant barriers, including the need for a General Assembly resolution to change the structure of the CERF to include, for example, a 'preparedness window'.

Yet, while preparedness is regarded as ineligible for CERF support (OCHA, 2011a), evidence suggests that this is interpreted variably in practice. In light of the

findings of the five-year evaluation (OCHA, 2011c), it may be reasonable in some instances to further embed emergency preparedness more institutionally within the CERF. Positive examples of emergency preparedness being successfully included in CERF applications should be replicated. These include where:

- the CERF has been directed to priority response projects, of which a proportion that was deemed reasonable was directed to preparedness
- the applying agency (possibly in conjunction with the Humanitarian/Resident Coordinator (HC/RC)) has successfully made a case that the project meets the life-saving criteria.

Dedicated attention to emergency preparedness should cut across both disaster and conflict risk where they exist in the same country context

Risk-focused financing mechanisms: make emergency preparedness an explicit goal of country programming.

Both of the risk-focused financing mechanisms (GFDRR and the CPR TTF) performed well in the analysis and are, in different ways, well placed to enhance their role of financing emergency preparedness. This is in part because they already focus their attention on financing before crisis. They do this in different ways, however, as the earlier analysis highlighted, with GFDRR focused on broader DRR and the CPR TTF focused on preventing crisis from both conflict and natural hazards.

The 'no regret' recommendation for these funds is that both give specific and dedicated attention to emergency preparedness (in line with their current mandate). For both mechanisms, this means making preparedness a priority action in each of their focus countries, as well as ensuring that it is included within all future country priorities. For GFDRR the focus should remain on disaster risk, given its quite specific mandate, where the cost (in many ways) of including preparedness for conflict is considered to be too substantial. It should, however, place greater emphasis on cases where (natural hazard-related) disaster risk requires preparedness in fragile and conflict-affected states. For the CPR TTF, dedicated attention to emergency preparedness should cut across both disaster and conflict risk where they exist in the same country context.

Agencies should deliberately utilise other resources in-country for emergency preparedness.

Evidence from the five case studies suggests that existing resources available in-country also fund emergency preparedness across a range of agencies. This includes the use of core resources and those drawn from humanitarian programming as well as broader riskrelated activities, such as DRR and conflict prevention. In many cases, emergency preparedness activities (such as stockpiling and risk assessment) are undertaken using these resources, though these are rarely termed 'preparedness'.

The 'no regret' recommendation here is that all implementing agencies and organisations should analyse how best existing and core resources can be used to deliver emergency preparedness. To the extent possible, this should address needs within that country in a systematic and coordinated manner. In addition, agencies should actively ensure that emergency preparedness features more heavily in their core funding, becoming an essential part of all relevant activities.

7.3 Maximising opportunities: an enhanced system

The improvements indicated above, while useful in themselves, are very limited; they will, even if all are implemented, only patch over existing cracks in financing for emergency preparedness. Elements of the current system can (and should) be pushed beyond their current comfort zone, with steps taken to ensure that preparedness becomes a core component of all relevant mechanisms managed by the international community.

Strategic Response Plans: all plans should become multi-year, and take heed of the latest guidance to include preparedness in longer-term planning frameworks.

The predecessor of the Strategic Response Plans, the CAP, has already seen some considerable improvement in its ability to articulate the need for emergency preparedness. During phase one of this research project, evidence found that the CAP was being used for emergency preparedness despite the absence of clear policy (Kellett and Sweeney, 2011: 34). The most recent guidance for the CAP has gone beyond previous considerations of preparedness, where it was largely permitted but not advertised, for the first time asking that HCTs explicitly include preparedness in their plans. The guidance went further to outline the kind of preparedness that can be articulated within the CAP – 'preparedness for response', with specific activities being those closest to humanitarian response within the preparedness continuum

(Figure 2.2). It included many activities focused on preparing the international community to respond, but also on national capacity to manage response.⁸⁹ Preparedness is an obvious responsibility both within and between clusters, according to this latest guidance.

In addition, there has been experimentation with multiyear funding, with several HCTs adopting a framework for longer-term planning, often using community 'resilience' as a hook upon which to hang these various longer-term initiatives. To date, the OPT, Kenya and Somalia have all used elements of multi-year programmes of work (OCHA, 2012j). There is much that is positive for emergency preparedness in multi-year humanitarian planning: funding for priorities beyond one-year boundaries, building national capacity as an increasing priority and building resilience as a key area of work. The multi-year CAP has 'multi-year targets for a wider range of humanitarian actions; includes more early recovery actions and social services; identifies specific interventions to develop national and local capacities for emergency preparedness and response; and focuses more on building the resilience of affected populations so as to work towards a gradual drawdown of humanitarian assistance' (ibid.: 30). All of these help shift the burden from humanitarian assistance towards investments in risk management before crises occur. It is welcome that the guidance document for the Strategic Response Plans takes this a step forward by providing systematic guidance on how to plan and manage a multi-year programme.

It is welcome that the guidance document for the Strategic Response Plans takes this a step forward by providing systematic guidance on how to plan and manage a multi-year programme

The recommendation is that multi-year plans become the norm, rather than the exception, especially in complex emergencies. The argument is that these plans in themselves are tools for examining the year ahead, and by their very nature go beyond response into planned

^{89 &#}x27;[N]eeds assessment and risk analysis; cluster and inter-cluster emergency response planning; community preparedness, including early warning; stockpiling of materials needed for early response; improved communications systems for early warning and early response; improved logistics capacity to support early action; training, simulation exercises and drills with national or local counterparts to improve coordination, speed and quality of response; and increasing government understanding of how to manage the influx of international assistance' (OCHA, 2012): 28).

humanitarian interventions. There is arguably no reason for all plans not to be multi-year. Increasingly, the emphasis needs to be on why HCTs are not looking at supporting longer-term solutions and are not increasingly prioritising sustainable funding, national capacity and community preparedness, all leading towards the eventual drawdown of humanitarian assistance. The factors highlighted by the latest guidance offer no deterrent to such planning in year-upon-year humanitarian interventions in the same context.

Climate change adaptation mechanisms: climate change adaptation financing must be integrated within a wider appreciation of risks in each country context. This recommendation needs to be applied beyond the three mechanisms examined closely in this report.

On the surface, climate adaptation funding appears to offer potential for increased financing of emergency preparedness, for some aspects on the more 'developmental' end of the preparedness continuum. There are important strengths in being tied to national processes and supporting a range of actors. However, it is clear from the evidence that climate funds are not a feasible option to expand beyond their current remit. Although some funding has gone to countries in which conflict (of various kinds) exists, CCA mechanisms do not support preparing for conflict or for natural risks that are not climate-related. Furthermore, they are seriously hampered by their current lack of integration with DRM financing and conflict prevention/preparedness processes. Perhaps above all else, the costs of expanding these mechanisms to look specifically at emergency preparedness are very high – they are simply not designed to support such an approach, and cannot easily be adjusted to do so.90

That said, there are some clear recommendations to be made. It is increasingly important that CCA and DRM are better coordinated at all levels, to maximise the likelihood of harnessing opportunities to combine approaches towards different types of risk (climatic and non-climatic). At present national governments routinely manage DRM through interior ministries, civil protection or national disaster management authorities, while CCA is managed through environment ministries. Support for a more holistic approach towards risk within a country context is required and should be encouraged.

The preliminary evidence on the country case studies reveals considerable amounts of adaptation funding beyond the three mechanisms explored here. These other mechanisms, such as Japan's Fast-Start Finance and Germany's International Climate Initiative, are not pooled funds. However, the need for them to be more closely coordinated with the activities financed under DRR is still

90 See background papers: Caravani and Nakhooda (2014 forthcoming); Trujillo and Nakhooda (2014 forthcoming); and Hill (2014 forthcoming). very relevant, though this will require a different kind of advocacy, reliant more on donors themselves (see below).

Pilot Program for Climate Resilience: maximise the existing entry points to fund emergency preparedness through projects that relate to climate services, disaster/ climate risk reduction and community preparedness.

The PPCR prioritises investments in climate information and services (e.g. early warning systems, hydrological information services). One of the exceptions is in Bangladesh, where the focus is on coastal zone management, with investments in early warning systems, including for non-climate risks such as tsunamis.

The recommendation is to build upon the interconnection between climate adaptation and disaster risk systems coherently and systematically at a country level. In line with the general recommendations for adaptation funding mechanisms, the PPCR should maximise opportunities in its operations, by ensuring that early warning systems and risk identification (such as its capacity-building for climate monitoring) are integrated into a more holistic risk reduction approach. Specific attention should be paid to the PPCR enhancing its support of community preparedness (highlighted in recent evaluations), particularly the increased involvement of vulnerable communities or the use of community-based approaches to building adaptive capacity (ICF, 2013; PPCR, 2013).

Least Developed Countries Fund: funding should be used to support emergency preparedness activities where they have been (or can be) included in NAPAs. Future NAPAs should have an obligatory emergency preparedness component, including an analysis of current capacity.

With its focus on first supporting the creation of a NAPA, the LDCF already gives attention to emergency preparedness activities, since the NAPA has sections that look precisely at climate risks and the relationship to preparedness. It is recommended that all future NAPAs – which are essentially the guide through which the LDCF operates – should include emergency preparedness activities systematically. This should be coupled with a holistic analysis of risks (including those beyond climate) in relation to existing roles, responsibilities and action, such as activities working more specifically on DRR. These emergency preparedness activities should be supported by the LDCF.

Supporting advocacy will be required at the GEF (the managing authority) to highlight the links between financing for adaptation, DRR and emergency preparedness.

Adaptation Fund: build upon the already close thematic relationship between the Adaptation Fund and emergency preparedness by making the connections systematic. As shown earlier, the Adaptation Fund has an indicative set of four activities, three of which are aligned to emergency preparedness (UNFCCC, 2001; Trujillo and Nakhooda, 2014 forthcoming). The expansion of support for preparedness through the Adaptation Fund could involve the following actions, ensuring that preparedness becomes a clear focus of its investment decisions.

There should be more systematic analysis of the scope and impact of emergency preparedness-related activities that the Adaptation Fund has supported to date, with a view to helping strengthen their impact and effectiveness. Guidance to this effect could be developed through the Fund's Operational Guidelines, in the context of a forthcoming overall comprehensive evaluation of the Adaptation Fund (Adaptation Fund Board, 2013a).

The operational guidelines could include:

- Project review eligibility criteria these could include specific emergency preparedness questions such as: does the project include coordination with emergencyrelated institutions at the corresponding levels?
- Guidelines for the results framework these could include qualitative questions around key indicators and outcomes where sustainability is related to Adaptation Fund implementation alongside emergency preparedness activities
- Guidelines for complying with the annual reporting formats, including clear examples of reporting back on emergency preparedness activities, and integration with risk management in general.

7.4 Transformational change: solutions beyond the current system

A global mechanism for emergency preparedness financing

There are many advantages to enhancing and improving existing country-based mechanisms and tools in support of preparedness (in some cases, as indicated above, this means enhancing current mechanisms significantly). Concentrating efforts on improving the scale and scope of preparedness without involving new actors, channels or mechanisms will be less complicated for the current system. However, bolstering existing mechanisms is not sufficient, and at the very least a global solution must be considered, the rationale being:

- Decisions to engage with a particular country are not always determined by an adequate assessment of risk or need; some countries can be 'left behind'.⁹¹
- Country-level financing is inadequate. Not all countries have enough donors present in-country to adequately

engage with emergency preparedness needs. Capacity to engage with donors directly either regionally or globally is limited in many cases.

- Existing funds, whether at country level (most often humanitarian, though in some cases bespoke to that context) or at global level, do not target preparedness specifically.
- Finally, as evidence from across the case studies reveals, funding is siloed, with limits to the feasibility and willingness of individual fund managers to support preparedness.

In essence, if all we do is improve the preparedness focus of existing mechanisms, no matter how good that is, key questions will always remain: how will underfunded preparedness needs be met? How will priorities across countries be determined? Who will take charge of redressing the neglect of conflict preparedness?

A global fund meanwhile could, if designed and directed appropriately, prioritise funding across a range of countries, and make decisions as to the most appropriate contexts for external support. It could raise the profile of emergency preparedness as an issue for donors and agencies alike, in a way that any country-based fund is simply unable to do.

If all we do is improve the preparedness focus of existing mechanisms, no matter how good that is, key questions will always remain

It should be noted that this is not to advocate for the 'extraction' of emergency preparedness out of existing processes, systems and approaches, such as DRR, sector-by-sector preparedness measures or conflict prevention. The current research sees value in many of the current approaches, yet seeks to address the evidence that points to the gaps in delivery. A global fund for emergency preparedness can help fill those gaps, working carefully to prioritise investments in those contexts that most require international assistance.

However, one key feature of the mechanism is that it should be designed to pilot a new way of working and thinking (see Table 7.3 for how a new fund would function), seeking funds drawn from both development

⁹¹ See individual case studies for examples.
and humanitarian funding streams (even from the same donor), where a holistic all-risk approach to emergency preparedness is pursued. Special attention should be paid to proposals that look to fund a range of activities across the preparedness continuum.

In addition, more concentrated efforts to partner with, and leverage greater support from, other stakeholders incountry should be considered. This includes, for example, greater links through PPPs, leveraging support through exchange of expertise in civil protection and generating a stronger civic voice around preparedness as a means to influence the spending of remittances.

Special attention should be paid to proposals that look to fund a range of activities across the preparedness continuum

Options for a global funding mechanism dedicated to emergency preparedness

The first and most obvious consideration is how a new fund could, if it were so designed, meet many of the existing framework questions, and do so in a way that would be more effective and efficient than potentially expanding the most promising preparedness financing mechanisms (as per the analysis) – GFDRR and the CPR TTF.

During consultations conducted to consider this question, it was suggested that the Multi-Partner Trust Fund (MPTF) office of the United Nations, for example, could set up a fund with such a range of preconditions built into its operational functioning. This would be a relatively simple process (at least in terms of administration), although decisions on how it could work, and who would do what, including the decisionmaking process for funding allocations, could possibly take considerable negotiation. Returning to the framework of questions, the one consideration on which, unsurprisingly, a new fund scores very low is feasibility in terms of obtaining the political support needed. This is a considerable challenge that should not be underestimated. Similarly, establishing a new fund risks creating a silo for preparedness, when it should in fact serve to better link the current humanitarian/ development bifurcation. There would need to be included in the set-up criteria the means for this 'linking' role to be fulfilled to leverage greater coordination and collaboration with existing work – a high ambition for any funding mechanism.

The cost of change (i.e. adjustments to GFDRR and the CPR TTF) has to be weighed up against the value of the investment in making that change. For example, altering the CPR TTF is believed to be the easiest of these three options, but it does not meet the full range of criteria as well as a new fund would. (This is not surprising, given that it is possible, according to advice from the MPTF office, to set up a fund to meet whatever range of criteria was required.) GFDRR could be expanded, though not without its consultative group and the World Bank itself agreeing to new priorities – and consultation and review processes for this report suggest that this would prove a hurdle too high to overcome.

An analysis of the three options against both the framework questions and the cost of change suggests that GFDRR would be the least feasible in terms of expanding its emergency preparedness remit. Its lack of conflict focus is obviously a main reason, but to this could be added recent calls by donors for GFDRR to focus its attention on existing priorities. What then of expanding the work of the CPR TTF or addressing the full needs of emergency preparedness through a dedicated mechanism? Weighing up these two alternative routes is difficult. Although a new fund could probably answer all the framework questions, the existing UNDP-managed fund could also do so, with appropriate guidance and policy changes.

On balance, given the demands of emergency preparedness in meeting a set of needs that cross the humanitarian/development and disaster/conflict divides (which should be reflected appropriately in the way in which decisions are made) and the need for a significant increase in public (and donor) attention to preparedness, a new, highly visible fund is recommended. This would involve what the MPTF office would consider a 'light' model of operation, with clear, precise guidelines, a small review board drawn from relevant UN agencies and a small secretariat (see Box 7.1). It is further felt that this model would be the one that would obtain both political and financial support, which is identified by the MPTF office as absolutely essential to the success of any new mechanism. The political (and financial) support necessary for creating a successful fund should not be underestimated, and investment in advocacy would be essential to make a new mechanism a viable and sustainable improvement to the current system.

Table 7.2: Assessing the potential to expand preparedness financing: GFDRR, UNDP CPR TTF and a new global fund

		Risk-focused financing mechanisms		
	Framework questions	GFDRR	UNDP CPR TTF	New global fund
Comprehensiveness	Are funding decisions in- country based on a detailed understanding of all risks?	Can work in contexts of conflict, but does not 'prepare for conflict.	Partially yes, as priority is given to a set of countries based on level of risk, need for support and likelihood of success.	Potentially
	Are funding decisions based on a global assessment of priority countries?	20 countries are prioritised by GFDRR, 11 are earmarked by donors.	Funding is limited to about 40 priority countries agreed upon with UNDP bureaux, and based on assessment of risk.	Potentially
Long-term plans of action and comparative advantage	Are funding decisions for emergency preparedness based on a common plan of action with defined roles and responsibilities?	Potentially possible within current context.	Not currently, but potentially possible within current context.	Potentially
	Is funding accessible to a range of actors?	Focus is on government and World Bank implementation. With government endorsement other actors can access; however, it is not common practice.	All recipients possible but in practice UNDP Country Offices have been the common recipients of funding.	Potentially
	Is the timeframe for emergency preparedness funding proportional to needs?	Funding can be multi-year.	Funding can be multi-year (typically three years but sometimes more).	Potentially
National actors and processes	Does funding for emergency preparedness align with government plans and national stakeholder priorities?	Yes.	UNDP cannot spend any of these resources without government approval; in most cases support follows a national strategy, or can provide support for its development.	Potentially
	Do preparedness measures target a range of requirements at community, sub-regional and national levels?	GFDRR is largely not funding preparedness at local levels.	This is possible. Historically support has included a range of activities from community to national level.	Potentially
Strong donorship	Does the mechanism have strong M&E systems for learning?	Limited to date, but planned evaluations in preparation.	A multi-year results framework is adopted, which is compiled and published annually. ⁹²	Potentially
	Can the fund receive funds from a range of sources?	Potentially yes; in practice to date, none.	Yes, but in practice this has been very rare.	Potentially
Administration	To what extent are there administration costs in expanding work in emergency preparedness?	Relatively low, expanding beyond current priority countries.	Costs of expanding work in emergency preparedness minimal.	Not hugely challenging
Feasibility	Is there sufficient political support behind the inclusion (or expansion) of emergency preparedness?	GFDRR donors have asked the fund to focus its attention on existing priority countries and activities.	No specific reference discovered supporting (or not) enhanced work in emergency preparedness (but 1998 General Assembly resolution does mandate UNDP for work on disaster preparedness at a country level).	Unknown, but this area could take some substantial work
Visibility	Does the mechanism have a high enough profile to push preparedness forward?	Reasonably high profile.	Generally low profile.	Potentially

92 For example, for 2010-2011, see UNDP (2012).

Box 7.1: Setting up a multi-donor trust fund⁹³

Process

The process for setting up a global-level MDTF is relatively straightforward.

- 1) At least two or more UN agencies put forward a case to the MPTF office, which, housed by UNDP, administers the funds.
- 2) The MPTF decides upon the strength of the case, considering, amongst other things, the following:
- A robust theory of change should guide the fund's design and the resulting framework and allocations.
- A broad range of stakeholders should be involved in the decision-making process, including national authorities, contributors/partners and participating UN organisations, as appropriate.
- The new mechanism should build on existing frameworks or plans rather than creating new, parallel structures.
- It should strengthen aid effectiveness through coordination and harmonisation of interventions to ensure increased coherence, efficiency, reduction of management and reporting burdens and associated transaction costs.

- It should ensure that the funding, operations and implementation modalities provide for full transparency and accountability.
- It should focus on expedient delivery with a concentrated focus on results.
- 3) Governance structures are put in place. A policy body (comprising the relevant stakeholders) sets fund policy, a steering committee that makes decisions is appointed, and a technical secretariat that reviews programmes and projects for funding is also created.
- A guidance note is prepared that outlines roles and responsibilities, as well as the way in which the fund will operate, especially the process of obtaining funds.

Administration and set-up

The MPTF office reports that the costs of running an MDTF can be relatively low, which is largely dependent on the governance structure. Set-up time will depend upon agreement on the governance structures, but administratively the MPTF office can (theoretically) set up the fund within just a few days.

7.5 A new fund: how might it work?

A new global emergency preparedness fund, created in a way that positively addresses the framework questions outlined in this research (Table 2.3), would demonstrably add value to the current system. (Furthermore, stronger incorporation of emergency preparedness into the CPR TTF and GFDRR as they stand would still help add value and weight to the preparedness cause – in addition, not in competition.)

The proposed new mechanism would be guided by the framework questions, and would be designed to respond

specifically to each. It would also address urgent needs currently neglected by existing channels and would be a means to pilot a new approach to financing, prioritising approaches that look beyond current international silos and sponsoring innovation in new areas, such as leveraging funding from the private sector and through remittances. A proposed response is put forward in Table 7.3.

⁹³ This box is based upon a review of MPTF guidelines (see UNDP, undated c) and conversations with the head of the MPTF office of the United Nations.

	Framework questions	Suggested parameters	
Comprehensiveness	Are funding decisions based on a detailed understanding of all risks?	Decisions will be guided first and foremost on a detailed understanding of combined risks in each country. Without this no funding will be granted.	
	Are funding decisions based on a global assessment of priority countries?	The fund will distribute according to a global compariso of risks, including slow- and rapid-onset natural hazards conflict and fragility – such as the forthcoming InfoRM (InfoRM, 2013).	
Long-term plans of action and comparative advantage	Are funding decisions for emergency preparedness based on a common plan of action with defined roles and responsibilities?	Funding will only be granted on approval of a combined plan of action. (This will include an analysis of the current capacity of actors, and a review of the work currently underway across the emergency preparedness continuum.) Priority will be given to proposals that look to build on existing initiatives, especially where they cut across traditional boundaries.	
	Is funding available to a range of necessary actors?	All funding decisions will be based on an analysis of the comparative advantage and role/mandate. Favour to partnerships that demonstrate building of national capacity will be favoured.	
	Is the timeframe for emergency preparedness funding proportional to needs?	Any feasible project length will be considered, dependent on the activity being proposed: projects where they look to build national capacity over a period of time will receive special attention.	
National actors and processes	Does funding for emergency preparedness align with government plans and national stakeholder priorities?	All plans and projects put forward must articulate the current system of national preparedness, and be aligned to national priorities. Government and other national counterpart lead in projects will be especially encouraged.	
	Do preparedness measures target a range of requirements at community, sub-regional and national levels?	The mechanism will fund all activities across the continuum, but will look to join up elements into a coherent plan of action, wherever possible.	
Strong donorship	Does the mechanism have strong M&E for transparent, accountable tracking in investment, as well as for learning?	The mechanism itself shall have regular review; individual projects will also be reviewed. Lessons learnt will be built into future fund operation and allocation decisions. All proposals will be required to demonstrate incorporation of lessons learnt from past experience.	
	Can the fund receive funds from a range of sources?	Funding will be accepted from all sources, public and private, with advocacy for funding built into its management structure.	
Feasibility	Is there sufficient political support behind the inclusion of emergency preparedness in the fund?	This will be the major challenge within a new fund; see concluding 'making the business case' section for more on this.	
Administration	To what extent are there administration costs in expanding work in emergency preparedness?	Relatively little to start up; as low as 1% for administration during the fund's operation.	
/isibility Does the mechanism have a high enough profile to push preparedness forward?		A yearly event, either in New York or Geneva, will bring together donors and partners together to assess the impact of the fund, and advocate for financing.	

Table 7.3: Criteria for a new global fund for emergency preparedness

7.6 The case for development financing

A huge amount of progress has been made on emergency preparedness in recent years, largely as a result of learnt experience and the evolution demanded by responding to continual crises in complex political emergencies. Moreover, the growing interest in establishing DRM policy and institutional architecture in national government systems (as seen in all the case studies except Sudan) has raised the profile of risk management more generally as a fundamental component of a country's development armour. Yet fundamental challenges remain, which constrain the ability of international and national actors to pursue integrated approaches to the range of risks being faced. These include the artificial division between efforts to work on different types of risk present in the same location (see Harris et al., 2013) or where the same types of preparedness activities are required. Moreover, there are ample opportunities to improve the coherence of

Fundamental challenges remain, which constrain the ability of international and national actors to pursue integrated approaches to the range of risks being faced. These include the artificial division between efforts to work on different types of risk present in the same location

preparedness efforts through more coordinated decisionmaking, planning and implementation (see Kellett, 2014 forthcoming). The country case studies highlight the fact that donor funding for preparedness is undermined by the way in which funding is structured. This presents a challenge, as there is a fundamental tension between the suite of emergency preparedness activities that need to take place to enable a more effective and efficient response to crisis and the bifurcated funding system that resources those activities. The silos in the system allow gaps and, to a lesser extent, create scope for duplication. The recommendations outlined here are based on the nature of the system, in particular the considerable and arguably unsustainable pressure on humanitarian financing currently witnessed, and the strong performance of bilateral in-country development funding within the framework questions. This is also informed by the authors' assessment that the recurrence of complex emergencies (and the humanitarian financing that goes to those contexts) represents to some degree a failure of transition, and that more money targeting the building up of national stakeholders and systems is required. In many cases, this goes beyond the funding practices and policies that have been examined at a country level to the way in which donors commonly view preparedness, and risk in general. That said, a shift of emphasis towards development financing for emergency preparedness does not rely upon donors alone; the system needs to make the case and advocate for change, including within individual agencies.

Support for system change

This report proposes a series of changes to the current way in which preparedness is financed (or in many cases in the ways in which it is not financed). Donor support is required to make these changes happen:

- Support should be given to the specific measures proposed here to improve the existing system, including enhancing preparedness throughout humanitarian mechanisms, obligatory multi-year Strategic Response Plans,⁹⁴ risk-focused mechanisms making preparedness an essential part of all country prioritisation, and preparedness becoming a core component of key adaptation financing mechanisms.
- In addition, increased support is essential within the current system and in various guises: support for practical steps that can help improve the coherence of preparedness and clarify the current division of labour, and a commitment to increase financing. Donor advocacy for change is essential.
- Donors are asked to seriously consider the options for a global mechanism that can address the preparedness issues and priorities that remain after existing mechanisms have been enhanced to their most appropriate limit. This mechanism will pilot a new way of working, across existing divides between humanitarian and development approaches.

⁹⁴ For example, the Niger CAP of 2013, despite having preparedness as a core goal, still contains only a single project with the word 'preparedness' in its title, despite 53 of these 83 projects articulating preparedness activities. This suggests that agencies are at best sceptical of the value of making it clear that emergency preparedness is a clear part of a project's objectives, perhaps out of concern that donors will not fund it.

Prioritising of risk

In addition, donors should consider a range of actions to address the current preparedness challenges from within their own structures and working practices, with, throughout, an emphasis on bringing development financing to bear on underlying risk.⁹⁵ This includes action to:

- Re-assess global and country programming priorities for risk. Investment in preparedness should be based on a global assessment of risk, related to capacity and vulnerability, need and exposure. Such an assessment would allow for a concentration of efforts where the need is greatest. A specific example is to consider using the Index for Risk Management (InfoRM),⁹⁶ which seeks to address the fact that 'there is currently no global and common evidence-base which could provide a transparent, objective and shared understanding of humanitarian risk' (InfoRM, 2013).
- Ensure that risk financing initiatives are not just part of humanitarian and crisis-related structures but also become the foundation for development investments.
- Flexible financing could be encouraged as a means to support more tailored and adaptable preparedness interventions. Evidence from across the five case studies reveals the need – particularly in challenging working environments – to accommodate fluctuations in context, whether conditions of conflict, fragility and risk or engagement by different stakeholders in policy processes. There are numerous examples where elements of preparedness are working successfully – e.g. early warning based on assessment of risk – but where a lack of flexibility in existing funding limits a country's ability to prepare appropriately. This is what could be termed 'preparedness for response', at the humanitarian end of the emergency preparedness continuum.
- Proactive internal advocacy within donor countries and institutions and multi-donor groups is required to ensure that preparedness is part of funding decisions. Vocal and visual support can be sustained in broader international debates only with the backing of key donors. It is suggested that donors invest in understanding the added value that investments in emergency preparedness can make to their own caseloads in terms of effectiveness and efficiency, including value for money in the mid- to long term. On the basis of this, stronger internal advocacy can be undertaken to encourage a widespread internal change in donors' understanding and the value given to emergency preparedness (within both humanitarian and development departments).

- Consideration should be given to earmarking funding for emergency preparedness, whether from humanitarian or development sources. The most important advantages of earmarking are, firstly, that it guarantees some level of funding and, secondly, that it commits a donor to change. However, on the whole this is not recommended unless a much better global understanding of need can be articulated.
- Emergency preparedness is an inherent part of resilience; making the resilience agenda practical and operational should entail an adequate focus on preparedness. This can be framed in many ways as a means to improve the resilience and adaptive capacity of both national and international actors, and the humanitarian and development systems that operate in-country. It is recommended that emergency preparedness be embedded into current and future indicators of what makes for a resilient system.

It is suggested that donors invest in understanding the added value that investments in emergency preparedness can make to their own caseloads in terms of effectiveness and efficiency, including value for money in the mid- to long term

95 Although not a core part of the analysis in this work, multilateral development banks have been shown in the case studies to be an important financing source for the disaster element of preparedness, where disaster risk consciousness is sufficiently high and there is relatively stable governance. Some of the recommendations in this list may therefore be appropriate to these banks, as key actors in some contexts and substantial development donors themselves.

Emergency preparedness and resilience

There is no conception of resilience that does not – in some form – incorporate emergency preparedness (Harris, 2014 forthcoming). As the IASC (2012) argues: 'Resilience itself is not achievable without the capacity to absorb shocks, and it is this capacity that emergency preparedness helps to provide.' Preparedness is understood to be a fundamental component of the resilience agenda and one of the more practical aspects of the concept, lending itself to a grounded set of activities that can be implemented in practice, thus enabling a system to absorb shocks while retaining the same fundamental system attributes. This is sometimes described as 'bounce back', i.e. returning to a pre-disaster state (or to an improved state) more rapidly and more easily.

Conceptualisations of the relationship between emergency preparedness and resilience vary between agencies. For some, such as the European Commission (2012) or DFID (2012), emergency preparedness 'provides the necessary grounding to enable better prepared, more capable and ultimately more "resilient" recipient communities, agencies and governments' (DFID, 2012). Others recognise the multi-dimensional aspects of resilience but, for operational purposes, pursue linked sectoral approaches that all contribute to resilience. The World Bank, for example, has strategies that specifically target the building of resilience in DRM, climate change, conflict and fragility, environment, social protection and labour.

Given the increasing number of policy statements recognising that investing in resilience is cost-effective when compared with approaches that rely exclusively on response and recovery after the event (European Commission, 2012), there is reason to suggest that preparedness, as part of a broader contribution to risk management, is fundamental to the pursuit of resilience. Yet while according to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), 'the cost effectiveness of ex-ante disaster risk reduction and emergency preparedness measures show that the benefits outweigh the costs by a factor of between 3 and 7' (IPCC, 2012; and World Bank, 2010a, in Harris, 2014 forthcoming: 3), funding priorities remain skewed to post-disaster recovery, underlining how the current funding architecture misses major opportunities to invest in resilience.

ODA committed to supporting national systems of preparedness - which in turn contribute towards building resilience - is minimal at best, as this report details. The latest data suggests that funding for DRR has amounted cumulatively to \$13.5 billion over the past 20 years, a minute fraction (0.4%) of the \$3 trillion in overall development commitments (Kellett and Caravani, 2013: 5). Moreover, consultations in the Arab states, Asia and the Americas have revealed a strong desire to incorporate a stronger awareness of risk into national budget allocations and to establish national risk financing strategies that build on all available financing mechanisms in-country (UNISDR, 2013a). Such an approach would support more risk-aware and risk-adjusted development trajectories, and the development of national systems that are more resilient to the range of shocks and stresses likely to be faced in any given context.

Resilience, and the role that emergency preparedness has to play in it, is thus a useful springboard from which to address the prevailing neglect of pre-emptive action and the current split between ex-ante and ex-post investment. It is, in many ways, an oxymoron to attempt to build resilience within the binary constraints of the humanitarian and development systems, given that these concepts focus on inter-acting system components. Thus a new alternative 'business as usual' needs to be found, one which works to support cost-effective ex-ante action, and one in which there is a global consensus on the importance of addressing risk as a crucial component to building resilience.

It is yet to be seen how 'resilience' will inform or shape the international financing architecture for emergency preparedness, if at all. It is clear that at the project level donor funding is being infused with the term but, as a signal of more significant changes to ODA, there is little evidence to suggest that any marked change is in the making. What the 'resilience agenda' does represent is a new way of thinking and approaching age-old humanitarian and development challenges – one that must be embraced to mark the shift in supporting both national and international communities to be better prepared.

8. Conclusion preparing for the foreseeable future



8. Conclusion: preparing for the foreseeable future

Key messages

- In the future disasters will be more frequent than today; the centrality of 'risk' is thus an essential component of all development and humanitarian work.
- While increased support will cost in the immediate term, financing emergency preparedness activities has enormous potential to reduce the costs of response.
- Financial responsibility needs to be shouldered both by affected governments and by international humanitarian and development actors.
- A new international consensus is essential between national governments and the international community on the need for countries to be better prepared.
- Inclusion of emergency preparedness as a key feature of the post-2015 development agenda is paramount.
- The IASC must seize opportunities to advance preparedness, with a high-profile champion responsible for ensuring that the cause does not 'fall off the agenda', supported by an appropriate agency or IASC structure.

In moving towards a post-2015 era, with evidence pointing towards a world in which disasters are even more frequent than today (Shepherd et al., 2013), the centrality of 'risk' is becoming an essential component of all development and humanitarian work. Beyond the rhetoric, at some point a decision has to be made to make a change. This means making a decision that will cost something, either in terms of political effort, bureaucratic changes or financial resources. Tinkering around the edges with existing mechanisms is not enough: the country case studies undertaken as part of this research have proved that. While increased support will cost in the immediate term, financing emergency preparedness activities has enormous potential to reduce the costs of response. This in turn will create a more sustainable platform from which to address the current pressures on the humanitarian system, which is stretched beyond both its means and its mandate. Risk therefore needs to be embedded in national and international planning and budgetary frameworks.

Cost is not limited to the way that we fund. It is also about how much is funded. Increasing the necessary commitment to emergency preparedness clearly requires a coherent business case built on solid incentives and a calculation of the return on investment, something that draws upon methods such as cost-benefit analysis, economics of preparedness and robust, clear messaging. This business case should be tied directly to calls for specific budgets to support emergency preparedness (as well as risk management in general) from national resource allocations. Moreover, the international community needs to get serious about the funding volumes involved in creating sustainable, functioning national preparedness systems. For example, how much has it cost developed country governments in at-risk areas (e.g. Japan, the US, Germany or Australia) to achieve the advances in preparedness and risk management that they have? How does this compare with what is being invested by developing country governments and their international partners?

In advocating for emergency preparedness, as part and parcel of a risk-based approach to international aid, a 'no regret' narrative should be adopted. Emergency preparedness is relevant beyond preparedness for response and is thus not just to the benefit of humanitarians. In the medium to long term, it will almost certainly save money, lives and livelihoods. The financial responsibility therefore needs to be shouldered by international humanitarian and development actors, as well as by national stakeholders and governments. Taking this agenda forward will require continued efforts on the part of the IASC and engaged stakeholders to translate the recommendations in this report into action.

A sea change in our approach to international aid financing is needed, one that puts at the forefront the importance of managing risk. For development approaches, this means taking measures to avoid potential gains being lost or undermined, while for humanitarians it means being better prepared to deal with the geography of risk in 2015 and beyond. Preparing for future risks is a responsibility and a basic prerequisite to effective humanitarian and development work – it is not optional.

A selection of possible spaces for engagement and action is outlined below.

8.1 Moving the agenda forward

- Deliver the recommendations contained in this report to the IASC in Geneva and New York (and where appropriate, regional centres) securing commitment on the part of representatives to formulate a plan of campaign to address the changes required. The IASC Task Team on Financing for Emergency Preparedness should spearhead this.⁹⁷
- The IASC must seize opportunities to advance preparedness. Learning from the experiences of the Political Champions for Disaster Resilience group, a high-profile champion should be designated to be responsible for promoting action on preparedness and

ensuring that the emergency preparedness cause does not fall off the political agenda.

- In addition, the IASC should reach out more overtly to key elements of the international system working on resolving conflict, often in the same fragile contexts that attract considerable amounts of humanitarian assistance, but which in terms of planning and programming have to be outside of the IASC. The focus should be on direct contacts with the DAC International Network on Conflict and Fragility (INCAF) and more integration with its New Deal for Fragile States.
- In discussions on the post-2015 development goals, clear messages should be communicated with regards to the added value of emergency preparedness for natural hazard-related disasters and conflict, and the links between the two.
- National governments, UN agencies and NGOs should seek to ensure stronger inclusion of emergency preparedness as a key feature of the post-2015 agreement on DRR (i.e. the successor to the Hyogo Framework for Action).
- 97 For Haiti, Sudan, Myanmar, Niger and the Philippines, specific sets of recommendations are outlined in the individual country case studies. (These will be made available via the ODI website during 2014.) Appropriate platforms in-country should be used to discuss and explore the potential for taking these recommendations forward and making them a reality
- 98 An inter-agency initiative of UNDP/BCPR, OCHA and the UNISDR secretariat, CADRI's mission is to advance knowledge of, and strengthen sustainable capacity development for, disaster risk reduction worldwide. See: http://www.cadri.net/

Box 8.1: Ensuring practical connections: recommendations beyond the purely financial

As has been highlighted throughout this report, effective and efficient financing for emergency preparedness is not just a financial issue. There are many ways in which having adequate financing mechanisms for preparedness needs to be supported by enhancements to the preparedness system in general. The research team recommend the following:

- Clear guidance should be developed for the adequate coding, tracking and reporting of investments in emergency preparedness.
- The IASC Principals should support the roll-out of the Common Framework for Emergency Preparedness across both the HC and RC networks.
- In addition, the Principals should endorse other key and related work of the SWG for Preparedness: the Reference Modules for Cluster Coordination at the Country Level, and the Humanitarian Programming Cycle (and their enhanced focus on preparedness).

- CADRI, as an inter-agency tool for capacity-building for DRR, should be supported as a way of better harmonising support to UN Country Teams.⁹⁸
- More should be done to integrate emergency preparedness within the UNDAF; the IASC should advocate for more integration, making use of existing guidelines on DRR/CCA.
- Options exist beyond the financing system through which the IASC largely operates. Other sources of funding (such as the private sector and remittances) should be harnessed, and integrated approaches, such as the Nepal Risk Reduction Consortium, examined for possible replication (see Annex 3).
- Finally, and perhaps most influentially in the long run, the positive role that the Common Budgetary Framework can play in highlighting (and funding) gaps in preparedness should be investigated.

- The recommendations on improving the existing financial mechanisms and tools should feed into debates at, for example, UN ECOSOC's fourth **Development Cooperation Forum 2014** in New York.
- In preparation for the World Humanitarian Summit 2016, advocacy is required for emergency preparedness to be included as a central component of one of the four thematic areas to be determined through the 2014-2015 consultation process. While preparedness already appears as part of the theme 'reducing vulnerability and managing risk', it is also highly relevant to the other three: 'humanitarian effectiveness', 'transformation through innovation' and 'servicing the needs of people in conflict' (OCHA, 2013f). Furthermore, advocacy is needed for emergency preparedness to be part of the final 'Road Map and Plan of Action for Post-2016'.
- As follow-up to the 19th session of the Conference of the Parties to the UNFCCC in Warsaw in 2013 and preparation for the 20th session in Lima, preparedness should be included as an integral part of the actions required to support climate change adaptation across vulnerable and high-risk contexts.

 Risk needs to be embedded in international planning and budgetary frameworks. At the level of individual national governments, agencies and donors, efforts should be made to assess the potential cost-benefit of investing in emergency preparedness across all sectors. Recognising the financial constraints that currently prevail, decisions should be made about what preparedness priorities are to be supported, informed by a comprehensive assessment of risk in relation to need, vulnerability, exposure and capacity.

Agencies engaged in bilateral relationships with national governments – in all manner of contexts – should endeavour to emphasise the importance of taking a risk-based approach to humanitarian and development work. Where **national fiscal planning, policy and budgetary processes** are being crafted, preparedness for risk must be embedded, taking heed of lessons from governments across diverse risk contexts in developed and developing countries.



Annexes

Annex 1: Case studies and background papers

The following papers have been prepared by the Overseas Development Institute to inform this report. Depending on the sensitivity of the information they contain, those that are for public release will be available on the ODI website.

Allinson, C. (2014 forthcoming) Ghana Hybrid Resource Mobilization Advocacy Strategy.

Bird, N., Tilley, H., Kellett, J. and Harris, K. (2014 forthcoming) Identifying Finance for Emergency Preparedness.

Cabot Venton, C., Richards, F. and Peters, K. (2014 forthcoming) *Emergency Preparedness in Niger:* A Cost Benefit Analysis.

Caravani, A. and Nakhooda, S. (2014 forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness and LDCF.

Fan, L. (2014 forthcoming) Haiti Resource Mobilization Advocacy Strategy.

Fan, L., Zyck, S. and Bailey, S. (2014 forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness in Haiti.

Harris, K. (2013) Emergency Preparedness and its Links to Resilience.

Hill, M. (2014 forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness and GFDRR.

Hill, M. (2014 forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness and PPCR.

Hockley, T. (2014 forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness in Sudan.

Kellett, J. (2014 forthcoming) Philippines Resource Mobilization Advocacy Strategy.

Kellett, J. (2014 forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness in The Philippines.

Mechler, R. (2014 forthcoming) Scoping the Potential of Cost Benefit Analysis in Assessing Disaster Emergency Preparedness.

Peters, K. (2014 forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness in Myanmar.

Robitaille, P., Richards, F. and Combe, E. (2014 forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness in Niger.

Taylor, G. (2014 forthcoming) Financing for Emergency Preparedness, Nepal Case Study.

Taylor, G. and Couture, G. (2014 forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness and Humanitarian Mechanisms.

Trujillo, N. and Nakhooda, S. (2014 forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness and Adaptation Fund.

Vaux, T. (2014a forthcoming) Emergency Preparedness and Conflict.

Vaux, T. (2014b forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness and UNDP CPR TTF.

Annex 2: Key definitions

Definitions are adapted from UNISDR, 'Terminology': http://www.unisdr.org/we/inform/terminology

Adaptation

The adjustment in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli or their effects, which moderates harm or exploits beneficial opportunities.

Contingency planning

A management process that analyses specific potential events or emerging situations that might threaten society or the environment and establishes arrangements in advance to enable timely, effective and appropriate responses to such events and situations.

Disaster

A serious disruption of the functioning of a community or a society involving widespread human, material, economic or environmental losses and impacts, which exceeds the ability of the affected community or society to cope using its own resources.

Disaster risk management

The systematic process of using administrative directives, organisations and operational skills and capacities to implement strategies, policies and improved coping capacities in order to lessen the adverse impacts of hazards and the possibility of disaster.

Disaster risk reduction

The concept and practice of reducing disaster risks through systematic efforts to analyse and manage the causal factors of disasters, including through reduced exposure to hazards, lessened vulnerability of people and property, wise management of land and the environment, and improved preparedness for adverse events.

Early warning system

The set of capacities needed to generate and disseminate timely and meaningful warning information to enable individuals, communities and organisations threatened by a hazard to prepare and to act appropriately and in sufficient time to reduce the possibility of harm or loss.

Emergency management

The organisation and management of resources and responsibilities for addressing all aspects of emergencies, in particular preparedness, response and initial recovery steps.

Emergency services

The set of specialised agencies that have specific responsibilities and objectives in serving and protecting people and property in emergency situations.

Ex-ante/ex-post

Ex-ante means 'before the event', ex-post means 'after the event'. Ideally, funding for emergency preparedness should be ex-ante, but in reality it is often ex-post.

Hazard

A dangerous phenomenon, substance, human activity or condition that may cause loss of life, injury or other health impacts, property damage, loss of livelihoods and services, social and economic disruption or environmental damage.

Mitigation

The lessening or limitation of the adverse impacts of hazards and related disasters. (It should be noted that in climate change policy, 'mitigation' is defined differently, being the term used for the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions that are the source of climate change.)

Natural hazard

Natural process or phenomenon that may cause loss of life, injury or other health impacts, property damage, loss of livelihoods and services, social and economic disruption or environmental damage.

Preparedness

The knowledge and capacities developed by governments, professional response and recovery organisations, communities and individuals to effectively anticipate, respond to and recover from the impacts of likely, imminent or current hazard events or conditions.

Prevention

The outright avoidance of adverse impacts of hazards and related disasters.

Resilience

The ability of a system, community or society exposed to hazards to resist, absorb, accommodate to and recover from the effects of a hazard in a timely and efficient manner, including through the preservation and restoration of its essential basic structures and functions.

Response

The provision of emergency services and public assistance during or immediately after a disaster in order to save lives, reduce health impacts, ensure public safety and meet the basic subsistence needs of the people affected.

Vulnerability

The characteristics and circumstances of a community, system or asset that make it susceptible to the damaging effects of a hazard.

Annex 3: Opportunities beyond funding mechanisms

A plethora of opportunities exists beyond formal funding mechanisms for supporting preparedness activities through different ways of working and alternative funding sources. Three are explored here: the Nepal Risk Reduction Consortium (as an example of the former) and the private sector and remittances as examples of the latter.

Nepal Risk Reduction Consortium (NRRC)

The NRRC represents a successful opportunity to bring national and international, humanitarian and development actors together around a shared risk agenda. Though limited to natural disasters, the NRRC has potential for expansion though not without significant consideration of the country context and appropriate adaptation of the model.

Now in its fourth year of operation, the NRRC has generated considerable national and international interest, and has supported the mobilisation of significant donor resources, both technical and financial. The Consortium was built around five programmes, arranged thematically and known as 'Flagships'. The five areas were set out on the basis of government priorities, patterns of risk and vulnerability in Nepal and the ongoing programmes of Consortium members.

Each Flagship, therefore, contains components of disaster preparedness, as well as elements of broader risk reduction. Flagship 2 is badged as the focal area for emergency preparedness and response capacity and has the broadest range of activities related to disaster planning across governmental and international systems, including clusters, national and international militaries and civil protection.

Overall, a review (Taylor, 2014 forthcoming) found that, as an innovative structure that brings together a range of important actors and retains attention on the key issue of risk reduction in Nepal, the NRRC can be viewed as a success. As a platform for action and operational coordination, its results are varied, but it has to be acknowledged that the NRRC represents a new way of joint working for a number of institutions and that such institutional adaptation can be a slow process.

The incumbent UN RC/HC was able to provide a vision xaround which an impressive array of international

agencies could rally. The NRRC was backed from its inception by the Government of Nepal, and was bolstered further when three important donors extended significant financial and vocal support. The NRRC is unquestionably an innovative framework. From the perspective of international aid architecture, it sits astride humanitarian and development architectures. Although development is clearly the dominant paradigm, the NRRC holds the structural 'tension' between the priorities of the government and those of development and humanitarian partners. It has required humanitarian actors in the system to consider: how to operate in a manner that complements development norms; the need for sustainability; longer timeframes; and perhaps above all, the need to work with and through government. Similarly, it has required development actors to consider programming with a humanitarian mindset: targeting and prioritising according to risk and the humanitarian imperative, as well as the need to collapse normal development timeframes for project development and completion.

The NRRC came into being in post-conflict Nepal. A familiar trajectory is seen. The CAP has given way to the UNDAF as the main appeal mechanism. Clusters established and strengthened during the conflict and the Kosi flood response have been handed over to a government lead. OCHA's coordination function has been handed over to government, with the support of UNDP through its DRM programme, which continues to build capacity in legislation.

Private sector

As the economic impacts of disasters grow (PwC, 2013; Munich RE, 2013) and state finances continue to be depleted, the risk burden for emergency preparedness is increasingly transferring from the public to the private sector (UNISDR, 2013c). Not only does the private sector often end up paying for the majority of disaster losses, often by small business and farm owners (ADPC, 2013a), but the challenges in mobilising private finance to bridge the financing gap in a number of different emergency preparedness-related areas is well recognised (UNISDR, 2013c), especially in the world's poorest and most vulnerable nations. Furthermore, the challenges and complexity of stimulating responsible private sector development and investment in frontier economies (where corruption, lack of transparency and accountability are major concerns), often in conflict-affected states, remain a serious obstacle for both multilateral development banks and national governments.

Growing levels of risk and exposure are driving private sector organisations and multinationals to not only better account for disasters in their risk management planning processes, but also to more actively engage with governments and other public institutions to fund and support emergency preparedness activities (ADPC, 2013a). There have therefore been growing and repeated calls for enhanced private sector engagement in support of emergency preparedness (UNISDR, 2013c), specifically in relation to private business initiatives and investment, enhanced public-private partnerships to leverage private sector expertise and finance and an increased consideration of disaster risk to financial and corporate assets across globalised value chains.

Key areas include:

- political leadership to more effectively use public sector funding to leverage private sector expertise and investment
- private sector leadership to fully recognise the benefits of preventive actions and risk analysis to better understand and reduce the exposure of corporate and financial assets to disasters
- technical assistance from and leveraging of private sector innovation and expertise
- PPPs to provide additional support to local communities to have sufficient financing pre- and postdisaster agreed prior to disaster).

Remittances and emergency preparedness

Opportunities exist to increase local-level spending on preparedness through the use of remittances. The number of migrant workers worldwide increased by 42% between 2000 and 2010, and overall remittances increased by 300% over this same period, reaching \$325.5 billion in 2010 (World Bank, 2010b).

Remittance flows play a major part in the family, community and country economies of several of the case study countries. In 2012 the Philippines received remittances to the value of \$24.5 billion. Only China and India had greater volumes of remittances and, per capita, the Philippines outstripped these two countries considerably. Haiti's 2011 figure of \$1.6 billion in remittances was equivalent to 21.1% of the country's GDP – essentially one in five dollars the country 'produced' was actually sent back home from abroad. Many studies have shown how remittances contribute to the livelihoods of families and varied studies have also shown that they increase during times of crisis (Ratha and Sirkeci, 2010; Wu, 2009). Few, however, have looked at how remittances have actually helped prepare households for crisis.

The role of remittances in development is seen as increasingly important. The World Bank has set up a Task Force for the implementation of Diaspora Bonds (see World Bank, 2013h) to mobilise finance for specific public and private sector projects. UNDP has joined forces with Western Union to help channel funds for sustainable local development in migrants' home countries (UNDP, 2011).

There are challenges, however, in targeting remittances as a source of spending on preparedness. Few studies explore how remittances could actually reduce risk itself. Efforts towards building a high cultural awareness of risk (as demonstrated in the Philippines case study) could go some way towards influencing spending patterns of remittances. However, tracking flows is challenging. Given the volumes of money going to countries with high levels of different kinds of risk, it is recommended that specific research is undertaken to see how this source can be tapped specifically for preparedness issues, especially at a community level.

References

Abramson, D. and Redlener, E. (2013) *Hurricane Sandy: Lessons Learned, Again.* National Center for Disaster Preparedness, Volume 6. Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness. http://hdl.handle.net/10022/ AC:P:19146

Adaptation Fund Board (2013a) Options for an overall comprehensive evaluation of the Adaptation Fund (prepared by the Adaptation Fund Evaluation Function). Bonn: Adaptation Fund. https://www.adaptation-fund.org/sites/default/files/AFB.EFC_.12.4%20Options%20for%20 an%20Overall%20Comprehensive%20Evaluation%20 of%20the%20Adaptation%20Fund.pdf

Adaptation Fund Board (2013b) Joint report by the Secretariat and the Trustees on the Status of the Pipeline. Bonn: Adaptation Fund. https://www.adaptation-fund. org/sites/default/files/AFB.EFC_.12.Inf_.1_%20Joint%20 report%20by%20the%20secretariat%20and%20the%20 trustee%20on%20the%20status%20of%20the%20 pipeline.pdf

Adaptation Fund Board (2010) An Approach to Implementing Results Based Management – RBM. Bonn: Adaptation Fund.

ADPC (2013a) *Private Sector Engagement in Disaster Risk Reduction.* Bangkok, Thailand: Asian Disaster Preparedness Center.

ADPC (2013b) Reducing Vulnerability and Exposure to Disasters: The Asia-Pacific Disaster Report 2012. Bangkok, Thailand: Asian Disaster Preparedness Center. http://www.unisdr.org/files/29288_apdr2012finallowres.pdf

African Development Bank Group (2013a) 'Niger'. http://www.afdb.org/en/countries/west-africa/niger/

African Development Bank Group (2013b) 'Sudan'. http://www.afdb.org/en/countries/east-africa/sudan/

Allouche, J. and Lind, J. (2013) A New Deal? Development and Security in a Changing World. Brighton, UK: Institute of Development Studies (IDS).

Asian Development Bank (2013) 'Asian Development Bank and Myanmar: Fact Sheet'. http://www.adb.org/ publications/myanmar-fact-sheet?ref=countries/Myanmar Bahadur, A., Ibrahim, M. and Tanner, T. (2010) 'The resilience renaissance? Unpacking of resilience for tackling climate change and disasters'. Strengthening Climate Resilience Discussion Paper 1. Brighton: Strengthening Climate Resilience.

Ballo, M. and Bauer, J. (2013) The Economics of *Early Response and Resilience in Niger*. World Food Programme.

BBC (2013a) Typhoon Haiyan: Before and after the storm. BBC News Asia. http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/ world-24899001

BBC (2013b) *Deadly tornadoes hit US Midwest states.* BBC News US & Canada. http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/ world-us-canada-24982072

Bird, N., Tilley, H., Kellett, J. and Harris, K. (2014 forthcoming) *Identifying Finance for Emergency Preparedness.*

Cabot Venton, C. and Coulter, L. (2013) The Economics of Early Response and Resilience: Lessons from Niger. London: Department for International Development.

Cabot Venton, C., Richards, F. and Peters, K. (2014 forthcoming) *Emergency Preparedness in Niger: A Cost Benefit Analysis.*

Cabot Venton, C., Fitzgibbon, C., Shitarek, T., Coulter, L. and Dooley, O. (2012) The Economics of Early Response and Disaster Resilience: Lessons from Kenya and Ethiopia. London: Department for International Development.

Caravani, A. and Nakhooda, S. (2014 forthcoming) *Financing of Emergency Preparedness and LDCF.*

CDAC Network (2013) 'Communicating with Disaster Affected Communities'. www.cdacnetwork.org

CIF (2011) The Pilot Programme for Climate Resilience under the Strategic Climate Fund: Final Design Document. Washington, DC: Climate Investment Fund.

Department for International Development (DFID) (2011) *Defining Disaster Resilience*. DFID Approach Paper. London: Department for International Development. **Development Initiatives (2013)** *Global Humanitarian Assistance Report 2013.* A Development Initiative. Bristol, UK: Development Initiatives.

Development Initiatives (2012) *Global Humanitarian Assistance Report 2012.* A Development Initiative. Bristol, UK: Development Initiatives.

Development Initiatives (2010) *GHA Report 2010.* Global Humanitarian Assistance. Wells, UK: Development Initiatives. http://www.globalhumanitarianassistance.org/ wp-content/uploads/2010/07/GHA_Report8.pdf

ECHO (2013) ECHO Factsheet: Building resilience in Haiti.

European Commission (2012) *The EU approach to resilience: Learning from food security crises.* Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and Council. Brussels: European Commission.

Fan, L., Zyck, S. and Bailey, S. (2014 forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness in Haiti.

GFDRR (2013a) Managing Disaster Risks for a Resilient Future: A Work Plan for the Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery 2014-2016. Global Facility for Disaster Risk Reduction. https://www.gfdrr.org/sites/gfdrr.org/ files/publication/GFDRR_Work_Plan_Endorsed_2013.pdf

GFDRR (2013b) Managing Disaster Risks for a Resilient Future: A Strategy for the Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery, 2013-2015.

GFDRR (2012a) 'GFDRR Priority Countries'. https://www. gfdrr.org/sites/gfdrr.org/files/documents/GFDRR_Priority_ Countries_Jan-2012.pdf

GFDRR (2012b) 'Country Updates: GFDRR Engagement in 29 Focus Countries (2007-2012)'. Global Facility for Disaster Risk Reduction. http://www.gfdrr.org/sites/gfdrr. org/files/2012GFDRRCountryUpdates.pdf

GFDRR (2012c) 'Haiti Country Update'. http://www.gfdrr. org/sites/gfdrr.org/files/HAITI.pdf

GFDRR (2010) 'GFDRR Programs: Disaster Risk Reduction Building Resilience in Changing Climate'. http:// www.gfdrr.org/sites/gfdrr.org/files/publication/GFDRR_ Building_Resilience.pdf

GFDRR (2009) 'Disaster Risk Management Programs for Priority Countries: Summary 2009'. Global Facility for Disaster Risk Reduction. http://www.unisdr.org/files/14757 _6thCGCountryProgramSummaries1.pdf

GIZ (2008) Adaptation to climate change and conservation of biodiversity. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ). http://www.giz.de/en/ worldwide/18280.html Global Environmental Facility (GEF) (2013) 'LDCF – Haiti'. http://www.thegef.org/gef/node/3339

Global Humanitarian Assistance (GHA) (2013) 'Niger'. http://www.globalhumanitarianassistance.org/ countryprofile/niger

Haiti Reconstruction Fund (2012) 'Launching of the Earthquake Prevention Plan for the North of Haiti'. http://www.haitireconstructionfund.org/node/161

Harris, K. (2013) *Finance for emergency preparedness: links to resilience.* UK: Overseas Development Institute. http://www.odi.org.uk/publications/7234-financeemergency-preparedness-links-resilience

Harris, K., Keen, D. and Mitchell, T. (2013) When disasters and conflict collide: Improving links between disaster resilience and conflict prevention. London: Overseas Development Institute.

Harris, R. (2013) 'Why Typhoon Haiyan Caused So Much Damage'. NPR. Washington DC, USA. http://www.npr. org/2013/11/11/244572227/why-typhoon-haiyan-caused-so-much-damage

Harvey, P. and Harmer, A. (2011) Humanitarian Outcomes, Background Paper 1: *Building Trust: Challenges for national authorities and international aid agencies in working together in times of disasters*, prepared for the International Dialogue on Strengthening Partnership in Disaster Response: Bridging national and international support, September 2011.

Hill, M. (2014 forthcoming) *Financing of Emergency Preparedness and PPCR.*

Hillier, D. and Dempsey, B. (2012) *A Dangerous Delay: The cost of late response to early warnings in the 2011 drought in the Horn of Africa.* Oxfam and Save the Children. http://www.oxfam.org/en/policy/dangerous-delay

Hockley, T. (2014 forthcoming) *Financing of Emergency Preparedness in Sudan.*

IASC (2012) IASC Transformative Agenda 2012. Chapeau and Compendium of Actions. 19 January 2012. http://www.humanitarianinfo.org/iasc/downloaddoc. aspx?docld=5970

ICF (2013) Independent Evaluation of the Climate Investment Funds. Submitted to: Evaluation Oversight Committee for the Independent Evaluation of the Climate Investment Funds. Washington, DC: ICF International.

IKI (2013) 'International Climate Initiative'. http://www.international-climate-initiative.com/en/ InforRM (2013) 'Index for Risk Management (InforRM)'. http://inform.jrc.ec.europa.eu/

International Committee of the Red Cross (2012) Annual Report 2011. Geneva.

International Dialogue on Peacebuilding and Statebuilding (2013) 'A New Deal for Engagement in Fragile States'. http://www.newdeal4peace.org/

International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (2011) Annual Report 2011. Geneva.

IPCC (2012) Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation. A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Field, C.B., Barros, V., Stocker, T.F., Qin, D., Dokken, D.J., Ebi, K.L., Mastrandrea, M.D., Mach, K.J., Plattner, G.-K., Allen, S.K., Tignor, M. and Midgley P.M. (eds). Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

Jackson, P. (2012) Value for money and international development: Deconstructing myths to promote a more constructive discussion. OEFC Development Co-operation Directorate.

Joint Pooled Fund Unit (JPFU) (2012) Common Humanitarian Fund: Democratic Republic of Congo, Annual Report 2012.

Kellett, J. (2014 forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness in the Philippines.

Kellett, J. (2012) Emergency preparedness financing and practice. Bristol, UK: Development Initiatives. http://www.scribd.com/doc/185585053/Final-Report-Emergency-Preparedness-Financing-and-Practice

Kellett, J. and Caravani, A. (2013) Financing Disaster Risk Reduction: A 20 Year Story of International Aid. London, UK: Overseas Development Institute.

Kellett, J. and Sparks, D. (2012) *Disaster Risk Reduction: Spending where it should count.* GHA Briefing Paper. Wells, UK: Development Initiatives.

Kellett, J. and Sweeney, H. (2011) Synthesis Report: Analysis of financing mechanisms and funding streams to enhance emergency preparedness. Wells, UK: Development Initiatives. http://www.scribd.com/ doc/185584369/Analysis-of-financing-mechanisms-andfunding-streams-to-enhance-emergency-preparedness-Synthesis-Report

Kent, R. and Burke, J. (2011) *Commercial and Humanitarian Engagement in Crisis Contexts: Current Trends, Future Drivers*. London: Humanitarian Futures. **Lawry-White, S. (2012)** *Country Capacity Development for Emergency Preparedness.* Geneva: IASC Sub-Working Group on Preparedness.

McEIroy, A. (2013) 'Evacuation saves whole island from Typhoon Haiyan'. United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction, Regional Office for Asia and Pacific. http:// www.unisdr.org/archive/35524

Mechler, R. (2014 forthcoming) Scoping the Potential of Cost Benefit Analysis in Assessing Disaster Emergency *Preparedness.* London, UK: Overseas Development Institute.

Marshall, A. (2013) 'Monster typhoon exposes an illprepared Philippines', Reuters. http://www.reuters.com/ article/2013/11/13/philippines-typhoon-preparations-idUSL 4N0IX3WJ20131113?feedType=RSS&feedName=everythi ng&virtualBrandChannel=11563

Melamed, C. (2012) *Post 2015: The Road Ahead.* Overseas Development Institute.London, UK.

Mitchell, T., Mechler, R. and Harris, K. (2012) Tackling Exposure: Placing disaster risk management at the heart of national economic and fiscal policy. London, UK: Climate and Development Knowledge Network. http://cdkn.org/resource/ tackling-exposure-placing-disaster-risk-management-at-theheart-of-national-economic-and-fiscal-policy/

Munich RE (2013) Natural Catastrophes 2012: Analyses, assessments, positions. Munich, Germany: Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft. http://www.munichre. com/publications/302-07742_en.pdf

OCHA (2013a) 'Emergency Response Funds'. http://www.unocha.org/what-we-do/humanitarianfinancing/emergency-response-funds-erf

OCHA (2013b) The Global Evaluation of Emergency Response Funds (ERFs), Volume II: Country Case Study Reports. March 2013. United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA).

OCHA (2013c) 'Central Emergency Response Fund. Haiti 2012'. http://www.unocha.org/cerf/cerf-worldwide/where-we-work/hti-2012

OCHA (2013d) Haiti Humanitarian Action Plan 2013 – Mid-Year Review. United Nations.

OCHA (2013e) 'South Sudan: \$56.5 million for aid and emergency preparedness'. http://reliefweb.int/report/ south-sudan-republic/south-sudan-565-million-aid-andemergency-preparedness

OCHA (2013f) World Humanitarian Summit 2016. Draft Concept Note, September 2013. https://docs.unocha.org/ sites/dms/Documents/WHS%20Concept%20Note.pdf **OCHA (2013g)** Guidance for Strategic Response Planning 2014.

OCHA (2012a) Overview of the 2013 Consolidated Appeals.

OCHA (2012b) 'What is the Central Emergency Response Fund?' http://www.unocha.org/cerf/about-us/who-we-are

OCHA (2012c) Common Humanitarian Fund for Somalia Guidelines, CHF Somalia.

OCHA (2012d) Sudan UN and Partners Work Plan 2012. United Nations. http://www.unocha.org/cap/appeals/unand-partners-work-plan-sudan-2012

OCHA (2012e) *Emergency Humanitarian Response Plan* 2012: *Kenya, Mid-Year Review*. https://docs.unocha.org/ sites/dms/CAP/MYR_2012_Kenya_EHRP.pdf

OCHA (2012f) 'Central Emergency Response Fund. Niger 2012'. http://www.unocha.org/cerf/cerf-worldwide/where-we-work/ner-2012

OCHA (2012g) Emergency Response Fund, Haiti. Annual Report 2012. https://docs.unocha.org/sites/dms/ Documents/Haiti ERRF 2012.pdf

OCHA (2012h) Sudan Common Humanitarian Fund (CHF) Annual Report 2012. Available: http://reliefweb.int/ sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/chf2012_annualreport_ FINAL_small.pdf

OCHA (2012i) Haiti Humanitarian Action Plan 2013. United Nations.

OCHA (2012j) Reference Guide for Developing the 2013 Consolidated Appeals. https://docs.unocha.org/sites/dms/ CAP/CAP_2013_Reference_Guide.pdf

OCHA (2011a) Central Emergency Response Fund: Application of the CERF Life-Saving Criteria, September 2011 update. https://ochanet.unocha.org/p/Documents/Life Saving Criteria - 22 september 2011 cleared.pdf

OCHA (2011b) Haiti Humanitarian Action Plan 2012. United Nations.

OCHA (2011c) 5-Year Evaluation of the Central Emergency Response Fund: Final Synthesis Report. Belgium: Channel Research.

OCHA (2010) *Haiti Consolidated Appeal 2011.* United Nations.

OCHA (undated a) 'Humanitarian Response. Haiti. Emergency Relief Response Fund (ERRF)'. https://haiti. humanitarianresponse.info/funding/emergency-reliefresponse-fund-errf **OCHA (undated b)** 'Myanmar Emergency Response Fund'. http://www.unocha.org/roap/about-us/ocha-asiaand-pacific/myanmar/myanmar-emergency-response-fund

OECD (2013a) 'Aid to poor countries slips further as governments tighten budgets'. http://www.oecd.org/ development/stats/aidtopoorcountriesslipsfurther asgovernmentstightenbudgets.htm

OECD (2013b) Development Pathways – Multi-Dimensional Review of Myanmar.

OECD DAC (2011) OECD Report on Division of Labour: Addressing Cross-Country Fragmentation of Aid.

OECD DAC (2010) Division of Labour Among Donors – An Approach to Harmonisation Input Paper for the Evaluation of the Paris Declaration.

Overseas Development Institute (ODI) (2013) *When disasters and conflicts collide: improving links between disaster resilience and conflict prevention.* http://www.odi.org.uk/publications/7257-disastersconflicts-collide-improving-links-between-disasterresilience-conflict-prevention

Oxford, N. and Schwirtz, M. (2013) 'Vast Oklahoma Tornado Kills Dozens'. *The New York Times.* http://www.nytimes.com/2013/05/21/us/tornado-oklahoma. html?_r=0

PDP (undated) 'Philippine Development Plan 2011-2016'. http://www.neda.gov.ph/PDP/2011-2016/

Peters, K. (2014 forthcoming) *Financing of Emergency Preparedness in Myanmar.* London, UK: Overseas Development Institute.

PPCR (2013) *PPCR Semi-Annual Operational Report.* Washington DC: World Bank. Meeting of the PPCR Sub-Committee.

PwC (2013) Working Together to Reduce Disaster Risk. PwC and United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction. http://www.pwc.com/en_GX/ gx/governance-risk-compliance-consulting-services/ resilience/publications/pdfs/pwc-unisdr-report.pdf

PwC (2012) Myanmar Business Guide. Singapore.

Ratha, D. and Sirkeci, I. (2010). 'Remittances and the global financial crisis.' *Migration Letters* 2010; 7(2):125–31.

Robitaille, P., Richards, F. and Combe, E. (2014 forthcoming) *Financing of Emergency Preparedness in Niger.* London, UK: Overseas Development Institute.

Rood, S. (2005) Forging Sustainable Peace in Mindanao – The Role of Civil Society. Washington: East-West Center. Shepherd, A., Mitchell, A., Lewis, K., Lenhardt, A., Jones, L., Scott, L. and Muir-Wood, R. (2013). *The geography of poverty, disasters and climate extremes in* 2030. London, UK: Overseas Development Institute.

Sudan MDTF-N (2011) 'Finance'. http://www.mdtfn.org/ finance.shtml

Tanner, T. and Bahadur, A. (2013) *Distilling the characteristics of transformational change in a changing climate.* Brighton, UK: Institute of Development Studies (forthcoming).

Taylor, G. (2014 forthcoming) *Financing for Emergency Preparedness, Nepal Case Study.* London, UK: Overseas Development Institute.

Taylor, G. and Couture, E. (2014 forthcoming) *Financing of Emergency Preparedness and Humanitarian Mechanisms.* London, UK: Overseas Development Institute.

Taylor, G., Vatsa K. et al. (2013) *Review of the Nepal Risk Reduction Consortium (NRRC).* London: Department for International Development.

Trujillo, N. and Nakhooda, S. (2014 forthcoming) *Financing of Emergency Preparedness and Adaptation Fund*. London, UK: Overseas Development Institute.

Trocaire (2011) *Private Sector and Humanitarian Relief in Myanmar.* Trocaire and MMRD Research Services. http://www.burmalibrary.org/docs13/Private_ Sector+Humanitarian_Response.pdf

UNDP (2013a) 'Early Recovery'. http://www.undp.org/ content /undp/en/home/ourwork/crisisprevention andrecovery/focus_areas/early-recovery.html

UNDP (2013b) 'Group of "Political Champions" pledges support to make Haiti disaster resilient'. http://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/presscenter/ pressreleases/2013/04/22/group-of-political-championspledges-support-to-make-haiti-disaster-resilient/

UNDP (2012) *Preventing Crisis, Enabling Recovery: BCPR Annual Report 2011.* http://www.undp.org/content/ undp/en/home/librarypage/crisis-prevention-and-recovery/ preventing-crisis--enabling-recovery--bcpr-annualreport-2011/

UNDP (2011) 'UNDP, Western Union join forces to channel remittances for development'. http:// www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/presscenter/ pressreleases/2011/02/28/undp-and-western-union-joinforces-to-channel-remittances-for-development/

UNDP (undated a) 'Darfur Community Peace and Stability Fund'. http://mptf.undp.org/factsheet/fund/DPS00

UNDP (undated b) 'United Nations Fund for Recovery Reconstruction and Development in Darfur (UNDF)'. http://mptf.undp.org/factsheet/fund/DRF00

UNDP (undated c) 'Multi-Partner Trust Fund Office'. http://mptf.undp.org/

UNFCCC (2009) Least Developed Countries: Stepby-Step Guide for Implementing National Adaptation Programmes of Action. http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/ publications/ldc_napa2009.pdf

UNFCCC (2001) *Decision 10/CP.7 Funding under the Kyoto Protocol.* Marrakesh, United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change.

UNISDR (2013a) Synthesis Report: Consultations on a Post-2015 Framework on Disaster Risk Reduction (HFA2). http://www.preventionweb.net/files/32535_ hfasynthesisreportfinal.pdf

UNISDR (2013b) 'Largest Filipino shopping chain joins UNISDR's private sector advisory group'. http://www.unisdr.org/archive/30566

UNISDR (2013c) Private-Public Partnerships Needed for Disaster Risk Reduction. New York: United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction. http://www.un.org/News/ Press/docs/2013/iha1310.doc.htm

UNISDR (2011) Hyogo Framework for Action 2005-2015. Mid-Term Review 2010-2011. Geneva: United Nations.

UNISDR and WMO (2012) UN System Task Team on the Post-2015 UN Development Agenda. Disaster risk and resilience. Thematic Think Piece. http://www.un.org/ millenniumgoals/pdf/Think%20Pieces/3_disaster_risk_ resilience.pdf

USAID (2011) Fact Sheet #1, Fiscal Year 2011 September 30, 2011. Disaster Risk Reduction – Latin American and the Caribbean.

Vaux, T. (2014a forthcoming) Emergency Preparedness and Conflict. London, UK: Overseas Development Institute.

Vaux, T. (2014b forthcoming) Financing of Emergency Preparedness and UNDP CPR TTF. London, UK: Overseas Development Institute.

Wisner, B., Blaikie, P., Cannon, T. and Davis, I. (2004) At Risk. Second Edition. Routledge.

World Bank (2013a) 'Better Risk Management Can Unlock Opportunities, Prevent Crises, and Protect Poor amidst Disasters and Shocks, Says World Bank'. http:// www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2013/10/06/ better-risk-management-unlock-opportunities-preventcrises-protect-poor-amidst-disasters-shocks **World Bank (2013b)** 'Country and Lending Groups'. http://data.worldbank.org/about/country-classifications/ country-and-lending-groups#Lower_middle_income

World Bank (2013c) 'Haiti Overview'. http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/haiti/overview

World Bank (2013d) 'Niger – Country Partnership Strategy for the Period FY13-16'. http://documents. worldbank.org/curated/en/2013/03/17559205/nigercountry-partnership-strategy-period-fy13-16

World Bank (2013e) 'Cholera Emergency Response Project'. http://www.worldbank.org/projects/P120110/ cholera-emergency-response-project?lang=en

World Bank (2013f) 'Disaster Risk Management and Reconstruction'. http://www.worldbank.org/ projects/P126346/disaster-risk-managementreconstruction?lang=en

World Bank (2013g) 'Sudan: All Projects'. http://www. worldbank.org/en/country/sudan/projects/all?status_ exact=Active&qterm=&lang_exact=English

World Bank (2013h) 'Migration, Remittances, and Diaspora'. http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/ TOPICS/0,,contentMDK:21924020~pagePK:5105988~piP K:360975~theSitePK:214971,00.html **World Bank (2010a)** *Natural Hazards, UnNatural Disasters: The Economics of Effective Prevention.* Washington: The World Bank.

World Bank (2010b) *World Bank Migration and Remittances Factbook 2011. 2nd edition.* World Bank Publications.

World Bank and GFDRR (2010) Disaster Risk Management in Latin America and the Caribbean Region: GFDDRR Country Notes. Haiti. The World Bank and Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery (GFDRR). http://www.gfdrr.org/sites/gfdrr.org/files/ Haiti-2010.pdf

Wu, T. (2009) *The role of remittances in crises.* Humanitarian Policy Group background paper.

Acronyms and abbreviations

ADB	Asian Development Pank	
AfDB	Asian Development Bank African Development Bank	
BCR	Benefit-to-cost ratio	
BCPR	Bureau for Crisis Prevention and Recovery	
CAP	Consolidated Appeal Process	
CBA	Cost-benefit analysis	
CCA	Climate change adaptation	
CERF	Central Emergency Response Fund	
CHAP	Common Humanitarian Action Plan	
CHF	Common Humanitarian Fund	
CIF	Climate Investment Fund	
CPR TTF	Thematic Trust Fund for Crisis Prevention and Recovery (UNDP)	
CSO	Civil society organisation	
CSR	Corporate social responsibility	
DAC	Development Assistance Committee	
DCPSF	Darfur Community Peace and Stabilisation Fund	
DFID	Department for International Development	
DIPECHO	Disaster Preparedness Programme of the European Commission's Humanitarian	
DIFLOTIO	Aid Department (ECHO)	
DNPGCA	Dispositif National de Prévention et Gestion des Crises Alimentaires au Niger	
DREF	Disaster Relief Emergency Fund	
DRM	Disaster risk management	
DRR	Disaster risk reduction	
DRRM	Philippine Disaster Risk Reduction and Management Act, 2010	
EC	European Commission	
ECOSOC	UN Economic and Social Council	
ERF	Emergency Response Fund	
ERRF	Emergency Relief Response Fund	
EU	European Union	
EWS	Early warning system	
FAO	UN Food and Agriculture Organization	
FCFA	CFA francs	
GEF	Global Environmental Facility	
GFDRR	Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery	
GIS	Geographic information system	
GoM	Government of Myanmar	
GoN	Government of Niger	
HAP	Haiti Action Plan	
HC	Humanitarian Coordinator	
HCT	Humanitarian Country Team	
HFA	Hyogo Framework for Action	
HMSF	Humanitarian Multi-Stakeholder Fund (Myanmar)	

HRF	Humanitarian Response Fund	
HRF	Haiti Reconstruction Fund	
IASC	Inter-Agency Standing Committee	
IBRD	International Bank for Reconstruction and Development	
ICG	International Crisis Group	
ICRC	International Committee of the Red Cross	
ICVA	International Council of Voluntary Agencies	
IDB	Inter-American Development Bank	
IDP	Internally displaced person	
IFRC	International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies	
IHL	International humanitarian law	
IOM	International Organization for Migration	
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change	
LDC	Least developed country	
LDCF	Least Developed Countries Fund	
LGU	Local government unit	
LIFT	Livelihoods and Food Security Trust Fund (Myanmar)	
M&E	Monitoring and evaluation	
MAPDRR	Myanmar Action Plan on Disaster Risk Reduction	
MDGs	Millennium Development Goals	
MDTF	Multi-Donor Trust Fund	
MPTF	Multi-Partner Trust Fund	
MTEF	Medium Term Expenditure Framework	
NAPA	National Adaptation Programme of Action	
NFI	Non-food item	
NGO	Non-governmental organisation	
NRRC	Nepal Risk Reduction Consortium	
OCHA	UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs	
ODA	Official development assistance	
ODI	Overseas Development Institute	
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development	
OFDA	Office of U.S. Foreign Disaster Assistance	
OPT	Occupied Palestinian Territories	
PBSP	Philippine Business for Social Progress	
PDRF	Philippine Disaster Recovery Foundation	
PPCR	Pilot Program for Climate Resilience	
PPP	Public-private partnership	
RC	Resident Coordinator	
RRMP	Rapid Response to the Movement of Populations	
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals	
SCCF	Special Climate Change Fund	
SGBV	Sexual and gender-based violence	
SWG	Sub-Working Group	
UNDAF	United Nations Development Assistance Framework	
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme	
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund	
UNHCR	UN High Commissioner for Refugees	
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund	
UNISDR	United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction/United Nations International	
	Strategy for Disaster Reduction	
WFP	World Food Programme	
	·	

Overseas Development Institute

203 Blackfriars Road | London SE1 8NJ | UK

Tel: +44 (0)20 7922 0300 Fax: +44 (0)20 7922 0399

www.odi.org.uk

The views presented in this paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of ODI or our partners.